The Accuracy of EdReady English as a Placement Tool at a Midwestern Community College Campus

A dissertation presented to

the Graduate Faculty of

the University of Southern Indiana

In partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree

Doctor of Education in Educational Leadership

Andrea M. Jefferson

May 2023

This dissertation titled

The Accuracy of EdReady English as a Placement Tool at a Midwestern Community College Campus

by

Andrea M. Jefferson

has been approved by

Dr. Kelly Sparks

Committee Chair

Dr. Erin Reynolds

Committee Member

Dr. Christopher Davis

Committee Member

Dr. Bonnie Beach

Director of Graduate Program in Education

Dr. Michael Dixon

Director of Graduate Studies

Table of Contents

Table of Contents	i
List of Tables	iv
List of Figures	v
Abstract	vi
Dedication	vii
Acknowledgments	viii
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Statement of the Problem	6
Purpose of the Study	7
Research Questions	8
Significance of the Study	8
Definition of Terms	9
Chapter 2: Literature Review	13
Introduction	13
History of Placement Tests	15
Conflicting Views of Placement Tests	16
College Readiness	17
Challenges to Placement Tests	18
Inequity in Placement	21
Placement as a Barrier	23
History of Open Access Policies at Community Colleges	24
Placement Tests in Community Colleges	26
Common Placement Methods	27
Equity in Placement at Community Colleges	32
Remediation Outcomes	33
Student Misplacement	35
Placement Accuracy	37
English Placement	40
EdReady English	42
Summary	46
Chapter 3: Methodology	47
Introduction	47

	ii
Purpose Statement	49
Research Questions	49
Instrumentation	50
Framework	52
Research Design	53
Participants	54
Data Collection	55
Data Analysis	56
Significance of the Study	60
Delimitations	61
Limitations	62
Assumptions	62
Chapter 4: Findings	63
Introduction	63
Descriptive Statistics	63
Findings	76
Research Question 1	76
Research Question 1a (RQ1a)	77
Research Question 1b (RQ1b)	79
Research Question 2 (RQ2)	81
RQ2 Age	82
RQ2 Race	83
RQ2 Gender	84
Research Question 3	86
Summary	90
Chapter 5: Conclusions	93
Introduction	93
Summary of Findings	93
Research Question 1 (RQ1)	94
Research Question 2 (RQ2)	96
Research Question 3 (RQ3)	100
EdReady English	106
Impact of the Study	111

Implications for Practice	113
Limitations	117
Recommendations for Future Research	119
Conclusion	124
References	125
Appendix A:	143
Appendix B:	145

iii

List of Tables

Table 1 Large Midwestern Community College System's English Placement Criteria	48
Table 2 Mean Age of Students Who Took ENGL 111 by Placement Method (Fall 2020-Spring 2022)	64
Table 3 Racial Categories of All Students Who Were Placed into ENGL 111 (Fall 2020-Spring 2022)	65
Table 4 All Student Placement Methods for ENGL 111 (Fall 2020-Spring 2022)	66
Table 5 Grade Distributions for All Students Enrolled in ENGL 111 Fall 2020-Spring 2022	67
Table 6 Demographics of Students Who Were Placed into ENGL 111 Using EdReady English (2020-2022)	2) 67
Table 7 Students Who Placed into ENGL 111 (2020-2022) through All Methods Except EdReady English	68 ו
Table 8 Grade Distribution of Students Placed into ENGL 111 by EdReady English Vs Students Placed inENGL 111 By All Other Methods (2020-2022)	<i>to</i> 69
Table 9 Grade Distribution for Students Placed into ENGL 111 by All Methods (2020-2022)	74
Table 10 Percentage of Successful Completions (C or Higher), Ds, and Failures (F, FW, or W) for all ENG 111 Placement Methods (2020-2022)	iL 75
Table 11 ENGL 111 Withdrawal Rates for all Placement Methods (2020-2022)	76
Table 12 Frequency of EdReady English Scores among Students Placed into ENGL 111 (2020-2022)	77
Table 13 Frequency of ENGL 111 Grades among Students Placed by EdReady English (2020-2022)	80
Table 14 Age Categories and Median Grades for Students Placed into ENGL 111 by EdReady English (2020-2022)	82
Table 15 Frequency of Racial Categories for Students Placed into ENGL 111 by EdReady English 2020-2022	83
Table 16 Racial Categories and Median Grades for Students Placed into ENGL 111 by EdReady English(2020-2022)	84
Table 17 Gender Categories and Mean Grades for Students Placed into ENGL 111 by EdReady English(2020-2022)	85
Table 18 Gender Categories and Median Grades for Students Placed into ENGL 111 by EdReady English	h85
Table 19 ENGL 111 Median Grades for all Placement Methods (2020-2022)	87
Table 20 ENGL 111 Median Grades for all Placement Methods, Excluding Previous Degree (2020-2022)) 88
Table 21 ENGL 111 Median Grades for all Placement Methods, Excluding Previous Degree and Co- requisite	89
Table 22 Summary of Chapter 4 Findings	92

List of Figures

Figure 1 Grade Distribution for Students Placed into ENGL 111 by ACT, Co-Requisite, and Remedial Courses	70
Figure 2: Grade Distribution for Students Placed into ENGL 111 by Accuplacer, Previous Degree, and PSAT	71
Figure 3 Grade Distribution for Students Placed into ENGL 111 by SAT and Previous Coursework	72
Figure 4 Grade Distribution for Students Placed into ENGL 111 by High School GPA and EdReady Englis	h
	73
Figure 5 Relationship between ENGL 111 Grades and EdReady English Scores (2020-2022)	79
Figure 6 Relationship between ENGL 111 Grades A-C and EdReady English Scores 72-100 (2020-2022)	81

Abstract

JEFFERSON, ANDREA M., Doctor of Education in Educational Leadership, May 2023.

The Accuracy of EdReady English as a Placement Tool at a Midwestern Community College Campus Chair of Dissertation Committee: Dr. Kelly M. Sparks

Placement tests are utilized in community colleges to assess students' academic readiness in reading, writing, and math. Scores on these tests often determine whether students are placed directly into college-level courses or are required to take remedial classes. Previous research has shown that student outcomes in remediation are poor, and remedial coursework can cost additional funds and extend students' educational timelines. Studies have also shown that students of color and those from lower socioeconomic backgrounds are more frequently assigned to remediation, and many students are misplaced into remedial coursework when they could have been successful in college-level work. Therefore, it is critical that placement tests are examined for accuracy and equity.

A Large Midwestern Community College System recently adopted a new placement test called EdReady English to assess students' readiness in reading and writing. This quantitative study analyzed the accuracy of the EdReady English placement test at a selected campus of a Large Midwestern Community College System to determine how students who were placed by EdReady English performed in their first credit-bearing English course. Additionally, student subgroups were analyzed to determine if students' grades in the first credit-bearing English course varied by demographic factors such as age, race, and gender. Finally, the grades of students in the first credit-bearing English course were examined by placement method to determine how students who were placed by EdReady English performed compared to students who used other placement methods. The results of this study may be used to help policymakers and advisors determine the accuracy and equity of EdReady English as a placement tool. Dedication

This work is dedicated to Grace McBride, a beautiful soul who is greatly missed. I hope my legacy is half

as bright as yours.

Acknowledgments

I am eternally grateful to God for giving me the opportunity to achieve this goal and for providing the people and resources to support me on this journey.

I would like to thank my biggest fan, my husband, for his unconditional support and encouragement. I would not be where I am without you. I would also like to acknowledge my two daughters who are brilliant and wonderful; thank you for your love and inspiration.

I am very thankful for my parents who taught me hard work, dedication, and excellence. Thank you to my sister for her encouraging words and texts. I would also like to thank my in-laws and friends who have been supportive beyond words. Thank you all for believing in me.

I extend my gratitude to my work colleagues and everyone who took the time to answer my questions or offer support. Thank you to Stephen Walker, who provided vital assistance with statistical tests, and Gwenn Eldridge, who offered her generous support with the technicalities of EdReady.

Thank you to Cohort Two, the most interesting and talented group of people I have ever had the pleasure to know. Thank you for the laughter and support through this process. I am grateful to my dissertation chair, Dr. Kelly Sparks, for her guidance and generosity of spirit. I extend my gratitude to Dr. Christopher Davis and Dr. Erin Reynolds for their insight, time, and support.

Finally, I would like to thank my students. This research started because of my passion to see you thrive. May this work contribute, even if ever so slightly, to the creation of a more equitable world for you.

Chapter 1: Introduction

Community college students comprise % of all students enrolled in postsecondary institutions in the United States (National Center for Education Statistics, 2020). Historically, community colleges have made higher education available to all students through their open admissions policies, which admit students of all levels of academic preparation. These policies have allowed community colleges to play a vital role in democratizing higher education for underserved groups (Burdman et al., 2015; Zook, 1947). Compared to four-year universities, community colleges serve a greater number of students who are first generation, racial or ethnic minorities, and Pell Grant recipients (National Center for Educational Statistics, 2019). However, before they can access the education provided by their local community colleges, many students must first take a placement test, which is a method used at 90% of two-year institutions nationwide (Belfield & Crosta, 2012; Hodges et al., 2020; Rutschow et al., 2019). These tests, such as the Accuplacer or COMPASS, are administered to students upon admission to assess their competencies in math, reading, and writing, ensuring that students have appropriate levels of academic preparedness to be successful in their college-level courses (Bettinger et al., 2013; Hodara et al., 2012; Hodges et al., 2020). If students achieve a set cut score, they are permitted to enroll in college-level, credit-bearing courses.

Students who do not test into college-level math or English courses through their scores on a placement test are most frequently assigned to remedial courses, which are designed to strengthen students' math, reading, and writing skills, but often do not count towards the completion of a degree (Belfield & Crosta, 2012). Almost 70% of community college students take at least one remedial course, and students average about three remedial courses each during their time in college (Chen & Simone, 2016). Unfortunately, four out of ten students assigned to remedial courses do not complete them (Bailey et al., 2010; Complete College America, 2012), and students who miss the placement test score

cutoff are often less likely to enroll in any classes, remedial or otherwise (Martorell & McFarlin, 2011; Ngo & Melguizo, 2016). Additionally, students who take remedial courses are less likely to complete their degrees or transfer to four-year institutions (Crisp & Delgado, 2014). This is because remedial courses must be completed as prerequisites for most credit-bearing, college-level courses. In this way, remedial courses serve as a critical entry point because they must be completed before students are able to take classes that count towards their degrees (Bettinger et al., 2013, Park et al., 2018; Scott-Clayton & Rodríguez, 2015). Remediation can be expensive, with an annual cost ranging from \$2.2 million to \$9.3 million per institution (Rodríguez et al., 2015). Despite colleges' significant investment in remedial courses, the student success rates are mixed (Bailey et al., 2010; Bettinger & Long, 2005; Boatman & Long, 2018; Chen & Simone, 2016). The enormous cost of remediation for students and for colleges coupled with low student transfer and completion rates has caused many community colleges to rethink the placement model and reconsider the use of placement tests to assign students to remedial education.

As colleges reevaluate their placement methods, they must address concerns about placement equity. For example, students who are Black and Hispanic and those from low socioeconomic backgrounds are more likely to be assigned to remedial courses by placement tests than White students and those from higher socioeconomic backgrounds (Barnett et al., 2020; Bettinger & Long, 2005; Brathwaite & Edgecombe, 2018; Chen & Simone, 2016; Crisp & Delgado, 2014). Additionally, placement tests tend to underestimate the abilities of racial and ethnic minorities (Geiser et al., 2007; Klasik & Strayhorn, 2018). Because community colleges serve a large number of students of color and individuals from low socioeconomic backgrounds (National Center for Educational Statistics, 2019), college leaders are looking for placement methods that provide greater equity and do not serve as a barrier for their students by deterring them from enrolling in college-level courses (Burdman et al., 2015; Deil-Amen & Tevis, 2010; Stich, 2021; Venezia et al., 2010). Using an alternative measure for placement, such as high school grade point average (HSGPA), has been shown to narrow the equity gaps for racial/ethnic minorities and those from low socioeconomic backgrounds by reducing the number of these students assigned to remediation (Barnett et al., 2018; Belfield & Crosta, 2012; Brathwaite & Edgecombe, 2018; Crisp & Delgado, 2014; Ngo & Kwon, 2014). However, not all students have access to their high school transcripts, and some students have been out of high school for many years (Belfield & Crosta, 2012; Burdman et al., 2015; Scott-Clayton, 2012; Woods et al., 2018). Because assignment to remediation results in fewer accumulated credits, reduced transfer and completion rates, and lowered persistence (Bailey et al., 2010; Bettinger & Long, 2005; Boatman & Long, 2018; Chen & Simone, 2016), it is critical that students are not placed into such courses using inequitable or inaccurate metrics.

Studies have determined that placement tests are not predictive of students' college readiness (Allensworth & Clark, 2020; Maruyama, 2012). Research shows that placement tests, including the Accuplacer, COMPASS, and American College Test (ACT), often misplace students into remedial courses they do not really need (Belfield & Crosta, 2012; Leeds & Mokher, 2020; Melguizo & Ngo, 2020; Ngo, 2020). A misplacement occurs when a student is assigned to a college-level course and fails (over-placement) or is placed into a remedial course when they could have been successful in a college-level course (under-placement) (Scott-Clayton, 2012). Nearly ¼ of the students in one study were identified as wrongly placed using Accuplacer (Scott-Clayton et al., 2014), while another study found that ²/₅ of students were assigned to take a remedial math class that they did not really need (Ngo, 2020). Ngo (2020) found that community college students were two to six times more likely to be under-placed into remedial courses than students in four-year colleges, even though they could have been successful in college-level into a remedial that community college students spend \$920 million on

remediation each year (Jimenez, 2016), a misplacement into remedial education could be extremely costly for students and needlessly delay their educational timelines.

Many community colleges have begun to move away from commonly used placement tests like Accuplacer, made by the College Board, and COMPASS, made by American College Testing (Bettinger et al., 2013) in favor of other placement models that allow students to show proficiency using high school GPA (HSGPA) or their highest score in a high school English or math course (Brand, 2018; Burdman, 2012; Hodara et al., 2012). Other colleges have adopted personalized diagnostic testing to provide more targeted placement assessment (Edgecombe, 2016; Kalamkarian et al., 2015). One such assessment, called EdReady, has been developed by the NROC (Network, Resources, Open, and College and Career) Project, an organization that provides open-access resources for college and career preparation (The NROC Project, n.d.). EdReady is an online placement tool designed to deliver individualized online testing and instruction to help students refresh and develop their proficiencies in math, reading, and writing. Students can take an EdReady Math or EdReady English diagnostic test to assess their skills, and upon completion they will immediately receive a score based on their performance (EdReady, n.d.). If students meet a target score, which is the cut score set by their institution, they may enroll in collegelevel courses. If they do not, students are assigned a Study Path, which includes videos and other online supports like notes, practice exercises, and guizzes to refresh their skills. By progressing through the Study Path, which is an assigned set of modules based on the students' math and reading needs identified in the diagnostic test, students can improve their score (EdReady, n.d.). Institutions can determine the percentage of material in a Study Path, ranging from 1-100, that a student must master to qualify for enrollment in college-level courses.

EdReady has not published its validity and reliability statistics, but case studies reveal that EdReady Math increases access and completion of college-level courses (Hendrata et al., 2020; Methvin & Markham, 2015; The NROC Network, 2016; The NROC Network, 2019). For example, Jacksonville State University replaced its previous placement test with EdReady Math, and one study showed that students who placed into their math courses using EdReady had higher passing rates than those who used Accuplacer (The NROC Network, 2019; Thornton et al., 2019). Another study at Nevada State College revealed that when EdReady Math replaced the Accuplacer as a math placement tool, students saved \$800 on average by bypassing the remedial math course, and enrollment jumped from 24%-42% in the college-level math course (The NROC Network, 2016). These case studies focus on math placement, so it is unclear how EdReady English impacts placement into English courses. Additional states, such as Hawaii, Montana, Utah, Nevada, and Kentucky have adopted EdReady as a placement tool (Methvin & Markham, 2015). However, outcomes of EdReady at individual institutions are not wellknown, and published reports focus solely on math outcomes (Hendrata et al., 2020; Methvin & Markham, 2015; The NROC Network, 2016; Thornton et al., 2019).

In keeping with best practices for placement equity and accuracy, a Large Midwestern Community College System (LMCCS) adopted EdReady in Spring 2020 as a new placement tool to assess students' readiness in math and English (reading and writing). At the LMCCS, students can demonstrate their college readiness using their Scholastic Aptitude Test (SAT), Preliminary Scholastic Aptitude Test (PSAT), or ACT scores, or they may provide transcripts to show they graduated from high school with a 2.6 GPA in the past four years. Students may also submit transcripts showing they have completed some college-level courses or have earned a college degree. Students who are not able to show their math and English competencies through any of these metrics are required to take EdReady for their placement or take remedial courses. The LMCCS has 19 campuses, but each campus uses the same cut scores for both math and English. Because each campus has unique student demographics, the accuracy of this placement test could vary campus by campus, depending on the geographic location and student population. Therefore, it is essential to determine the accuracy of EdReady at each campus and in each area, both in math and English. Although previous studies have demonstrated that students placed by EdReady Math perform well in their first credit-bearing math courses (Hendrata et al., 2020; Methvin & Markham, 2015; The NROC Network, 2016; The NROC Network, 2019; Thornton et al., 2019), no extant research focuses on the accuracy of EdReady English as a placement tool. Additionally, it is unknown how accurately EdReady English places students into their first credit-bearing English courses at the LMCCS.

Statement of the Problem

Because placement tests determine whether students can enroll directly in college-level courses or are required to spend time and money on remedial classes, they essentially function as high-stakes tests (Elliot et al., 2012; Thornton et al., 2019). Since remediation is associated with many negative outcomes, including lack of persistence and completion (Bailey et al., 2010; Bettinger & Long, 2005; Boatman & Long, 2018; Chen & Simone, 2016), misplacement into a remedial course could be even more detrimental. Therefore, individual institutions and campuses must assess the accuracy and effectiveness of the placement tests they use (Atkinson & Geiser, 2009; Bracco et al., 2014; Kalamkarian et al., 2015; Scott-Clayton, 2012). One specific concern is whether these tests are harmful to already disadvantaged groups, such as racial and ethnic minorities (Elliot et al., 2012; Melguizo et al., 2014). It is unknown how EdReady English functions at the LMCCS or how accurately it works to place students into their first-year credit-bearing English courses. Since the LMCCS has an open access policy, it is important to ensure that the placement test used to provide or prevent admission to college-level courses is accurate and equitable. This is of particular importance for the first credit-bearing English course, Introduction to Composition, which is required for the completion of every major at the LMCCS. It is unknown how accurately the current test, EdReady English, places students at this campus of the LMCCS into the first credit-bearing English course.

Purpose of the Study

Although several studies have examined the accuracy of popular placement tests like Accuplacer, SAT, ACT, and COMPASS (Bettinger et al., 2013; Elliot et al., 2012; James, 2006; Mattern et al., 2009; Medhanie et al., 2012; Ngo & Melguizo, 2016; Scott-Clayton et al., 2014), there is no extant research on the accuracy of EdReady beyond that published by NROC (The NROC Network, 2016; The NROC Network, 2019). Additionally, existing research on EdReady's placement outcomes focuses on EdReady Math (Hendrata et al., 2020; Methvin & Markham, 2015; The NROC Network, 2016; The NROC Network, 2019; Thornton et al., 2019), but the accuracy of EdReady English is unknown. The purpose of this causal comparative quantitative study was to analyze the placement accuracy of the EdReady English placement tool utilized at one campus of the LMCCS. Specifically, this study examined students' scores on the EdReady English test and their performance in their first credit-bearing English course, ENGL 111: English Composition. Although this study evaluated the placement accuracy at one campus, it filled a gap in the research by providing insights into the usefulness of EdReady English as a placement test as well as its accuracy in a community college setting. Additionally, this study analyzed the ENGL 111 grades of students placed by EdReady English across student groups to determine if there were differences in the accuracy by age, race, or gender, and it compared the ENGL 111 grades of students placed by EdReady English to the grades of those placed by other methods, such as the SAT, ACT, PSAT, Accuplacer, HSGPA, previous degree or coursework, or remedial classes. This generated useful data about how EdReady English functions across student subgroups and in comparison to other placement metrics.

Research Questions

This study explored the following three questions:

Research Question 1 (RQ1): How accurately does the EdReady English test place students into their first credit-bearing English course, ENGL 111?

- a. What is the relationship between students' scores on the EdReady English placement test and their grades in the first credit-bearing English course, ENGL 111?
- b. What scores on the EdReady English placement test predict success (C or higher) in the first credit-bearing English course, ENGL 111?

Research Question 2 (RQ2): How do grades in the first credit-bearing English course (ENGL 111) vary for different student subgroups (age, race, and gender) placed using the EdReady English assessment? **Research Question 3 (RQ3):** How do the ENGL 111 grades of students placed into their first credit-bearing English course by EdReady English compare to the ENGL 111 grades of students placed by other criteria (Accuplacer, ACT, co-requisite, high school GPA, previous coursework or previous degree, PSAT, remedial coursework, or SAT)?

Significance of the Study

Because many students must take the EdReady English placement test before enrolling in creditbearing courses at the LMCCS, this assessment serves as a gateway to college enrollment. Therefore, it is essential that this metric accurately and equitably identifies students who will be successful in their first credit-bearing English course. Because English is a required course for all majors at the LMCCS, it is essential that the placement metric being used to assign students to the first credit-bearing English course is not only accurate, but consistently accurate across different student subgroups. This study furthers the understanding of how EdReady English operates at a community college and how accurately it places students into their first credit-bearing English course. This generated useful data that may help college leaders determine whether EdReady English is an accurate tool for English placement, which could improve placement at this campus and others in the LMCCS. Additionally, other colleges and institutions who use or are considering using EdReady English may benefit from the results of this study. The study also examined how accurately EdReady English placed students of various subgroups into their first credit-bearing English class. The results of this study could help college leaders, advisors, and policymakers determine whether EdReady English is accurate as a placement tool for different student subgroups. Finally, by comparing the grades of students placed by EdReady English had similar outcomes as those placed using alternate assessments. This may help college leaders and advisors determine the usefulness of EdReady English for students at their own institutions. Since the accuracy of EdReady English is unknown and student outcomes in English are unclear, it is critical to determine if students are being placed fairly and appropriately by this measure, given that a misplacement could cost students time and money. Therefore, evaluation of this assessment is critical to ensuring that students who are indeed academically prepared for their English courses are granted access without unnecessary hindrance and that students who need additional academic support are properly identified.

Definition of Terms

Accuplacer- Accuplacer is a placement test created by the College Board. Accuplacer Next Generation, which was used by the LMCCS from 2019-2020, contains three sections: reading, writing, and math (College Board, 2017). Accuplacer's Writeplacer tool, which assesses students' ability to write essays, can be used in combination with the Accuplacer Next Generation.

College-level courses- Like credit-bearing courses, these classes begin with a 1 or higher and count toward the completion of a degree.

Community college- Community colleges, formerly known as junior colleges, are open access public two-year institutions that serve their local communities by providing low-cost technical certificates, associate degrees, and transfer pathways for four-year institutions. A community college offers an associate degree as its highest degree (Cohen et al., 2014).

Co-requisite model- This is a design for remediation popularized by the Community College of Baltimore County (Adams et al., 2009) in which students who need remediation are concurrently enrolled in a remedial English course and a college-level English course. The co-requisite remedial course is designed to support students in the college-level English course and is often taught by the same instructor as the college-level English course.

COMPASS- This placement test, which was discontinued in 2016, was created by the ACT and featured assessments of math, reading, and writing.

Credit-bearing courses- These courses count towards the completion of a degree or credential. Some courses, such as remedial classes, benefit the student but do not count for degree completion. **Dual credit-** Dual credit students are high school students who are taking a high school class that also fulfills a college requirement, providing them dual credit for the course (U.S. Department of Education, n.d.).

EdReady- EdReady is an adaptive, modular placement test that assesses students' readiness in math, reading, and writing (The NROC Project, n.d.).

First credit-bearing English course: The first credit-bearing English course at the LMCCS is ENGL 111:
English Composition, which emphasizes critical reading and writing, research, and composition skills.
FW grade: The Large Midwestern Community College System uses the letters FW to indicate when a student has failed a class because they stopped attending (but did not formally withdraw).

Gateway course: A course is considered a gateway or gatekeeper if it is a required pre-requisite for several other courses (Belfield & Crosta, 2012; Bettinger et al., 2013; Park et al., 2018; Scott-Clayton & Rodríguez, 2015). Remedial classes are considered gateway courses because they are required for students to enroll in most other college-level courses (Bracco et al., 2014). Without passing these classes, students have limited options of credit-bearing courses in which they can enroll.

High school GPA: This refers to a student's cumulative grade point average in high school, which is submitted via transcript at the LMCCS.

Large Midwestern Community College System (LMCCS): This statewide community college system in the Midwest has 19 campuses that share central governance.

Modular instruction: This kind of instruction uses a computer program to create personalized modules designed around a student's needs. The student typically takes an initial diagnostic test, works through the content of the modules at their own pace, and moves to a new module once mastery has been demonstrated (Burdman, 2012; Kalamkarian et al., 2015).

Multiple methods placement- In this placement model, colleges allow students to show competency in math, reading, and writing skills through a number of methods, including high school GPA, SAT/ACT scores, or courses taken in high school.

Over-placement- Students who are considered over-placed tested into the first credit-bearing math or English course, but are unlikely to pass (Scott-Clayton, 2012).

Placement accuracy- This refers to how well a test measures the outcome it is intended to measure (Scott-Clayton, 2012). In the case of this study, a placement test should measure students' readiness in college reading and writing.

Placement test- This is an assessment used to evaluate students' college readiness in math, reading, or writing. It is often used to predict students' abilities to perform well in college-level courses, but it can also be used to identify students who need remediation.

Remedial courses- Sometimes called developmental courses, these classes usually begin with a 0, do not count for college credit, and aim to provide math, reading, or writing instruction for students who are identified as lacking sufficient academic preparation to be successful in their college-level courses. **Remediation-** This refers to the courses and supports available for students who lack appropriate academic preparation in college math, reading, or writing.

Study Path- This is an assigned set of units determined by the EdReady diagnostic test. It includes lessons, exercises, and quizzes that students can complete to build their skills (EdReady, n.d). Once students have studied the content, they can retake a test in a specific lesson or take a test on an entire unit. Answering questions accurately will raise the target score.

Target score- This is a number from 1-100 that represents the amount of content a student has mastered in EdReady (EdReady, n.d.). For example, a score of 80 indicates that 80% of the content has been mastered. Institutions can set their own target scores, which must be reached for students to enroll in college-level courses.

Under-placement- Students who are under-placed are assigned to remedial education although they could have been successful in a college-level math or English course (Scott-Clayton, 2012).

Withdrawal-Unlike a course drop, which happens in the first few weeks of the semester, results in a 100% refund for the course, and is not recorded on a student's transcript, a withdrawal is recorded on a student's transcript and occurs when a student withdraws from a course after the college's official drop period has passed (Wheland et al., 2012). Withdrawals can impact students' financial aid, and course drops do not. At the LMCCS, a withdrawal is marked on a transcript with the letter W.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Introduction

Community colleges have open admissions policies that, in theory, provide college access to everyone by admitting students of all levels of academic preparation. However, before they enroll, many students must take a placement test to determine their college readiness in math, reading, and writing (Barnett & Reddy, 2017; Bettinger et al., 2013; Belfield & Crosta, 2012; Burdman, 2012; Hodara et al., 2012; Hodges et al., 2020; Horn et al., 2009; Hughes & Scott-Clayton, 2010; Melguizo et al., 2014; Saxon & Morante, 2014; Scott-Clayton, 2012; Scott-Clayton et al., 2014; Venezia et al., 2010). The results of these tests can place students in remedial math or English courses, causing additional costs and delays in their educational timelines (Attewell et al., 2006; Bailey et al., 2010; Complete College America, 2012; Crisp & Delgado, 2014; Horn et al., 2009; Leeds & Mokher, 2020; Martorell & McFarlin, 2011; Merisotis & Phipps, 2000; Scott-Clayton et al., 2014; Scott-Clayton & Rodríguez, 2015). Students who do not test into college-level math or English courses through their scores on the placement tests are most frequently assigned to remedial courses, which are designed to strengthen students' math, reading, and writing skills, but often do not count towards the attainment of a degree. On average, 70% of community college students will take at least one remedial class, and about half of those students will take more than one (Chen & Simone, 2016). However, studies show that as many as half of the students assigned to remedial education courses do not complete them (Bailey et al., 2010; Complete College America, 2012; Martorell & McFarlin, 2011). Additionally, students who barely miss the placement test score cutoff are often less likely to enroll in any classes, remedial or otherwise (Martorell & McFarlin, 2011; Ngo & Melguizo, 2016), demonstrating the deterring effect of assignment to remediation for some students. Even students who manage to complete remedial courses are less likely to attain their degrees or transfer to four-year institutions than students who were not assigned to remediation

(Attewell et al., 2006; Crisp & Delgado, 2014). The unsatisfactory outcomes of remedial education highlight the critical role of the placement methods used to indicate which students may enroll in credit-bearing courses and which must take remediation.

To improve the placement process, many colleges are moving away from high stakes placement tests like the Accuplacer, made by the College Board, and COMPASS, made by ACT, in favor of multiple measures placement methods that allow students to show proficiency using their high school GPA (HSGPA) or highest grade in an English or math course (Bahr et al., 2019; Barnett et al., 2020; Brand, 2018; Burdman, 2012; Ganga & Mazzariello, 2019; Hodara et al., 2012; Melguizo et al., 2014; Ngo & Kwon, 2014; Woods et al., 2018). Other colleges have adopted personalized diagnostic testing to provide more targeted placement assessment (Edgecombe, 2016; Kalamkarian et al., 2015). One such test is EdReady English, a new online placement tool developed by The NROC Project in 2014 to deliver individualized testing and instruction to help students refresh and develop their reading and writing skills (EdReady, n.d.).

EdReady English has been adopted by a Large Midwestern Community College System (LMCCS) to place students into their first-year English composition courses. Although studies show placement by EdReady results in reduced assignment to remedial courses and increased enrollment and persistence in college-level courses (Hendrata et al., 2020; Methvin & Markham, 2015; The NROC Network, 2016; The NROC Network, 2019), it is unknown how accurately and equitably students at the LMCSS are being placed by this measure. Additionally, previous studies focus solely on EdReady Math (Hendrata et al., 2020; Methvin & Markham, 2015; The NROC Network, 2016; The NROC Network, 2019; Thornton et al., 2019), so it is unknown how accurately EdReady English places students into their first credit-bearing English courses. The purpose of this study was to measure the accuracy of EdReady English as a placement test at one campus of a LMCCS. The following sections will provide context for the role of placement tests in higher education, concerns about their equity and accuracy, the function of placement tests in community colleges, and the rise of new placement methods that improve the precision of placement. Finally, EdReady English, which was the focus of this study, will be explained, including its history, use in institutions of higher education, and its role at the LMCCS.

History of Placement Tests

Placement tests were originally designed as objective measures of college readiness (Arendale, 2011; Nettles, 2019). The explosive growth of secondary schools in the twentieth century meant that students applying for college had varying levels of academic preparation (Nettles, 2019). Placement tests were created to provide a standard measure of what students know and to foster a more meritocratic system to allow a greater number of students access to college (Arendale, 2011). Founded in 1890, the College Entrance Examination Board aimed to design an objective measure to standardize placement decisions in universities (Arendale, 2011). Later, the College Entrance Examination Board instituted the first common admissions assessment for universities in 1900 (Cohen et al., 2014). The SAT was first administered in 1926 (Nettles, 2019), and current estimates show 2.2 million students took the College Board's SAT in 2020 (College Board, 2021). Although the SAT was the dominant test for several decades, competing ideas of college readiness led to the creation of the ACT. Administered by the American College Testing Company, the ACT was first introduced in 1959 as a measure of achievement rather than aptitude (Nettles, 2019). Although less popular than its counterpart, the SAT, the ACT was taken by 1.78 million students in 2019 (ACT, 2020). The SAT and ACT represent two different approaches to assessing college readiness, yet both views have come under scrutiny in recent years.

Conflicting Views of Placement Tests

Conflicting views about the purpose of placement tests have created different approaches to these assessments. For instance, ACT test creator E.F. Lindquist aimed to create a test that would measure what students had learned in high school (Nettles, 2019). However, the College Board created the SAT to measure students' aptitude, or what they are capable of learning (Arendale, 2011). Scholars today still argue whether placement tests should predict students' aptitude or measure what they have already learned (Geiser et al., 2007; Saxon & Morante, 2014; Stemler, 2012). The emphasis on achievement or aptitude guides institutions of higher education to prioritize one assessment over another. Others believe the purpose of a placement test is to identify students who need remediation. More recently, some colleges have prioritized placement tests that assign students with high chances of success into a credit-bearing course and place students who are not predicted to be successful into remediation (Behrman & Street, 2005; Medhanie et al., 2012). Common placement tests like the Accuplacer or COMPASS are intended to identify students who will be successful in their first creditbearing math or English courses and those who need additional academic support (Barnett et al., 2018; Bettinger et al., 2013; Melguizo et al., 2014). These tests typically include a threshold score or range that advisors can use to place students in appropriate courses. However, some scholars believe threshold scores dichotomize college readiness, a tenuous quality that is also difficult to measure (Maruyama, 2012; Saxon & Morante, 2014). Placement tests may only provide a snapshot of students' readiness on a given day, not a comprehensive picture of their college readiness (Bahr et al., 2019; Barnett & Reddy, 2017; Klasik & Strayhorn, 2018). Problematically, the content of these placement tests is not always aligned to what students learned in high school, causing some scholars to argue that the purpose of placement tests should be to coordinate high school and college curricula (Burdman, 2012; Hodara et al., 2012). These divergent beliefs about the purpose of placement tests have created a variety of

placement test options to suit the needs of different institutions. For example, the College Board makes the Accuplacer, which is one of the most common placement tests used in community colleges (Barnett et al., 2018; Bettinger et al., 2013; Melguizo et al., 2014). The Accuplacer's rival, the COMPASS, was made by the ACT. This illustrates how emphasis on either achievement or aptitude can create wide variation in how students are placed in institutions across the country.

College Readiness

Placement tests are intended to measure college readiness, but there is not a common, shared definition of this term (Bailey et al., 2008; Conley, 2007; Hodara et al., 2012; Klasik & Strayhorn, 2018; Kurlaender & Larsen, 2013; Maruyama, 2012; Ngo et al., 2021; Strayhorn, 2014). There is not now, nor has there ever been, a college admissions standard shared by all universities and institutions of higher education (Cohen et al., 2014). In fact, several studies point to a misalignment in the K-12 curriculum and academic expectations in higher education (Atkinson & Geiser, 2009; Kurlaender & Larsen, 2013; Melguizo & Ngo, 2020; Merisotis & Phipps, 2000; Mokher et al., 2017; Venezia et al., 2010). Essentially, high schools assess students using their own college readiness metrics, and some students graduate and find that colleges have different definitions of readiness (Kurlaender & Larsen, 2013; Melguizo & Ngo, 2020). One popular definition comes from Conley (2007), who defined college readiness as success in a first-year credit-bearing course without the need of remediation. However, Klasik & Strayhorn (2018) argued that this definition is too narrowly defined, given that readiness varies for two-year and fouryear institutions. They found that readiness differed among racial groups and by college selectivity, emphasizing that readiness is not dichotomous. Another study using data from the Educational Longitudinal Study uncovered that historically underrepresented groups, such as ethnic minorities and women, showed varying levels of college readiness (Strayhorn, 2014). Specifically, different factors, such as time spent studying, perception of high school math preparation, or talking with a faculty member,

had differing impacts on college readiness for the groups in the study, demonstrating that college readiness is not monolithic. A wider definition of college readiness has been recommended by those who wish to see the inclusion of non-cognitive factors, such as motivation and student interest (Stemler, 2012). New models for placement like the WICS (Wisdom, Intelligence, Creativity, Synthesized) theory or the Rainbow Project attempt to capture broader definitions of college readiness such as creativity and wisdom (Sternberg et al., 2012). Because there is variation in the types of placement tests administered, the aims of such tests, and definitions of college readiness, students in different states and even on campuses within the same state could have very different placement experiences and outcomes.

Challenges to Placement Tests

In recent years, placement test staples like the SAT, ACT, and Accuplacer have come under scrutiny for their lack of predictive ability (Belfield & Crosta, 2012; Burdman, 2012; Bracco et al., 2014; Ganga & Mazzariello, 2019; Scott-Clayton et al., 2014). For example, one study found the Accuplacer did not have strong predictive power regarding students' performances in first-year math and English courses (Medhanie et al., 2012). Another study of placement in a statewide community college system found that neither Accuplacer or COMPASS were positively correlated with college GPA or the number of college credits students accumulated (Belfield & Crosta, 2012). Other studies have revealed no significant correlation between Accuplacer scores and letter grades in first-year courses (Elliot et al., 2012; James, 2006). However, College Board, maker of the Accuplacer, recommends using their test in consideration of other placement data like high school transcripts, and they do not support using the Accuplacer score as the only criteria for placement (College Board, 2019).

Researchers have found that HSGPA is a stronger predictor of college readiness than the ACT and/or SAT (Allensworth & Clark, 2020; Atkinson & Geiser, 2009; Belfield & Crosta, 2012; Bowen et al., 2009; Geiser et al., 2007; Koretz et al., 2016; Scott-Clayton, 2012; Zwick & Sklar, 2005). In a study of

student data in the Chicago School System and the Integrated Postsecondary Education Data System, HSGPA was found to be the most accurate predictor of college graduation and success (Allensworth & Clark, 2020). A comprehensive review of student placement scores in Kentucky and the City University of New York found that HSGPA is the strongest predictor of future GPA, placing it above both the SAT and ACT (Koretz et al., 2016). A study of a statewide community college system found HSGPA was more predictive of college performance than Accuplacer or COMPASS (Belfield & Crosta, 2012), and a more recent study determined HSGPA was a stronger predictor of college graduation than the ACT (Allensworth & Clark, 2020). Researchers point out that HSGPA is a measure of students' academic competencies since it is collected over several years (Allensworth & Clark, 2020). Additionally, HSGPA may capture noncognitive traits like motivation, determination, and effort (Belfield & Crosta, 2012; Bowen et al., 2009). These findings have led many colleges and universities to rethink their placement models or to incorporate HSGPA to improve the accuracy of students' placement (Koretz et al., 2016). However, HSGPAs may overpredict the college readiness of minority students (Klasik & Strayhorn, 2018). Conley (2007) also criticized HSGPA as a college readiness indicator since it does not account for factors like students' behaviors and attitudes. HSGPAs may also vary based on the academic rigor of the school; for example, one study found that students at more academically challenging high schools had lower HSGPAs than those of students at schools with less rigor (Allensworth et al., 2020). Additionally, high school transcripts may be difficult to use because some students may not have access to their high school records, or they may have been out of high school for a significant time, making the records less relevant (Belfield & Crosta, 2012). These challenges to HSGPA underscore the need for placement measures to be both accurate and equitable.

The COVID-19 pandemic created more logistical challenges to the use of placement tests in college admissions since testing centers were forced to close in many states during lockdown

procedures across the country (Backstrom & Schultz, 2022; Hoover, 2021; Marcus, 2021). This led many colleges to adopt test-optional policies, where students had the choice to submit test scores. This test-optional movement was already gaining momentum by 2020 in smaller, liberal arts colleges (Backstrom & Schultz, 2022; Belasco et al., 2015); however, the pandemic accelerated its spread. In fact, by 2021, nearly ¾ of four-year colleges had adopted test-optional policies (Marcus, 2021). Although this was mainly out of necessity due to pandemic restrictions, some states like California, Colorado, and Illinois have made test-optional policies permanent (Backstrom & Schultz, 2022). However, the future of test-optional policies remains unclear. Some colleges, like the University of Tennessee, are adopting test-optional policies temporarily to allow time for policymakers to determine the long-term impact of the change (Backstrom & Schultz, 2022; Hoover, 2021). Because the future of test-optional policies remains unclear.

Student placement involves the navigation of multiple tensions since colleges must assess many students in a manner that gives each student the best placement. One set of tensions is between accuracy and efficiency (Scott-Clayton et al., 2014). For instance, multiple-measure placement methods have been found to be more accurate than traditional placement tests, but the collection of the data for those measures and the cost of additional staff to support the processes can make this method less efficient for larger school systems (Bracco et al., 2014; Burdman, 2012; Ganga & Mazzariello, 2019). Another tension exists between flexibility and standardization. Standardizing placement tests across a state would ensure that students had a consistent placement experience and that campuses shared definitions of readiness; however, individual campuses may prioritize different readiness measures or placement tools to meet the needs of their specific student populations (Hodges et al., 2020; Hodara et al., 2012; Kurlaender & Larsen, 2013; Venezia et al., 2010). Placement tests must be authentic to a college's definition of college readiness, but practical enough to be used across campuses (Klasik &

Strayhorn, 2018). Because students arrive with different levels of preparation and a variety of needs, placement tests must be both flexible and precise (Maruyama, 2012). Measures must be flexible enough to accommodate fluctuations in readiness, but they must be precise enough to deliver an accurate assessment for each student. This is challenging when colleges use placement scores to predict students' performances because predictive models are based on group trends that cannot always identify how an individual student will perform (Scott-Clayton et al., 2014). These tensions highlight the challenges colleges face when selecting and administering placement methods. Despite the original purpose to use placement tests to measure students objectively, competing ideas of college readiness and the purposes of placement create subjectivity in the placement process.

Inequity in Placement

Placement tests may appear to be objective measures, but they do not always assess students equitably (Martorell et al., 2015). For example, the SAT and ACT have faced accusations of inequity, particularly in their placement of students of color and individuals from lower socioeconomic backgrounds (Atkinson & Geiser, 2009; Bowen et al., 2009; Geiser et al., 2007; Nettles, 2019; Smith & Reeves, 2020). Additionally, SAT and ACT scores tend to underpredict the performance of ethnic minorities (Klasik & Strayhorn, 2018). However, evidence of bias exists in placement measures other than these two tests. In general, students in higher socioeconomic brackets tend to outperform students of lower socioeconomic backgrounds in measurements of college readiness (Martorell et al., 2015; Strayhorn, 2014). This has caused some to assert that placement tests are essentially a proxy for socioeconomic status (Geiser et al., 2007; Strayhorn, 2014). Even placement measures like HSGPA can overpredict the college readiness of Black and Hispanic students (Scott-Clayton, 2012; Zwick & Sklar; 2005), highlighting the heterogeneity of college readiness and the challenges of accuracy in placement. In fact, Zwick and Sklar (2005) found differences in the predictive power of the SAT for students by language, noting that the SAT is more predictive of college graduation for Hispanic speakers of English than for Hispanic speakers of Spanish. The effectiveness of placement tests not only varies by student demographics, but by the overall selectivity of the institution (Bowen et al., 2009). The potential for inequality in placement test outcomes can lead to disparities in the assignment of students to remedial education.

Historically, students of color and those from lower socioeconomic backgrounds are overrepresented in remedial courses (Attewell et al., 2006; Bailey et al., 2008; Brathwaite & Edgecombe, 2018; Chen & Simone, 2016; Crisp & Delgado, 2014; Kosiewicz & Ngo, 2020; Ngo et al., 2021). The disproportionate representation of minority students is related to bias in placement tests, which were not originally designed to support minority students (Nettles, 2019). In their longitudinal study of community college students in Ohio, Bettinger and Long (2005) found that 75% of Black and Hispanic students were placed into remedial math, and 68% were placed into remedial English using the COMPASS placement test. In a study of developmental education reforms in New York, Brathwaite and Edgecombe (2018) found Black students and recipients of Pell Grants were more likely to be placed in remedial English and math than their White counterparts. Another study found that female, Latinx, and Black students were more frequently assigned to remedial math courses that they did not need, and this impact was most pronounced for Black students (Ngo & Melguizo, 2020). Given that students who take remedial education may have their educational timelines extended and incur undue costs, bias in the placement process could place an additional burden on minority students. Since placement tests are used by some colleges to sort students into perceived ability groups, these tests can even reproduce structural inequities in the K-12 system (Stich, 2021). Specifically, students who have already attended poorly resourced schools may find themselves in a lower track when they are assigned to remedial education in college due to their scores on a placement test (Ngo & Melguizo, 2020). These inequities in

placement indicate that placement tests may serve as a barrier for some students, preventing them from accessing college courses as easily as those from more privileged backgrounds.

Placement as a Barrier

Because placement tests often reflect racial and socioeconomic inequities, some scholars suggest that they serve as a barrier rather than an objective measure (Atkinson & Geiser, 2009; Burdman, 2012; Burdman et al., 2015; Nettles, 2019). This is particularly pronounced for students who are from ethnic minority groups or from families with fewer resources. Two significant qualitative studies have revealed that placement tests are poorly understood by students, and their results are often misinterpreted. Deil-Amen and Tevis (2010) found that minority students viewed the ACT as a measure of innate intelligence and did not study because they felt it would not have an impact on their score. Students in this study with low ACT scores experienced anxiety, discouragement, and self-doubt. These results were echoed by Venezia et al. (2010) in a study of community colleges in California, where students reported confusion about what the placement tests meant, how to prepare, and whether they could retake them. This effect was more pronounced for first generation students. Students in the study reported feeling discouraged when they learned the results of the tests would place them in remediation. Students in both studies reported confusion because they initially thought the placement test was a low-stakes assessment, but they learned the results of the test added extra classes and time to their degree (Deil-Amen, 2010; Venezia et al., 2010). Students' frustration rose when they realized they would have limited college options because of their placement scores. Additionally, students may experience an opportunity cost when they take a placement exam since most tests are proctored and students must take time off work, obtain childcare, and arrange their day to sit for a placement exam (Bailey et al., 2008; Rodríguez et al., 2015). Students who cannot get off work, find childcare, or get transportation to the testing centers may not be able to take the placement test at all.

Students placed into remediation, which can be viewed as the low track by some students, may feel confusion and diminished agency after learning about their placement test results (Stich, 2021; Venezia, 2010). Students who do not score above a placement threshold may view their results as a signal that they are not ready or welcome at an institution (Atkinson & Geiser, 2009; Bettinger & Long, 2005; Moss et al., 2018; Ngo et al., 2021; Papay et al., 2016; Scott-Clayton & Rodríguez, 2015). As students realize they must take one or more remedial classes before they can begin earning college credit, they may face a cooling off period where they experience discouragement because of perceived signals that they are unprepared for the rigors of higher education (Clark, 1960). However, the impacts of this signaling are heterogenous and may depend on results of the placement test. For example, some students may be deterred from enrollment if they are assigned to take several remedial courses, but those who only need to take one may not be discouraged (Martorell et al., 2015). Other students, such as those from lower socioeconomic backgrounds, may be more sensitive to labeling (Papay et al., 2016). In their study, Papay et al. (2016) discovered that students had an emotional reaction to being labeled not ready for college because of their test scores, and such labeling deterred students from lower socioeconomic backgrounds and those with lower levels of academic preparation from pursuing college enrollment. These challenges underscore the need for colleges to find ways to ensure their placement test is a measure that does not create additional obstacles for students, particularly those from underserved populations.

History of Open Access Policies at Community Colleges

Historically, the aim of community colleges has been to make higher education more accessible to all people (Arendale, 2002; Boggs, 2011; Gilbert & Heller, 2013; Zook, 1947). Since their inception, junior colleges, now called community colleges, have existed to democratize higher education by providing education for everyone (Cohen et al., 2014; Zook, 1947). The Truman Commission Report of 1947 cemented a clear role for community colleges as the source of expansion of higher education for Black students and female students, as well as those for whom college costs were a barrier (Gilbert & Heller, 2013). Additionally, the location of community colleges made higher education accessible to a greater number of students (Cohen et al., 2014). As four-year institutions expanded in the early twentieth century, community colleges became the premiere location of academic preparatory courses (Arendale, 2011; Boylan, 1988; Cohen et al., 2014). Unlike more selective four-year institutions, community colleges serve local communities by providing occupational training, associate degrees, and transfer pathways for four-year universities (Boggs, 2011).

Students of any level of academic preparation can attend community colleges. Because of this accessibility, community colleges have been challenged to address the needs of students with low levels of academic preparation (Dougherty & Townsend, 2006; Hughes & Scott-Clayton, 2011). After all, denial of access to college could amount to a denial of opportunity (Clark, 1960). Community colleges must keep admission open for all students; nevertheless, they must maintain the rigor of their courses to meet transfer obligations with four-year institutions. Protecting access would mean allowing all students to enroll directly into college-level classes regardless of academic skill, and protecting academic standards would require that all students who need appropriate remediation can receive it (Perin, 2006). This is problematic because there can be a discrepancy between the academic preparedness of some students and the expectations of college-level coursework, which Clark (1960) referred to as conflict between the means of student ability and the ends of higher education. Allowing all students, even those who are unprepared, to enroll in courses for which they are not likely to be successful can lead to lower student outcomes (Saxon & Morante, 2014). Therefore, community colleges must uphold open access policies in a way that promotes student success (Boggs, 2011; Dougherty & Townsend,

2006; Ngo & Kwon, 2015). This means placing students into courses they can successfully complete, which involves using some assessment to ascertain students' skill levels before they begin.

Opponents of placement testing view these assessments as a violation of community colleges' open access policies. For example, Ali-Coleman (2019) argued that community colleges are not open access in practice if students are denied admission to credit-bearing courses because of their performance on a placement test. Burdman et al. (2015) agreed, noting that community colleges compromise their democratizing impact on higher education when they use placement tests to divert students from enrollment. This is, in part, why California prohibited using standardized tests alone to assess students' college readiness (Bahr et al., 2019). Much like the tensions that exist in placement testing design, the conflict between admitting all students and ensuring each student can succeed dominates placement discussions in community colleges.

Placement Tests in Community Colleges

There is very little consistency regarding the use of placement tests in community colleges (Attewell et al., 2006; Barnett & Reddy, 2017; Hodara et al., 2012; Hodges et al., 2020; Jimenez et al., 2016; Kurlaender & Larsen, 2013; Melguizo et al., 2020). Colleges differ in how tests are administered, whether they are proctored, how they are delivered (paper and pencil or computer-based), or whether the tests take place all at once or are spread over several days (Rodríguez et al., 2015; Venezia et al., 2010). By the 1970s, most community colleges had begun using placement tests to screen students for academic ability (Cohen et al., 2014). Now 38 states have legislation requiring placement tests for remedial education, and many still use Accuplacer, the SAT, or the ACT (Hodges et al., 2020). In Florida, placement tests have been eliminated, but high school students may still take a state-designed readiness test (Hodges et al., 2020; Park-Gaghan et al., 2020). Additionally, cut scores for placement tests vary widely throughout the colleges in a state, and campuses within the same city may even have
different cut scores (Hodara, 2012; Melguizo et al., 2014; Venezia et al., 2010). This has led to calls for revision of the placement process, which differs so greatly from campus to campus that assignment to remediation can appear arbitrary (Attewell et al., 2006; Bailey et al., 2010; Burdman et al., 2015; Merisotis & Phipps, 2000). Because of these criticisms, community colleges across the country are reevaluating their placement methods.

Common Placement Methods

The primary placement tests used in community colleges are the Accuplacer, made by the College Board, and the COMPASS, which was made by the ACT (Barnett et al., 2018; Bettinger et al., 2013; Bickerstaff et al., 2016; Jimenez et al., 2016; Melguizo et al., 2014). The COMPASS was discontinued, in part, because it failed to accurately place students into college-level courses (Fain, 2015). These tests have been shown to have varying levels of accuracy. The COMPASS is more accurate at predicting which students will earn a high grade in a college course than identifying who will simply pass (Hughes & Scott-Clayton, 2011). Similarly, Accuplacer was found to be more accurate at predicting which students would earn a B or higher in a math or English course than identifying who would earn a C or D, making it a limited predictor of which students could pass a college-level course (Belfield & Crosta, 2012; Mattern et al., 2009; Scott-Clayton, 2012). Another study found that Accuplacer was less accurate in placing students in English than in math, but COMPASS was less accurate in placing students into math courses (Belfield & Crosta, 2012). In addition to these tests, colleges may use multiple measures placement, which incorporates many factors such as HSGPA, courses taken in high school, and student perception surveys (Bahr et al., 2019; Ganga & Mazzariello, 2019). The variation of placement methods across the country and within states creates challenges for researchers looking to identify effective placement policies.

Over half of community colleges now use multiple measures placement, which utilizes more than one measure of readiness, such as HSGPA, courses taken in high school, and scores on standardized tests (Ganga & Mazzariello, 2019; Hodges et al., 2020). Multiple measures placement may involve weighing various placement data in a formula, creating a hierarchy of measures, or using alternate placement information when a student narrowly misses a placement test cutoff score (Bracco et al., 2014). Despite the variations in implementation, multiple measures placement has been shown to be more accurate at predicting college readiness than traditional, single-score metrics (Bahr et al., 2019). A study from the Center of the Analysis of Postsecondary Readiness measured the outcomes of students placed using a traditional placement test or multiple measures placement in the State University of New York (Barnett et al., 2018). The study revealed that using a multiple measures algorithm placed 14% of students higher in math and 41% of students higher in English than those who used a traditional placement test.

Supporters of multiple measures argue that it can also improve the accuracy of placement because it encompasses a broader view of college readiness than single-score placement tests (Barnett et al., 2020; Maruyama, 2012). For example, using decision tree methods, Bahr et al. (2019) found students' cumulative GPA and scores in subject-specific courses were strong predictors of college success and persistence. Additionally, researchers have discovered that multiple measures placement increases equity for Black and Hispanic students by improving their placement outcomes (Barnett et al., 2018; Koretz et al., 2016; Ngo & Kwon, 2015; Scott-Clayton et al., 2014). In fact, even test makers of the SAT and ACT recommend using their placement tests in conjunction with other factors to make placement decisions (Allen & Radunzel, 2015; Burdman et al., 2015; College Board, 2019). Multiple measures placement, which is sometimes called a test-flexible policy, has also become popular among four-year schools, which were forced to adopt new placement procedures during the COVID-19 pandemic (Hoover, 2021; Marcus, 2021).

Although results of multiple measures placement are promising, over half of community colleges are still using the Accuplacer or SAT/ACT scores for placement (Hodges et al., 2020). This is, in part, because multiple measures placement can be cumbersome and costly to execute, particularly for large systems (Hodara et al., 2012). Multiple measures placement involves increasing staff, creating new data collection mechanisms, and evaluating the validity of the system (Bracco et al., 2014). Additionally, institutions cannot always acquire high school transcript information (Daugherty et al., 2021), and many students do not have access to their high school transcripts (Burdman et al., 2015; Markle & Robbins, 2013; Woods et al., 2018). Another study discovered that faculty are skeptical of using high school transcript information for placement, finding it too subjective (Ngo et al., 2021). Students may challenge the seemingly subjective nature of multiple measures placement more frequently than single-score placement tests, which appear more objective (Bracco et al., 2014). Using high school transcripts could also slow down the placement process, as reviewing transcripts is a timely and labor-intensive process (Belfield & Crosta, 2012). Moreover, placement tests like Accuplacer have well-established reliability and validity, but combining reliable measures with less reliable measures can reduce the accuracy of the placement process (College Board, 2019). Indeed, Belfield and Crosta (2012) discovered that HSGPA was the only strongly predictive high school data point, and information like courses taken or Advanced Placement credits accumulated did not improve the predictive strength of HSGPA. Again, the tension between efficiency and accuracy are clear when colleges debate whether to adopt multiple measures placement.

Some colleges allow students to self-place or provide students with advising for directed selfplacement (Coleman & Smith, 2020; Felder et al., 2007; Kosiewicz & Ngo, 2020). In this method, students can complete a self-evaluation of their skills, including their highest levels of high school math and English courses completed, and decide whether to enroll in remedial or college-level classes based on information they receive about the courses. Other variations permit students to complete a selfevaluation and confer with an advisor about their placement options. This model is utilized in Florida, which eliminated all placement testing statewide (Park et al., 2018). Community college students in Florida may meet with their advisor and receive information on placement before deciding whether to enroll in remedial courses (Park et al., 2020). Results of the self-placement method have been mixed, with some studies showing that minority and female students tend to be overrepresented in remedial courses under the self-placement or directed self-placement model (Kosiewicz & Ngo, 2020). Indeed, Coleman and Smith (2020) reported that some students felt pressured to enroll in lower-level courses by their advisors, and the researchers warned that faculty or advisor bias could negatively impact selfplacement equity. However, Park-Gaghan et al. (2020) found that eliminating placement tests increased enrollment and completion of first-year math and English courses for all students, particularly for Hispanic and Black students. Florida's elimination of placement tests accompanied a range of other revisions, such as changes to how remedial courses are delivered (Park et al., 2018); therefore, it is unclear if directed self-placement alone is an effective method. A study of self-placement at American River College determined that the grades in the first credit-bearing math course of those students who self-placed were comparable to the grades of those who placed using the COMPASS (Felder et al., 2007). However, Coleman and Smith (2020) found that misplacement occurred when students made errors on their self-assessment forms. They also discovered that 50% of students did not follow the placement recommendation on the self-assessment form. Additionally, most of the research on self-placement focuses on math outcomes (Felder et al., 2007; Kosiewicz & Ngo, 2020), so less is known about English self-placement data.

Another new placement method involves personalized diagnostic testing that assigns students into specific online modules for remediation (Bickerstaff et al., 2016; Edgecombe, 2016; Hendrata et al., 2020; Kalamkarian et al., 2015; Rodríguez, 2014; Weiss & Headlam, 2019). For example, in 2011, the Virginia Community College System created a diagnostic math placement test that aligns with specific modules that correspond to nine math competencies (Edgecombe, 2016; Kalamkarian et al., 2015). The diagnostic test identifies the specific math competencies requiring remediation, and students only need to complete remediation in the modules identified by the test. Students then sign up for one semester where they work through the assigned modules using instructional software that directs them through the skills in the module at their own pace (Kalamkarian et al., 2015). Results of one study found that this new Virginia placement test raised enrollment in the first credit-bearing math course higher than the previous placement test, the COMPASS (Rodríguez, 2014). However, another study found that students in Virginia who tested into 1-5 modules had only an 18% chance of completing the first credit-bearing math course within one year of placement (Bickerstaff et al., 2016), and Rodríguez (2014) found that pass rates in the first credit-bearing math course dropped after implementation of the new placement test. A similar placement method has been utilized in the North Carolina Community System, which created a math diagnostic test to correspond to eight math competencies. Each competency is represented in a one-credit module that lasts four weeks (Kalamkarian et al., 2015). This kind of placement, which combines a diagnostic test with assigned modules, personalizes the remediation assignment and allows students to bypass remedial instruction on topics they do not need (Bickerstaff et al., 2016; Kalamkarian et al., 2015). However, this is a newer approach, so research is still being conducted on its effectiveness.

Equity in Placement at Community Colleges

Community colleges have wrestled with the challenges of ensuring equity in the placement process. Historically, placement tests have been presented as low stakes exams, but they are high stakes in reality because they can add time and additional costs for students who are assigned to remediation (Burdman, 2012; Hughes & Scott-Clayton, 2011). These costs can be particularly harmful to students in vulnerable populations. It is this disparate impact that has caused some states like California and Florida to eliminate placement tests. When Florida eliminated placement testing in 2013 with Senate Bill 1720, the total number of students enrolling and passing gateway courses increased, particularly among Black and Hispanic students (Park et al., 2018). An additional study found that eliminating placement tests closed the equity gap for Black and Hispanic students, whose passing rates in math and English became similar to their White counterparts after the passing of the bill (Park-Gaghan et al., 2020). Two studies have found that students would experience greater academic success if they all were allowed to bypass remedial education altogether and enroll directly into credit-bearing courses since misplacement into remedial education is creating a greater harm (Belfield & Crosta, 2012; Scott-Clayton, 2012). A recent comprehensive study in Texas revealed that some student groups, such as those with limited English proficiency and those from disadvantaged socioeconomic groups performed better when placed directly into college-level courses instead of remediation (Daugherty et al., 2021). Since community colleges typically have more racially diverse students, more first-generation students, and more students from lower socioeconomic backgrounds than most four-year universities (National Center for Education Statistics, 2019), they must be particularly sensitive to policies that replicate or create inequity (Kosiewicz & Ngo, 2020). Therefore, community college systems across the country have been aiming to select equitable placement methods to avoid misplacing students into remediation.

Remediation Outcomes

Students who do not test into credit-bearing courses are typically assigned to remediation, which is costly and can have mixed or negative effects for students (Bettinger & Long, 2005; Boatman & Long, 2018; Crisp & Delgado, 2014; Martorell & McFarlin, 2011). Colleges can spend between \$300,000-\$800,000 annually on placement tests, which is a fraction of the annual amount colleges spend on remediation instruction, typically \$2.2-\$9.3 million dollars (Rodríguez et al., 2015). Other estimates place the national cost of remediation in higher education at an annual \$1.3 billion (Jimenez et al., 2016). Remediation has been a critical component of higher education since its beginning, when Harvard was the first school to offer remedial courses for students who were not academically prepared in subjects like Latin (Arendale, 2011; Merisotis & Phipps, 2000; Nettles, 2019). Today, almost 70% of community college students will take at least one remedial course, and students take a total of 2.9 remedial courses on average (Chen & Simone, 2016). Remediation plays a critical role in community colleges because more community college students need remediation than students who attend four-year schools (Jimenez et al., 2016). Despite the popularity of these courses, research shows that students face more negative outcomes the longer they stay in remediation. For example, students assigned to remedial education complete fewer credits and are less likely to transfer to four-year institutions (Bettinger & Long, 2005; Crisp & Delgado, 2014; Martorell & McFarlin, 2011). A study covering five states and over 27 colleges found that many students do not enroll in remedial classes after taking a placement test, and as many as 50% of students assigned to take remedial courses do not complete them (Bailey et al., 2008). In fact, 1/2 of students in one study who were assigned to remediation did not complete any college credits in a three-year period (Bailey et al., 2008). A critical longitudinal study of outcomes in Texas found that remedial education had no positive impact on labor markets (Martorell & McFarlin, 2011). Additionally, remediation can be expensive for community college students, who spend \$920 million on

remedial courses annually (Jimenez et al., 2016). In some cases, students deplete their financial aid on remedial courses that do not even count towards a degree (Bailey et al., 2008).

Supporters of remedial education note that students with less academic preparation may have lower outcomes as a result, which is not necessarily caused by a remediation intervention (Bettinger & Long, 2005; Bettinger et al., 2013). A few studies have found that remedial education benefits students with very low levels of academic preparation, particularly in math (Boatman & Long, 2018; Mokher et al., 2017). Another study found that community college students benefited more from remedial instruction than students attending four-year institutions (Attewell et al., 2006). It is also possible that remediation is successful for students who need it, but the aggregated results of remediation outcomes are impacted by a great number of students who are assigned to remediation unnecessarily (Scott-Clayton & Belfield, 2012; Scott-Clayton & Rodríguez, 2015). Because of the variety of placement methods used to assign students to remediation, Melguizo et al. (2015) argued that the results of remediation likely correspond to the accuracy of the placement. Therefore, when students are placed appropriately into remediation, it is more likely to be beneficial. The results of remediation are mixed at best, particularly since there is considerable variation in the design of remedial programs and approaches to placement. Because students may face many negative outcomes in remedial education, it is critical to ensure they are initially placed correctly and accurately.

Because student remediation outcomes have historically been poor, one attempt to redesign remediation has grown in popularity. The co-requisite model, started in the Community College of Baltimore County in 2007, is designed to shorten the amount of time students spend in remediation by concurrently enrolling them in remediation and a college-level English course (Adams et al., 2009). Initially called the Accelerated Learning Program, this model involves having 20 students enrolled in a college-level English course: 10 who are students in the co-requisite model and 10 students who are placed directly into college-level English (Adams et al., 2009). The same instructor teaches the collegelevel English class with 20 students and the co-requisite English class where the 10 students receive additional academic support to pass the college-level course. Initial data showed that students in the corequisite class were more likely to pass the college-level course than students who took stand-alone remediation (Adams et al., 2009). Additionally, the initial data showed co-requisite students had lower withdrawal rates than students in stand-alone remediation, and co-requisite students passed the college-level English class at similar or greater rates than students who tested directly into the class. Since the introduction of the co-requisite model in Baltimore County, other community colleges have adopted the same or similar approach, finding students in the co-requisite model were more likely to pass the first credit-bearing English class than students who took stand-alone remediation (Cho et al., 2012; Jaggars et al., 2015; Ran et al., 2022). Students in the co-requisite model are also more likely to persist in their education than students who complete traditional remediation (Jaggars et al., 2015; Ran et al., 2022). The co-requisite model showed such promise nationally that Complete College America recommended adoption of this model as a best practice in its landmark report on remediation (Complete College America, 2012). Nevertheless, remediation reform is only as effective as the placement tools that initially put students there.

Student Misplacement

Of particular concern is where to set placement cut scores, given that remediation outcomes are bleak for many students. Four out of ten students assigned to remedial education courses do not complete them (Bailey et al., 2010; Complete College America, 2012). Therefore, the placement score must be set appropriately to avoid putting students into remediation who do not need those services. For example, if the cutoff score is too high, students will be placed into remediation unnecessarily, causing significant delays in their educational timelines (Melguizo et al., 2015). Students in community colleges may experience misplacement more frequently than students at four-year institutions (Ngo, 2020). For example, Melguizo and Ngo (2020) examined math misalignment in students enrolled in a large community college district in California and found that ¼ of the students who tested as college ready in high school were required to take remedial math in college. In a study using data from the Educational Longitudinal Study of 2002, researchers determined that 20% of all students took a math course they did not need, and over 40% of students placed into remedial math did not really need the course (Ngo, 2020). The author referred to this as redundant math, a term used when students are assigned remedial math courses they do not need. A landmark study found that students are more often under-placed, which means they are assigned to a remedial course even though they could be successful in a credit-bearing course (Scott-Clayton et al., 2014). Another study of a statewide community college system found that three out of ten students were misplaced by the Accuplacer and COMPASS (Belfield & Crosta, 2012). Unfortunately, misplacement in community college can have harmful effects on students' educational trajectories.

Misplacement can have great costs for students and colleges. A Texas study of remediation outcomes revealed that students who tested just below the placement cutoff were less likely to complete courses within one year of taking the placement test (Martorell & McFarlin, 2011). This finding was duplicated in a study of placement tests in California, where researchers found that students who tested just below the cutoff score completed fewer credits in their first year and were less likely to enroll in a credit-bearing math course (Ngo & Melguizo, 2016). In a landmark study of two and four-year institutions in Tennessee, Boatman and Long (2018) found that students who tested a few points under the cutoff score were less likely to complete their degrees. Given the negative impact on students placing just below the score, placement thresholds must be carefully set. Researchers have recommended lowering the cut score to reduce placement errors (Ngo & Melguizo, 2016; Scott-Clayton et al. 2014) or adjusting the cutoff scores in response to placement outcome data (Melguizo et al., 2015). This would benefit students and institutions because a misplacement can cost colleges \$324 per student per remedial course (Rodríguez et al., 2015). However, to make nuanced decisions about how to place students more appropriately, community colleges need data about the impact of such changes at their own campuses.

Placement Accuracy

Several measures can be used to assess the accuracy of placement tests. Measures of success differ, so the accuracy of any placement test depends on the variables selected (Hughes & Scott-Clayton, 2011; Scott-Clayton, 2012). Placement accuracy is largely a function of how appropriate placements are defined. Belfield and Crosta (2012) noted that the accuracy of any given placement test depends on how it is used. For example, one definition of appropriate placement is a test that identifies students who have a low chance of being successful in the credit-bearing course and those who have a high chance of success (Sawyer, 1996). If the placement is appropriate, both groups will perform well in their assigned classes. Another approach is to examine how accurately a test predicts how students will perform in a future course, also known as predictive validity. The typical approach to predictive validity is to examine the placement scores of students in connection to their grades in the first credit-bearing math or English course (Bowen et al., 2009; College Board, 2019; James, 2006; Medhanie et al., 2012). According to the American Educational Research Association et al. (2014), the validity of a test is a function of how appropriately the evidence supports the proposed use of a test. Therefore, a placement test is only as valuable as its correlation to students' performance in the course it is designed to predict (Armstrong, 1999). One such study of Accuplacer's predictive validity using correlations between the placement scores and course grades found that the test placed students accurately 70% of the time, controlling for statistical artifacts (Mattern et al., 2009). In a variation of this approach, Zwick and Sklar (2005)

evaluated the effectiveness of HSGPA and SAT scores using college graduation rates. In another study, placement validity was examined using decision theory models (Sawyer, 1996). However, this approach has not been duplicated in subsequent research.

Critics of placement validity studies argue that they are based on faulty understanding since placement tests are not able to capture all the factors that contribute to a student's success (Saxon & Morante, 2014). Others argue that the data from correlation coefficients are limited because students who test into remediation receive a treatment, a remedial course, thereby interfering with the outcome data, the course grade or completion (Belfield & Crosta, 2012; Scott-Clayton, 2012). Additionally, correlations do not take socioeconomic factors into account (Atkinson & Geiser, 2009). Some scholars have noted that placement scores can be challenging to evaluate since they assess students' readiness with a single score (Brathwaite & Edgecombe, 2018; Saxon & Morante, 2014; Scott-Clayton & Rodríguez, 2015). In one study of students in Florida's college system, researchers found that students with the highest levels of academic preparation had only an 82% chance of passing the first credit-bearing English course (Woods et al., 2018). This underscores the challenge of examining correlations, revealing that many factors are involved in passing a course. Therefore, there are limits to evaluating the predictive accuracy of placement tests.

An influential study by Scott-Clayton (2012) generated a metric for placement accuracy called the severe error rate. Based on diagnostic accuracy, often measured in the medical field, the severe error rate is a measure of how accurately a placement test identifies students in need of a treatment, in this case, remedial education. The severe error rate is calculated from a predictive model that uses data obtained from a regression of the characteristics of students who were placed into a college-level course and did not take remediation. Using the data from that regression, Scott-Clayton (2012) analyzed students of similar preparation and academic levels who were placed into remediation. This data yielded four categories of students: those properly placed in remediation, those in remediation who would be successful in a college level course, those who were appropriately placed in a college-level course, and those who were placed in a college-level course but would not likely be successful. The percentage of students predicted to be improperly placed is called the severe error rate (Scott-Clayton, 2012). This metric was applied in a later study of a large urban community college system and a statewide community college system, where the authors found that ¹/₄ to ¹/₄ of students were misplaced (Scott-Clayton et al., 2014). The severe error rate was used to analyze the Accuplacer and COMPASS in a statewide community college system, and the authors discovered that students were severely misplaced by both assessments (Belfield & Crosta, 2012). In a 2016 study, Ngo and Melguizo used the severe error rate to examine the accuracy of placement in a large California community college district, finding an increase in placement errors after the district switched from a diagnostic test to Accuplacer. More recently, Leeds and Mokher (2020) used the severe error rate to calculate the accuracy of Florida's Postsecondary Readiness Test (PERT), finding that ¾ of the students placed in the upper levels of remedial English courses could have been successful in a credit-bearing English course. However, to calculate the severe-error rate, a researcher must have access to students' HSGPAs and course transcript information, which can be difficult to collect from community college students (Burdman et al., 2015; Markle & Robbins, 2013). Without complete high school transcript information, the sample size in the study must be reduced, and the sample will include younger students who recently graduated high school (Belfield & Crosta, 2012). Therefore, the effectiveness of calculating the severe error rate for placement methods will be reduced in institutions where complete high school transcript information is not available for many students or in colleges where most students have not recently graduated from high school.

Accuracy rates can vary for math and English placement methods (Bahr et al., 2019; Barnett et al., 2020; Belfield & Crosta, 2012; Hughes et al., 2010; Leeds & Mokher, 2020; Mattern et al., 2009; Scott-Clayton, 2012). In general, placement tests are more accurate at predicting which students will be successful in math than in English (Hughes et al., 2010; James, 2006; Scott-Clayton, 2012; Scott-Clayton et al., 2014). In fact, the Accuplacer, the most common placement test, was found to be more accurate in predicting which students would earn a B in their first credit bearing math course than those who would do so in their first credit-bearing English class (Belfield & Crosta, 2012; Mattern et al., 2009; Scott-Clayton et al., 2014). This may explain why students placed into remediation by English placement tests are more frequently misplaced than those placed into remedial math (Leeds & Mokher, 2020; Scott-Clayton et al., 2014). Even alternate placement methods have varying accuracy for English and math. For example, in their analysis of multiple measures placement in California community colleges, Bahr et al. (2019) discovered that cumulative HSGPA needed to be higher for accurate placement into math courses than for English courses. In a study of community colleges in New York, Barnett et al. (2020) found that multiple measures placement methods allowed higher numbers of students to bypass remedial English than remedial math. Similarly, Woods et al. (2018) examined placement methods for community colleges in Florida and found that multiple measures placement methods provided greater benefit to students in English than math, as more students tested out of remedial English using this placement method. These findings underscore the need for separate analyses of math and English placement methods.

English Placement

Community colleges most commonly assess students' college readiness in reading and writing using placement tests, specifically, the COMPASS and the Accuplacer (Bettinger et al., 2013; Hodara et al., 2012; Hodges et al., 2020; Horn et al., 2009; Hughes & Scott-Clayton, 2010). Mattern et al. (2009)

determined that the Accuplacer was 70% effective at predicting college readiness in English. However, some studies have found the Accuplacer is not as predictive of English readiness than math readiness (James, 2006; Scott-Clayton et al., 2014). Colleges may use the SAT and the ACT in addition to the Accuplacer to assess students' reading and writing competencies. In fact, one study comparing the accuracy of the Accuplacer and the SAT Writing section found the SAT to be more accurate for placement into first-year composition courses (Elliot et al., 2012). Students in community colleges may not have SAT or ACT scores, so additional measures must be available to assess such individuals (Burdman, 2012). Some colleges have designed their own writing or reading placement tests for greater accuracy, theorizing that a locally generated test will be more closely aligned with local curriculum. For example, Behrman and Street (2005) found that locally created, content-specific reading tests yielded more accurate placement results than content-general tests such as the Accuplacer and COMPASS. However, the time, effort, and personnel required to create, validate, and evaluate a new placement test makes locally created tests more challenging, especially for larger community college systems (Burdman, 2012; Hodara et al., 2012). Additionally, some colleges are using multiple measures to assess students' reading and writing readiness, using an algorithm that incorporates HSGPA, English courses taken (including any advanced placement credit), SAT or ACT scores, and student self-evaluation information (Allensworth et al., 2020; Bahr et al., 2019; Barnett et al., 2020). These measures can be more accurate, but they are also more time-consuming and labor-intensive to create and execute (Barnett et al., 2020; Burdman et al., 2015; Hodara et al., 2012; Woods et al., 2018). Each placement method has various levels of accuracy depending on the geographic region and institution, so it is critical for each college and even individual campuses within an institution to evaluate the accuracy and effectiveness of the placement methods used with their own student populations (Coleman & Smith, 2020; Ganga & Mazzariello, 2019; Horn et al., 2009; Melguizo et al., 2014).

First-year English composition courses are considered gateway classes because they are required for most college majors, and students cannot move forward in their degrees until these courses are passed (Park et al., 2018; Scott-Clayton & Rodriguez, 2015). Typically, these first-year courses focus on composition skills such as essay writing, research and citation practices, and clear and effective written communication. Unfortunately, first-year composition courses tend to have high withdrawal rates. For example, a multi-year study of a community college system in Texas uncovered that composition courses have a 14.3% withdrawal rate (McKinney et al., 2019). However, the rate of withdrawals in English composition courses can point to multiple factors. Because students can withdraw until nearly the end of the semester at most institutions, withdrawal rates can reflect students who are earning an undesirable grade and wish to withdraw rather than earn a grade that will negatively affect their GPA (Armstrong, 1999). In their study of withdrawal rates, Wheland et al. (2012) uncovered that students may withdraw from an English class for a variety of reasons, such as dislike of the instructor or teaching style, difficulty with course concepts, or even personal matters. Additionally, the modality of the English course can affect withdrawal rates. One study found that students who take English composition in a traditional in-person format have lower withdrawal rates than students who take the course virtually or online (Bourdeau et al., 2018). It is also possible that students who are mistakenly placed into the first-year composition class withdraw when they discover they are not academically prepared for the course (Scott-Clayton et al., 2014).

EdReady English

EdReady English is a placement tool developed by the NROC Project to deliver individualized online testing and instruction to help students refresh and develop their skills in critical reading and writing (EdReady, n.d.) The NROC Project is an organization that provides free and low cost open-access resources to institutions to promote academic, college, and career readiness (The NROC Project, n.d.). The NROC online content has been adapted into the EdReady English platform (EdReady, n.d.). When students use EdReady English as a placement tool, they can take the initial online EdReady diagnostic test to assess their skills and receive a score based on their performance (EdReady, n.d.). If students meet their target score, a specific cut score set by their institution, they may enroll in their college-level courses. If they do not, they are assigned a Study Path, which includes lessons with videos, practice exercises, and quizzes to refresh their skills. The individualized instruction provides instant feedback, so students can immediately see how they are progressing in their path (Hendrata et al., 2020). By working through the lessons in the Study Path, a set of units based on students' reading and writing needs identified in the diagnostic test, students can improve their target score. Institutions can determine what percentage of the material in a Study Path, ranging from 1-100, a student must master to qualify for enrollment in college-level courses (EdReady, n.d.). If the institution indicates that a student must master 70% of the content to enroll in the first credit-bearing English course, then a student must reach a target score of 70. Institutions can also select the content of the diagnostic test, choosing material from the following ten units: Introduction to College Reading and Writing, Identifying Main Ideas, Discovering Implied Meaning, Interpreting Bias, Analysis through Definition, Learning across Disciplines, Exploring Comparative Elements, Informed Opinions through Causal Chains, Applied Critical Analysis, and Using Sources in Critical Reading and Writing (EdReady English Table of Contents, n.d.). The ability to customize the material of the diagnostic test is one advantage EdReady offers.

The EdReady English placement tool offers many features that benefit community colleges. For example, students can take the placement test at home with no time constraints (Bickerstaff et al., 2021; Thornton et al., 2019). In this way, EdReady addresses some of the testing barriers presented by other placement methods. Specifically, students do not have to take time off work, secure childcare, or drive to a testing center (Bailey et al., 2008; Rodríguez et al., 2015). This makes EdReady a more lowstakes placement test than the Accuplacer or COMPASS, which are proctored exams, because students can take it on their own time, at their own pace, and in their own environments (Bickerstaff et al., 2021; The NROC Network, 2019). Because EdReady allows students to build their skills and retest, students can save money on remediation costs (Hendrata et al., 2020; The NROC Network, 2016; Thornton et al., 2018). This is because students can work through the lessons of the Study Path, retest, and raise their target score. Because it is an adaptive, personalized tool, EdReady provides students with immediate feedback on their progress (Bickerstaff et al., 2016; Hendrata et al., 2020). This offers students greater autonomy over their learning and allows them more opportunities to master the content (Bickerstaff et al., 2016). Additionally, students can save valuable time with EdReady by bypassing remedial courses that may have prolonged their educational timelines (Methvin & Markham, 2015; Thornton et al., 2018). Students who use EdReady tend to enroll and complete their first-year courses at greater rates than those who placed using traditional methods like the Accuplacer or COMPASS (The NROC Network, 2019; Thornton et al., 2018). Finally, the ability to customize the content of diagnostic tests makes it flexible for institutions that need to adapt the content for the needs of the local community (Methvin & Markham, 2015). Although these features appear attractive, very little research is available on the outcomes of students who are placed using this tool.

Nevada State College used EdReady Math as a remedial option for students in 2016 and found that students saved \$800 on average by eliminating the need for remedial courses (The NROC Network, 2016). Additionally, the school saw enrollment in introductory math courses jump from 24% to 42% after students began using EdReady Math for remediation (Nevada, 2019). In another case study, Jacksonville State University began using EdReady Math as a placement test in 2019. Results showed students who placed into college-level math courses with EdReady Math had more passing grades and fewer withdrawals and incompletes than those who placed using the traditional SAT or ACT test (The NROC Network, 2019). University of Hawaii high school students used EdReady Math to improve their scores on the COMPASS, and 76% of students were able to move up one or more levels in their math placement after using the Study Path (Methvin & Markham, 2015). Additionally, EdReady Math was used at a large, Hispanic-serving institution in a three-week winter math boot camp to help remediate students. With EdReady Math, 65% of the students were able to test out of remedial education, saving them at least one semester of remedial coursework (Hendrata et al., 2020). Each of these studies shares the results of EdReady Math, but little is known about how well EdReady English works to assess and prepare students in English. Nationally, EdReady is being used as a placement test in higher education in Nevada, Hawaii, and Kentucky, and as a college readiness preparatory tool in Montana and Utah (Methvin & Markham, 2015). However, a review of the literature revealed no extant research on the accuracy of EdReady English as a placement tool.

To improve placement equity and accuracy, a LMCCS adopted EdReady English as a placement test in Spring 2020. The LMCSS has set a statewide target score for entry into college-level English courses. Across the state, students at each campus must achieve a 70 or higher on EdReady English to enroll in the first credit-bearing English course, ENGL 111: Introduction to College Composition. Students who do not meet the target score can work on an individualized Study Path that includes free online resources like videos, practice exercises, and quizzes. After students meet the target score, they are eligible to enroll in ENGL 111. EdReady English allows students the option to bypass remedial non-credit courses if they wish, saving them time and money. Students still have the choice to take remedial education courses, particularly if they place very far from the target score. For example, if a student receives a score of 30 on the diagnostic test, they will need to decide if they want to spend time working in the Study Path to raise that score to a 70, which could take many hours (EdReady, n.d.). Students can work with their advisor to determine if they would prefer to work on the Study Path to raise their score

to 70 or if they wish to take a remedial English course. Some students may not learn best using an online, adaptive format, and they may prefer to take a remedial class to refresh their skills. Because EdReady English is new, data is limited on the accuracy of its use as a placement test. Additionally, it is unknown how EdReady English functions as a placement tool for English courses, and it is also unclear how EdReady serves as a placement tool for English courses at LMCCS.

Summary

Despite the prevalence of scholarship on the accuracy of the SAT, ACT, Accuplacer, and COMPASS, there is very little known about the accuracy of EdReady English as a placement method. If the accuracy of the test cannot be determined, its usefulness as a placement tool is questionable at best and detrimental at worst (Scott-Clayton, 2012). Given that misplacement into remediation generates well-documented negative outcomes, community colleges must prioritize the accuracy and equity of their placement measures. Researchers have emphasized that colleges must evaluate the accuracy of placement tests at their own campuses (Atkinson & Geiser, 2009; Burdman, 2012; Coleman & Smith, 2020; Ganga & Mazzariello, 2019; Horn et al., 2009; Melguizo et al., 2014) because what works well for one institution may not be effective at another. Evaluation is particularly critical because placement tests can have a negative effect on already disadvantaged students like racial/ethnic minorities and those in poverty (Barnett et al., 2020; Elliot et al., 2012). Therefore, this study seeks to examine how accurately EdReady English is placing students into their first credit-bearing English courses at the LMCCS and if the placements are equitable to all students, thereby upholding open access policies and the promise of community colleges to serve all students well.

Chapter 3: Methodology

Introduction

In spring 2020, a Large Midwestern Community College System (LMCCS) adopted a new placement assessment called EdReady English, an online placement tool developed by The NROC Network to deliver individualized online testing and instruction to help students assess and develop their reading and writing skills. Students take an initial one-hour, multiple-choice diagnostic test to assess their critical reading and writing skills and receive a score based on their performance (EdReady, n.d.). If students meet the target score, a cut score set by their institution, they may enroll in college-level courses. If not, they are assigned to a Study Path, which contains online learning material based on the results of their diagnostic test (EdReady, n.d.). Students can raise their target score as they make progress in the Study Path by reviewing lessons, practice questions, videos, and unit tests. If a student does not wish to complete work in the Study Path, the student may opt to take a remedial integrated reading and writing course instead.

At the LMCCS, students can demonstrate college readiness in English using one of the following metrics: a high school grade point average (HSGPA), American College Test (ACT) score, Scholastic Aptitude Test (SAT) score, Preliminary Scholastic Aptitude Test (PSAT) score, a transcript that shows successful completion of college-level courses or a previous college degree, successful completion of remedial writing or reading courses, enrollment in an English co-requisite class, or a score on the Accuplacer or Accuplacer Next Generation, which was used as a placement test by the LMCCS prior to spring 2020. Students must meet statewide cut scores in both reading and writing to enroll in the first credit-bearing English course, ENGL 111: English Composition. Students who are not able to show their reading or writing competencies through any of these metrics are required to take EdReady English to determine their placement. The LMCCS has set the EdReady English target score at 70 for all its campuses, indicating that students must score 70 or higher on their diagnostic test, which represents mastery of 70% of the content in their Study Path, to enroll in ENGL 111: English Composition. Table 1 shows a breakdown of all English placement criteria at the LMCCS.

Table 1

Large Midwestern Community College System's English Placement Criteria

		Placement Method					_
	Accuplacer Next Gen	Custom Accuplacer	SAT	ACT	High School GPA	PSAT	EdReady English
Writing Scores	Writing 250-256 Writeplacer 5 and higher	Writeplacer 4-8	27 Writing and Language Test or 460 Evidence Based Reading and Writing	17 English	2.6 GPA within the last 4 years	26 Writing Skills or 430 Evidence Based Reading and Writing	Reading and Writing 70 or higher
Reading Scores	Reading 257 and higher	Reading Diagnostic 69-120	25 Reading Test or 460 Evidence Based Reading and Writing	18 Reading	2.6 GPA within the last 4 years	25 Critical Reading or 430 Evidence Based Reading and Writing	Reading and Writing 70 or higher

The LMCCS has 19 campuses, but each campus has unique student demographics, so accuracy of this placement tool could vary by campus, depending on the geographic location and student population. Therefore, it is essential to determine the accuracy of the EdReady English placement test at each campus.

Purpose Statement

Although previous studies have demonstrated that students placed by EdReady Math perform better in their first credit-bearing math courses than students placed by Accuplacer and the SAT (Hendrata et al., 2020; Methvin & Markham, 2015; The NROC Network, 2016; The NROC Network, 2019; Thornton et al., 2019), no extant research explores the effectiveness of EdReady English as a placement tool for first-year credit-bearing English courses. Additionally, it is unknown how accurately EdReady English places students into their first credit-bearing English course, ENGL 111, at the LMCCS. The purpose of this causal comparative quantitative study was to analyze the placement accuracy of the EdReady English placement tool utilized at one campus of the LMCCS. Specifically, this study examined students' scores on the EdReady English test and their grades in the first credit-bearing English course, ENGL 111. Additionally, this study compared the ENGL 111 grades of students placed by the EdReady English test across student subgroups to determine if there were differences in the accuracy of the test by age, race, or gender. ENGL 111 grades of students placed by EdReady English were compared to the ENGL 111 grades of students placed by other methods to analyze if students placed by EdReady English had similar success rates in the first credit-bearing English course as those placed by the Accuplacer, ACT, co-requisite, HSGPA, previous coursework or previous degree, PSAT, remedial coursework, or SAT. **Research Questions**

Research Question 1 (RQ1): How accurately does the EdReady English test place students into their first credit-bearing English course, ENGL 111?

a. What is the relationship between students' scores on the EdReady English placement test and their grades in the first credit-bearing English course, ENGL 111?b. What scores on the EdReady English placement test predict success (C or higher) in

the first credit-bearing English course, ENGL 111?

Research Question 2 (RQ2): How do grades in the first credit-bearing English course, ENGL 111, vary for different student subgroups (age, race, and gender) placed using the EdReady English assessment? **Research Question 3 (RQ3):** How do the ENGL 111 grades of students placed into their first credit-bearing English course by EdReady English compare to the ENGL 111 grades of students placed by other criteria (Accuplacer, ACT, co-requisite, high school GPA, previous coursework or previous degree, PSAT, remedial coursework, or SAT)?

Instrumentation

EdReady by NROC is an online tool that allows students to assess their knowledge in math, reading, and writing and receive a personalized study plan customized to their needs (EdReady, n.d.). In addition to college readiness, EdReady can be used to help students prepare for algebra, geometry, the Accuplacer, SAT, ACT, or a high school equivalency test like the GED (EdReady, n.d.). The LMCCS is using EdReady English as the placement tool for the first credit-bearing English course, ENGL 111, which is required for all majors and is a prerequisite course for dozens of other LMCCS courses. EdReady English contains 10 modules, which are called units: Introduction to College Reading and Writing, Identifying Main Ideas, Discovering Implied Meaning, Interpreting Bias, Analysis through Definition, Learning Across Disciplines, Exploring Comparative Elements, Informed Opinions through Causal Chains, Applied Critical Analysis, and Using Sources in Critical Reading and Writing (EdReady English Table of Contents, n.d.). Each unit contains three categories of study: reading, writing, and grammar. For example, Unit 1: Introduction to College Reading and Writing, contains a reading section that assesses fact and opinion, using context clues, and topic sentences. The writing portion of Unit 1 assesses topic sentences and revision, editing, and proofreading. The Unit 1 grammar section measures subjects and verbs, prepositional phrases, and end punctuation (EdReady English Table of Contents, n.d.). Appendix B contains a full list of all EdReady English topics and subtopics.

The EdReady English tool is embedded into the LMCCS student platform, so students can access it online from anywhere using their campus login information. The diagnostic test can last up to one hour and contains a variety of multiple-choice questions that students can choose to answer or pass. Each diagnostic question has a label identifying its corresponding unit, and students can see a progress bar at the top of their screen indicating how much of the test remains (EdReady, n.d.). Students have the option to save and close the test, so the test can be completed in more than one session. Once students have completed the diagnostic test, they can instantly view their score, which appears in a circle on a horizontal sliding scale from 1-100 (EdReady, n.d.). On their EdReady homepage, students will see their target score, units they need to study at the top, and units where they performed well on the bottom. The number of units will total 10, and some students will not be assigned any units to study if they demonstrated mastery on the diagnostic test.

Units are presented in the order of recommended study, but students can access any of the units in their Study Path at any order at any time (EdReady, n.d.). Each unit will appear with a color code that indicates if the topic has been mastered or needs review. When a student accesses one of their assigned units, they will see an estimated study time for that unit and individual topics in reading, writing, and grammar. Each topic will have a label, either not ready or doing well, and students can choose to learn or test over each topic. If they choose the learn option, they are directed to a lesson on the topic with text that explains the concept, examples, practice exercises, and video lessons. Students can access this material in any order, depending on how they learn best. After students review the material, they can take a test over the topic. If students show mastery of the material, the target score will increase (EdReady, n.d.). The target score is clearly visible at the top of the home page and the Study Path, so students can track their progress in real time. As soon as a student reaches a target score of 70, the EdReady platform communicates seamlessly with the LMCCS student information system, Banner,

allowing the student to enroll in ENGL 111. All lesson elements, including images and videos, are designed for accessibility according to Section 508 requirements (EdReady, n.d.).

Framework

Placement tests have been utilized since 1926 to standardize the academic requirements used for admittance to higher education (Arendale, 2011; Nettles, 2019). Over time, placement tests have become a critical tool for community colleges to assess students' readiness for college-level math and English courses (Barnett et al., 2018; Bettinger et al., 2013; Bickerstaff et al., 2016; Jimenez et al., 2016; Melguizo et al., 2014). For many years, the use of a placement test was considered a best practice for assigning students to remedial education (Hughes & Scott-Clayton, 2010). Although many institutions are moving to multiple measures placement (Bracco et al., 2014; Ganga & Mazzariello, 2019; Hodges et al., 2020), placement tests are still utilized at over half of colleges nationwide (Hodges et al., 2020). Placement tests are still the most efficient, low-cost option for many institutions, particularly large systems (Bracco et al., 2014; Hodara et al., 2012). Additionally, placement tests provide more continuity across large systems (Barnett et al., 2020), and they have objective cut scores that eliminate potential challenges to placement decisions (Bracco et al., 2014). Even colleges that utilize multiple measures include placement tests as part of the placement decision process (Barnett et al., 2020; Burdman et al., 2015; Ganga & Mazzariello, 2019; Ngo & Kwon, 2014), highlighting the important role these assessments can play in providing an appropriate placement. Even colleges that have test-optional or test-flexible policies may use placement test scores to determine appropriate course placement (Backstrom & Schultz, 2022). Most importantly, many community college students do not have access to their high school transcripts, or they have been out of high school for many years (Belfield & Crosta, 2012; Burdman et al., 2015; Daugherty et al., 2021; Woods et al., 2018). Therefore, placement tests may be the best way to assess these students' academic abilities (Scott-Clayton, 2012). Although, placement

tests are imperfect measures (Mattern et al., 2009), they provide critical insights into students' competencies that colleges can use to inform placement decisions (Allen & Radunzel, 2017; College Board, 2019; Markle & Robbins, 2013). Since procedures for validating the accuracy of placement tests are well-documented (Hughes & Scott-Clayton, 2010; Koretz et al., 2016; Melguizo et al., 2014; Sawyer, 1996; Scott-Clayton, 2012), and many institutions are still using these assessments, it is beneficial to analyze their use and effectiveness. Because EdReady English is being used as a placement test at a LMCCS, previous methods for evaluating the accuracy of placement tests were applied to the analysis of this measure.

Research Design

This quantitative study examined the final English grades of students at a campus of a LMCCS who were placed into the first credit-bearing English course, ENGL 111, by their EdReady English scores. The study utilized a causal comparative design, examining the outcomes of a variable, the EdReady English placement test, that had already occurred (Fraenkel & Wallen, 1990). Because students on this LMCCS campus were not assigned to remediation or their first credit-bearing English course randomly, this was a quasi-experimental study (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). The study analyzed students' success rates, defined as earning a C or higher, completion rates, defined as earning a D or higher, and withdrawal rates in the first credit-bearing course, ENGL 111. Previous studies on college placement test accuracy have defined course success as a B or higher in the associated first-year course in math or English (Allen & Radunzel, 2015; Hughes & Scott-Clayton, 2010); however, a grade of C or higher will transfer successfully to the four-year public universities associated with this LMCCS. Therefore, a C or higher was considered a success in this study.

First, the ENGL 111 grades of students placed by EdReady English were examined. Sawyer (1996) argued that an accurate placement measure will correlate positively with grades, such that students

scoring higher on the placement test will earn higher grades. Additionally, to examine the relationship of EdReady English scores and grades in the first credit-bearing English course, a regression was run to determine what EdReady English scores predicted success in ENGL 111. Next, the grades in the first credit-bearing English course earned by students who were placed using the EdReady English assessment were examined by subgroups: age, race, and gender. Previous studies have determined that placement tests can create different student outcomes by race (Brathwaite & Edgecombe, 2018; Klasik & Strayhorn, 2018; Nettles, 2019; Ngo & Kwon, 2014; Park et al., 2018; Stich, 2021; Zwick & Sklar, 2005); therefore, it was essential to determine if the accuracy of the EdReady English placement test varied by student subgroup. Because a threat to causal-comparative studies is inherent differences in groups (Fraenkel & Wallen, 1990), the medians of each placement group were calculated, and visual inspections of boxplots were used to ensure groups were equivalent before comparison. Finally, the ENGL 111 grades of students placed by the EdReady English assessment were compared to those of students placed using other methods (Accuplacer, ACT, co-requisite, HSGPA, previous coursework or previous degree, PSAT, remedial coursework, or SAT). These outcomes were analyzed to determine if students placed by the EdReady English assessment had similar English grades as those placed by other methods. Specifically, since other studies have found that HSGPA is highly correlated to college success (Allensworth & Clark, 2020; Atkinson & Geiser, 2009; Bahr et al., 2019; Geiser et al., 2007; Koretz et al., 2016), it was critical to determine if students placed using the EdReady English assessment were experiencing the same outcomes as those placed by HSGPA.

Participants

Secondary data was collected from students at a selected campus of the LMCCS that is categorized as urban (National Center for Education Statistics, 2006). The study included all students who took the first credit-bearing English course, ENGL 111, from August 2020 until March 2022. The

population of the LMCCS is 70% White with smaller populations of Black, Hispanic, and multiracial individuals. Over half the population of LMCCS is female, and the majority are part-time students. This LMCCS campus was selected because it was one of the first in the LMCCS to adopt the EdReady assessment tool. Because this campus was chosen for its longevity with the EdReady placement assessment, the sampling method for this study was purposive (Lavrakas, 2008).

The initial sample contained 1,014 student scores, but five students were removed because their placement method could not be determined. This is because professionals in the admissions office must enter how the student was placed into ENGL 111 manually, and no placement method was recorded for these five students. One of the five students took ENGL 111 twice, so six scores were removed in total. Four more student scores were removed because they represented students who took an earlier version of EdReady that contained a separate reading and writing test. Because these students took two tests instead of the combined reading and writing test that most students in the sample took, they were removed from the data set. 54 students took ENGL 111 more than once in the period of data collection. Students' first grade in ENGL 111 was retained, and grades in subsequent attempts at ENGL 111 were discarded. This is because students' first attempt at ENGL 111 is more reflective of the accuracy of the placement method than second or third attempts, after which students' performance also reflects knowledge gained by completing part or all of the course. Because one student took ENGL 111 three times in the study period, 55 scores were removed due to students repeating the course. This left 948 individual students in the study.

Data Collection

The data for this study was obtained through a formal request to the data strategist of the LMCCS, who provided secondary data of students' placement methods, demographic data, and their scores and completions in the first credit-bearing English course, ENGL 111. The LMCCS data strategist

pulled the data from the college's student information system, Banner, which houses students' placement and demographic data. Banner contains data from students' registration information, transcript information, class registration, and financial aid status. The data analyst compiled the requested data, which included students' identification number, race, age, gender, English placement method, and grade in ENGL 111, and shared it with the primary researcher using a spreadsheet. The data was de-identified by removing students' identification numbers and replacing them with participant numbers. The data for this study was collected from August 2020 until March 2022. The campus selected for this study has two eight-week periods each fall and spring semester and one eightweek semester in the summer. Therefore, the data in this study represents eight completed course periods: two eight-week periods in Fall 2020, two eight-week periods in Spring 2021, one summer period in 2021, two eight-week periods in Fall 2021, and the first eight-week period in Spring 2022.

Data Analysis

This study used IBM SPSS v. 28 to analyze the English grades of students placed by the EdReady English assessment to determine how accurately the test identified students who are considered college ready for the first credit-bearing English course, ENGL 111.

Research Question 1 (RQ1): How accurately does the EdReady English test place students into their first credit-bearing English course, ENGL 111?

a. What is the relationship between students' scores on the EdReady English
placement test and their grades in the first credit-bearing English course, ENGL 111?
H1₀: The coefficient of the slope equals zero.

H1: The coefficient of the slope does not equal zero.

b. What scores on the EdReady English placement test predict success (C or higher) in the first credit-bearing English course, ENGL 111?

To test Research Question 1a, a linear regression was run using the score on the EdReady English placement test as the independent variable and the grade in the first credit-bearing English course as the dependent variable. This is the test used in previous placement accuracy studies (Barnett et al., 2018; Belfield & Crosta, 2012; Bettinger & Long, 2005; Geiser et al., 2007; Koretz et al., 2016; Ngo & Kwon, 2014; Scott-Clayton, 2012), but there are no applications of this test using the EdReady English assessment in the extant research. Linear regression was selected over logistic regression used in past studies (Medhanie et al., 2012; Whiton et al., 2018) because it is important to examine each grade outcome instead of a binary pass/no pass outcome. This created a broader picture of how students' grades are associated with specific EdReady English scores. Examining the accuracy of EdReady English involves analyzing the use of the test, not the test itself (American Educational Research Association et al., 2014). Grades were converted to numbers, where A was assigned 4, B was assigned 3, C was assigned 2, D was assigned 1, and F, FW (indicating the student stopped attending the class without formally withdrawing), and withdrawals were assigned 0 (Armstrong, 1999; Behrman & Street, 2005). A scatterplot was created to determine if there was a relationship between EdReady English scores and ENGL 111 grades and if that relationship was linear. The regression indicated how much of the variation in the dependent variable, the ENGL 111 course grade, was determined by the independent variable, the score on the EdReady English placement test. The R-squared value was used to determine the amount of variance in the ENGL 111 grade that was explained by the EdReady English placement score. The p value reported by the ANOVA results was used to indicate if the regression model was significant (*p*<.05).

The College Board (2019) noted that the predictive validity of a placement assessment indicates how well it serves its purpose. Therefore, it was necessary to test how well the EdReady English score predicted the grade in ENGL 111. To test Research Question 1b, a linear regression was run to test the relationship between the predictor variable, EdReady English score, and the criterion variable, successful completion of ENGL 111, defined as a C or higher. The p value reported by the ANOVA results was used to indicate if the regression model was significant (p<.05). The R-squared value was used to determine what percentage of variability in the ENGL 111 grade could be explained by the EdReady English score. Effects were measured using Cohen's (1988) criteria whereby 10% is a small effect, 30% is medium, and 50% is a large effect.

Research Question 2 (RQ2): How do grades in the first credit-bearing English course, ENGL 111, vary for different student subgroups (age, race, and gender) placed using the EdReady English assessment?

H2₀: There are no differences in the medians of students' ENGL 111 grades by age.

H2: There are differences in the medians of students' ENGL 111 grades by age.

To examine age, the first subgroup for RQ2, a Kruskal-Wallis H test was run because normal assumptions were not met. First, all the students in the study who were placed into the first creditbearing English course, ENGL 111, using the EdReady English test were selected. The independent variable was age, and the dependent variable was the grade in ENGL 111. Age was entered as a categorical variable, using age categories 14-19, 20-24, 25-31, and 32 and up. Grades were converted to numbers, where A was assigned 4, B was assigned 3, C was assigned 2, D was assigned 1, and F, FW, and withdrawals were assigned 0 (Armstrong, 1999; Behrman & Street, 2005). A Kruskal-Wallis H test was used to determine if there were statistically significant differences in the medians of the groups, which was determined by a *p*-value less than .05. A post hoc test was used to determine where statistically significant differences among the groups existed.

> H3₀: There are no differences in the medians of students' ENGL 111 grades by race. H3: There are differences in the medians of students' ENGL 111 grades by race.

Previous studies have identified differences in student outcomes on placement tests by race (Atkinson & Geiser, 2009; Geiser et al., 2007; Klasik & Strayhorn, 2018; Nettles, 2019), finding that placement tests tend to underpredict the abilities of minority students. To examine differences by race, the second subgroup of RQ2, a Kruskal-Wallis H test was run because normal assumptions were not met. First, students in the study who were placed into the first credit-bearing English course, ENGL 111, using the EdReady English test were selected. The independent variable was race, and the dependent variable was the grade in ENGL 111. The categorical variables, as determined by the demographics of the LMCCS, were Black or African American, White, two or more races, Hispanic or Latino, and Asian. Grades were converted to numbers, where A was assigned 4, B was assigned 3, C was assigned 2, D was assigned 1, and F, FW, and withdrawals were assigned 0 (Armstrong, 1999; Behrman & Street, 2005). A Kruskal-Wallis H test was used to determine if there were statistically significant differences (*p*<.05) among the medians of the racial groups.

H4₀: There are no differences in the medians of students' ENGL 111 grades by gender.

H4: There are differences in the medians of students' ENGL 111 grades by gender.

An independent t-test was used to examine the third subgroup identified in RQ2, gender. The LMCCS collects data on only two genders, male and female, so only these two groups were analyzed in the study. The independent variable was gender, and the dependent variable was the grade in ENGL 111, which was converted to numbers such that A was assigned 4, B was assigned 3, C was assigned 2, D was assigned 1, and F, FW, and withdrawals were assigned 0. An independent t-test was run to determine if there was a statistically significant difference (*p*<.05) in the means of the two groups. Although normally distributed data is not a required assumption for a t-test (Ruth, 2011), a Mann Whitney-U test was also run to verify the results of the t-test since the data was not normally distributed.

Research Question 3 (RQ3): How do the ENGL 111 grades of students placed into their first creditbearing English course by EdReady English compare to the ENGL 111 grades of students placed by other criteria (Accuplacer, ACT, co-requisite, high school GPA, previous coursework or previous degree, PSAT, remedial coursework, or SAT)?

H5₀: There are no differences in the medians of students' ENGL 111 grades by placement criteria.

H5: There are differences in the medians of students' ENGL 111 grades by placement criteria.

An NROC case study of Jacksonville State University found that students who tested into their first credit-level math course using EdReady Math had higher pass rates than students who were placed using the COMPASS or SAT/ACT scores (The NROC Network, 2019). To test RQ3, a Kruskal-Wallis H test was run because normal assumptions were not met. The placement method was used as the independent variable and the grade in ENGL 111 was the dependent variable. Grades were converted to numbers, where A was assigned 4, B was assigned 3, C was assigned 2, D was assigned 1, and F, FW, and withdrawals were assigned 0 (Armstrong, 1999; Behrman & Street, 2005). Statistical significance was set at p<.05, and a post hoc test was run to determine the location of differences among the medians of the placement groups.

Significance of the Study

Because many students must take the EdReady English placement test before enrolling in the first credit-bearing English course, which is required for all majors and is a prerequisite for many courses at the LMCCS, this assessment serves as a gateway to college enrollment. Therefore, it is essential that this metric accurately identifies students who will be successful in their first credit-bearing English course. The placement metric being used to assign students to the first credit-bearing English course must be not only accurate, but consistently accurate across different student subgroups. This study will further the understanding of how EdReady operates at a community college and how accurately it places students into their first credit-bearing English course. This will generate data that may help college leaders determine whether EdReady English is an accurate tool for placement, which could improve placement at this campus and others in the LMCCS. The examination of the EdReady English scores that predict success in ENGL 111 may also help the LMCCS and other colleges determine appropriate cut scores for this assessment. The analysis of the grade outcomes of students placed by EdReady English compared to those placed by other methods may allow policymakers and advisors to gauge the effectiveness of EdReady or prioritize it alongside other methods. Finally, the exploration of how accurately EdReady placed students of various subgroups into their first credit-bearing English class may help college leaders and advisors determine whether EdReady English is an appropriate measure for their student populations.

Delimitations

Because accuracy rates are often higher for math placement tests than English tests (Belfield & Crosta, 2012; Hughes et al., 2010, James, 2006; Mattern et al., 2009; Scott-Clayton, 2012; Scott-Clayton et al., 2014), only the EdReady English placement test was selected for the study. Although dual-credit students take the EdReady English placement test at the LMCCS, they were not included in this study because these students complete their credit-bearing English course in high school, not at the local campus of the LMCCS. Because the LMCCS has several campuses in locations around the state, one campus was selected for analysis to avoid conflating the results of different campuses, specifically because the geographic locations and student demographics vary by campus.

Limitations

The LMCCS started using EdReady English as a placement tool in March 2020 and began collecting data on student scores and outcomes in Fall 2020. Therefore, time was a limitation for this study since long-term outcomes for students are unknown. This study analyzed the placement accuracy of the EdReady English placement test at one campus of the LMCCS; therefore, it reflected the specific demographics and context of the campus. Additionally, because EdReady provides a Study Path, students may retest on some topics or units multiple times. Because it was not possible to differentiate between a student who reached the target score on the first attempt and a student who spent several days working to raise the score, all students who reached the target score (70) were included in one group, those who reached the cut score set by the institution.

Assumptions

It is assumed that students who tested into the first credit-bearing English course using the EdReady English placement tool did so because they did not or could not demonstrate college readiness using alternative metrics, such as Accuplacer, ACT, co-requisite, HSGPA, previous coursework or previous degree, PSAT, remedial coursework, or SAT.
Chapter 4: Findings

Introduction

The purpose of this causal comparative quantitative study was to analyze the accuracy of the EdReady English placement tool utilized at one campus of a Large Midwestern Community College. This study examined students' scores on the EdReady English test and their grades in the first credit-bearing English course, ENGL 111. The ENGL 111 grades of students placed by the EdReady English tool were compared across student subgroups to determine if there were differences in the grade outcomes of the test by age, race, or gender. Finally, ENGL 111 grades of students placed by EdReady English were compared to the ENGL 111 grades of students placed by other methods to determine if students placed by EdReady English had similar success rates in ENGL 111 as students placed by other placement methods.

Descriptive Statistics

The data for this study was collected from August 2020 until March 2022. The sample contained 938 unduplicated students with an average age of 24.18. The youngest student in the study was 14, and the oldest student was 59. The average age in the sample is representative of the population at the selected campus of the LMCCS. In Fall 2021, the most recent year for which statistics were available, 67.3% of students at the campus were younger than 30, and the largest group was between 25-29 years old, making up 18.4% of the total campus population. Table 2 shows the mean age of all students in the study by placement method. Students who placed into ENGL 111 by PSAT were the youngest in the study (*m*=18.07), followed by SAT (*m*=18.62) and ACT (*m*=18.83). The oldest students in the study were placed into ENGL 111 using a previous degree (*m*=32.16) or previous coursework (*m*=26.13).

Table 2

Mean Age of Students Who Took ENGL 111 by Placement Method (Fall 2020-Spring 2022)

Placement Methods	Mean Age
Accuplacer	23.29
ACT	18.83
Co-requisite	22.00
EdReady English	24.18
HSGPA	18.94
Previous Coursework	26.13
Previous Degree	32.16
PSAT	18.07
Remedial Coursework	25.1
SAT	18.62

The racial composition of the study, represented in Table 3, was also similar to the general campus population. The most commonly reported race was White (n=753), and the second most commonly reported race was Black or African American (n=94). White students comprise 79.43% of the students in the sample, and Black or African American students make up 9.91% of the sample. This sample mirrors the campus population, which had a population that was 73.6% White in Fall 2021. There are slightly more White students in the sample than in the general campus population. There are also more Black students in the study than in the general campus population, which had 7.6% of students who identified as Black or African American in Fall 2021. The number of students who reported belonging to two or more races was higher in the sample, 5.7%, than in the general population of the campus, which had only 3.7% of students who identified as two or more races in Fall 2021. There were fewer students in the sample listed as unknown or not reported, 1.7%, than in the campus demographics, which were 12.3%. The smallest groups represented in the sample were American Indian or Alaska Native (n=2) and Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific (n=2). These two racial categories, along

with Asian and Hispanic/Latino were identical or nearly identical to the campus population in Fall 2021,

which was less than 1%.

Table 3

Racial Categories of All Students Who Were Placed into ENGL 111 (Fall 2020-Spring 2022)

Race/Ethnicity	Number of Students	Percentage
White	753	79%
Black or African American	94	10%
Two or More Races	54	6%
Unknown/Not Reported	16	2%
Hispanic/Latino	15	2%
Asian	12	1%
American Indian or Alaska Native	2	<1%
Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander	2	<1%
Total	948	100%

At the time of data collection, the LMCCS only provided two categories for gender: male or female. 66.24% of students in the sample identified as female (*n*=628), and 33% identified as male (*n*=313). 7 students in the sample, 1%, did not report a specific gender. The sample had a higher percentage of students who identified as female than the general campus population, which was 47.6% female, 49.8% male, and 2.6% not reported in Fall 2021. Therefore, the sample is not representative of the campus demographics in terms of gender. The campus population is more evenly distributed than the statewide population of the LMCCS, which was 55.8% female, 42.8% male, and 1.5% not reported in Fall 2021.

There were 10 different methods used to place students in the study into ENGL 111. Table 4 indicates the number of students placed by each method. The EdReady English test was the most common placement method (n=500), followed by high school GPA (n=201). The next most common placement method was previous coursework (n= 81). This delineation indicates that a student has demonstrated reading and writing competency by completing college-level coursework at another

institution without earning a degree. The least common placement methods were the co-requisite model (n= 10), in which students are placed concurrently into a remedial English course designed to support their progress in ENGL 111, and remedial coursework (n=10), which indicates a student completed one or more remedial courses with a C or higher.

Table 4

Placement method	Number of Students	Percentage
EdReady English	500	53%
HSGPA	201	21%
Previous Coursework	79	8%
SAT	66	7%
PSAT	27	3%
Accuplacer	24	3%
Previous Degree	19	2%
ACT	12	1%
Co-Requisite Course	10	1%
Remedial Course	10	1%
Total	948	100%

All Student Placement Methods for ENGL 111 (Fall 2020-Spring 2022)

The ENGL 111 grades of all students in the study are shown in Table 5. 62.23% of students in the study (*n*=590) earned a C or higher in ENGL 111. The least common grade was a D (*n*=31), and 34.5% of students (*n*=327) did not earn a credit in the class because of an F, FW, or withdrawal. An FW indicates a student stopped attending class but did not drop, and a W indicates a student withdrew from the class after the 100% refund period where drops are not recorded on a student's official transcript. The grades in the sample are lower than the statewide pass rates for ENGL 111 at the LMCCS. In 2020 and 2021, 78% of students at the LMCCS passed ENGL 111 with a C or higher.

Table 5

ENGL 111 Grade	Number of Students	Percentage
A	292	31%
В	186	20%
С	112	12%
D	31	3%
F	67	7%
FW	168	18%
W	92	10%
Total	948	100%

Grade Distributions for All Students Enrolled in ENGL 111 Fall 2020-Spring 2022

The number of students who were placed into ENGL 111 using EdReady English comprised over half (n=500) of the sample. The demographics of these students, which are visible in Table 6, differed from those of students who were placed using other methods. However, the average age of students who placed into ENGL 111 using EdReady English was identical to that of the larger sample, m=24.18. **Table 6**

Demographics of Students Who Were Placed into ENGL 111 Using EdReady English (2020-2022)

Demographic	Category	Number of Students	Percentage
Race	White	392	78%
	Black or African American	61	12%
	Two or More Races	23	5%
	Hispanic/Latino	8	2%
	Unknown/Not Reported	7	1%
	Asian	6	1%
	American Indian or Alaska Native	2	<1%
	Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander	1	<1%
	Total	500	100%
Gender	Female	331	66%
	Male	165	33%
	Blank or Not Reported	4	1%
	Total	500	100%

To understand the unique demographics of students placed by EdReady English, it is important

to compare them to those placed by all other methods. This data is represented in Table 7. The group of

students who were placed using all other methods except EdReady English is slightly younger (*m*=21.10) than the group of students placed by EdReady English (*m*=24.18). The gender composition of students who placed into ENGL 111 by all other methods is identical to the group of students who placed using EdReady English. The group of students who placed using all other methods had a higher percentage of White students, 81%, than the group of students who placed using EdReady English, which was 78% White. The student population that placed into ENGL 111 through EdReady English was 12% Black or African American, but the group who placed using all other methods was only 7% Black or African American. The group comprising all placement methods except EdReady English had a slightly higher percentage of students who identified as two or more races, 7%, than the EdReady English group, which had only 5%. Both placement groups had nearly identical percentages of all other racial groups except American Indian/Alaska Native. There were no students of this racial group represented in the population that comprised all placement methods except EdReady English. However, the EdReady placement group contained two students who identified as American Indian or Alaska Native.

Table 7

Demographic	Category	Number of Students	Percentage
Race	White	361	81%
	Black of African American	33	7%
	Two or More Races	31	7%
	Unknown/Not Reported	9	2%
	Hispanic/Latino	7	2%
	Asian	6	1%
	Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander	1	<1%
	American Indian or Alaska Native	0	0%
	Total	448	100%
Gender	Female	297	66%
	Male	148	33%
	Blank or Not Reported	3	1%
	Total	448	100%

Students Who Placed into ENGL 111 (2020-2022) through All Methods Except EdReady English

Not only was the demographic data of students placed by other methods different from the group of students placed by EdReady English, but there were also differences in the grades students earned in ENGL 111, which are represented in Table 8. Students who were placed by all other methods had a higher percentage of As (34%) and Bs (21)% than the group of students placed by EdReady English, which had 28% of students who earned As and 18% who earned Bs. 14% of the students placed by all other methods earned Cs compared to the EdReady English group, where only 10% of students earned Cs. Together, all other placement methods had a 69% success rate, as defined by a C or higher in the class. Students in the EdReady English group, by contrast, had a 56% success rate. Although the percentage of students earning a D or F in ENGL 111 was similar in both groups, a fewer number of students who were placed by all other methods earned an FW. In the group of students placed by EdReady English, 22% of students earned an FW. The withdrawal rate in the EdReady English group was higher, 12%, than the rate of those placed by all other methods, which was only 8%.

Table 8

Grade Distribution of Students Placed into ENGL 111 by EdReady English Vs Students Placed into ENGL 111 By All Other Methods (2020-2022)

Grade	EdReady	Percentage	All Other Placement	Percentage
	English		Methods	
А	140	28%	152	34%
В	92	18%	94	21%
С	49	10%	63	14%
D	14	3%	17	4%
F	39	8%	28	6%
FW	108	22%	60	13%
W	58	12%	34	8%
Total	500	100	448	100%

For a closer analysis of student placement data, Figures 1-4 compare ENGL 111 grade distribution of students placed by various methods. Groups of comparable size are depicted side by side to demonstrate how placement groups with similar numbers of students fared in ENGL 111. Figure 1 depicts placement groups with 12 or fewer students: ACT (n=12), co-requisite (n=10), and remedial coursework (n=10). In this smaller group, students placed by the ACT had the highest number of As in ENGL 111, but students from all three groups had similar failure rates.

Figure 1





In Figure 2, groups with between 19-27 students were compared, which included students placed by Accuplacer or Accuplacer NextGEN (n=24), previous degree (n=19), or PSAT (n=27). Among this group, students placed by previous degree had the highest number of As in ENGL 111 (n=12). Students placed by previous degree had no Ds or withdrawals, and the lowest numbers of Fs (n=1) and FWs (n=1) in the comparison group.

Figure 2:

Grade Distribution for Students Placed into ENGL 111 by Accuplacer, Previous Degree, and PSAT



The second largest groups were students placed by the SAT (n=66) and previous coursework (n=79). This comparison is depicted in Figure 3, which shows that students placed into ENGL 111 by previous coursework had more successful completions, defined as a C or higher, than students who placed using SAT scores. The group of students placed by the SAT had more students who earned an F or FW than those placed by previous coursework, but students placed by previous coursework had more course withdrawals (n=7) compared to those who placed using the SAT (n=1).

Figure 3

Grade Distribution for Students Placed into ENGL 111 by SAT and Previous Coursework



The largest groups in the study were placed into ENGL 111 by HSGPA (*n*=201) and EdReady English (*n*=500). Figure 4 reveals that students placed by EdReady English had greater numbers of students successfully completing ENGL 111 with a C or higher. Since the EdReady English group is much larger than the group placed by HSGPA, the number of students earning each grade is not as revealing for these two groups as in the previous three comparisons. Therefore, the percentage of students earning each grade is depicted in Table 9.

Figure 4

Grade Distribution for Students Placed into ENGL 111 by High School GPA and EdReady English



Table 9 illuminates the percentage of students earning every grade in each group. This allows comparison among groups of varying sizes. The group with the highest percentage of As among all placement groups was placed by previous degree; 63% of these students earned an A in ENGL 111. Students who placed using previous coursework or the SAT had the second-highest grades, but they were significantly lower than those placed by previous degree. 38% of students placed by previous coursework or ACT earned an A. The percentage of students earning a B in ENGL 111 was fairly consistent across placement groups with somewhere between 15- 22% of students earning a B. Students who placed by ACT and PSAT had a slightly higher percentage of Bs, which were 25% and 26%, respectively. Students placed by co-requisite had the highest percentage of students earning a B, 40%, but it is important to note that this percentage represents only two students.

Table 9

Placement Method	Grades						
	A	В	С	D	F	FW	W
Accuplacer or Accuplacer Next Gen	25%	17%	12%	8%	4%	17%	17%
ACT	33%	25%	8%	8%	0%	17%	8%
Co-Requisite	0%	20%	20%	10%	20%	20%	10%
EdReady English	28%	18%	10%	3%	8%	22%	12%
High School GPA	34%	22%	15%	5%	7%	10%	7%
Previous Coursework	38%	22%	16%	3%	13%	9%	9%
Previous Degree	63%	16%	11%	0%	5%	5%	0%
PSAT	15%	26%	19%	4%	11%	11%	15%
Remedial Courses	30%	40%	0%	0%	10%	10%	10%
SAT	38%	15%	9%	3%	6%	27%	2%

Grade Distribution for Students Placed into ENGL 111 by All Methods (2020-2022)

A deeper exploration of success rates can be found in Table 10, which breaks down the percentage of students in each group earning a C or higher. Students who were placed using a previous degree had the highest success rate, 89.47%, followed by students who were placed using previous coursework, who had a success rate of 75.95%. The group with the lowest success rate was placed into ENGL 111 by the co-requisite model. Only 40% of these students passed ENG 111 with a C or higher. Students who were placed into ENGL 111 by Accuplacer had the second lowest success rate; only 54.17% of students from this group earned a C or higher.

All groups had low percentages of students earning a D in ENGL 111. Students placed using the co-requisite model had the highest percentage of Ds, 10.0%, followed by students placed by the Accuplacer and ACT, both with just 8.33% of their students earning Ds. No students placed by a remedial course or previous degree earned a D in ENGL 111 during the time in which data was collected, and only 2.53% of students placed by previous coursework earned a D.

The placement group with the highest percentage of failures was the co-requisite model, with 50.0% of students in this group earning a failing grade. Students who were placed by EdReady English had the second-highest failure rate; 41.0% of students using this method did not pass ENGL 111. Conversely, students placed by previous degree had the lowest percentage of failure, 10.53%. The next lowest failure rates were students who were placed using previous coursework; only 21.52% of these students failed ENGL 111. Students who were placed using HSGPA had a similar failure rate; just 23.88% of students from this group failed ENGL 111.

Table 10

Percentage of Successful Completions (C or Higher), Ds, and Failures (F, FW, or W) for all ENGL 111

Placement Method	Successful Completions	Ds	Failures	Total
Accuplacer	54.17%	8.33%	37.5%	100%
ACT	66.67%	8.33%	25.0%	100%
Co-requisite	40.00%	10.0%	50.0%	100%
EdReady English	56.2%	2.8%	41.0%	100%
HSGPA	71.14%	4.98%	23.88%	100%
Previous Coursework	75.95%	2.53%	21.52%	100%
Previous Degree	89.47%	0.0%	10.53%	100%
PSAT	59.26%	3.7%	37.04%	100%
Remedial Coursework	70.00%	0.0%	30.00%	100%
SAT	62.12%	3.03%	34.85%	100%

Placement Methods (2020-2022)

Withdrawals are included in the failure rates for Table 10, but it is useful to consider these rates separately since students who withdrew did not complete the class. This data can be found in Table 11, which shows the percentage of students who withdrew from ENGL 111 by each placement method. The statewide withdrawal rate for ENGL 111 in Fall 2021 was 4.37%, so all but two placement categories, SAT and previous degree, were above the statewide benchmark for withdrawals. Students who were placed into ENGL 111 using Accuplacer had the highest withdrawal rate, 16.67%. The second-highest group was students placed by the PSAT; 14.81% of these students withdrew from ENGL 111. Students placed by previous degree had no withdrawals. Students placed by the SAT had the lowest withdrawal rates, 1.51%. The next lowest group was students placed by HSGPA; just 6.97% of these students withdrew from ENGL 111.

Table 11

Placement Methods	Ws
Accuplacer	16.67%
ACT	8.33%
Co-requisite	10.00%
EdReady English	11.60%
HSGPA	6.97%
Previous Coursework	8.86%
Previous Degree	0.00%
PSAT	14.81%
Remedial Coursework	10.00%
SAT	1.51%

ENGL 111 Withdrawal Rates for all Placement Methods (2020-2022)

Findings

The current study explored three research questions.

Research Question 1: How accurately does the EdReady English test place students into their first credit-

bearing English course, ENGL 111?

Research Question 1a (RQ1a): What is the relationship between students' scores on the EdReady English placement test and their grades in the first credit-bearing English course, ENGL 111?

H1₀: There is no statistically significant relationship between the predictor variable, the EdReady English score, and the grade in ENGL 111.

H1: There is a statistically significant relationship between the predictor variable,

the EdReady English score, and the grade in ENGL 111.

There were 500 EdReady English scores in the sample (M=72.25, SD=5.89). The majority of the scores earned by students who were placed by EdReady English were 70 (n=275) or 71 (n=114). The cumulative percentage of both scores is 77.8%, indicating that these two scores accounted for most of the scores in the data set. Since a score of 70 is required for students to take ENGL 111, there are no scores in the sample below the cut score. EdReady English score frequencies are depicted in Table 12.

Table 12

EdReady Score	Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
70	275	55.0	55.0	55.0
71	114	22.8	22.8	77.8
72	36	7.2	7.2	85.0
73	19	3.8	3.8	88.8
74	8	1.6	1.6	90.4
75	2	.4	.4	90.8
76	3	.6	.6	91.4
77	5	1.0	1.0	92.4
78	3	.6	.6	93.0
79	1	.2	.2	93.2
80	1	.2	.2	93.4
81	1	.2	.2	93.6
82	4	.8	.8	94.4
83	1	.2	.2	94.6
84	1	.2	.2	94.8

Frequency of EdReady English Scores among Students Placed into ENGL 111 (2020-2022)

EdReady Score	Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
85	4	.8	.8	95.6
89	1	.2	.2	95.8
90	3	.6	.6	96.4
93	1	.2	.2	96.6
94	2	.4	.4	97.0
96	1	.2	.2	97.2
100	14	2.8	2.8	100.0
Total	500	100.0	100.0	

To test if a linear relationship existed between the EdReady English score and the ENGL 111 grade, a scatterplot was created. Visual inspection of the scatterplot did not reveal a linear relationship between the EdReady English score and the ENGL 111 grade. Figure 5 depicts the relationship of EdReady English scores and students' grades in ENGL 111, where 0=F, FW, or W, 1=D, 2=C, 1=B, and 4=A.

A visual inspection of the plot of standardized residuals versus standardized predicted values revealed there was homoscedasticity. Visual inspection of Normal Q-Q Plots showed ENGL 111 grades were not normally distributed. To examine the relationship between the EdReady English scores and the grades in ENGL 111, a linear regression was run. The results of the regression revealed that the EdReady English score and the ENGL 111 grade did not have a statistically significant relationship, *F* (1, 498) = 1.41, *p*= .236. The EdReady English score explained .3% of the variability in the ENGL 111 grade with an adjusted R² of .1%. Because there was no relationship between the EdReady score and the ENGL 111 grade, the null hypothesis was retained.

Figure 5



Relationship between ENGL 111 Grades and EdReady English Scores (2020-2022)

Research Question 1b (RQ1b): What scores on the EdReady English placement test predict success (C or higher) in the first credit-bearing English course, ENGL 111?

Table 13 shows the frequency of grades in the data set. A grade of C or higher is considered a successful completion of ENGL 111. 43.8% of grades in the EdReady English sample were below a C, which is the grade required for students to fulfill the minimum requirements for most academic programs at the LMCCS. A C is also required for students to transfer the course credit to most four-year colleges in the midwestern state.

Table 13

ENGL 111 Grade	Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
F, FW, W	205	41.0	41.0	41.0
D	14	2.8	2.8	43.8
С	49	9.8	9.8	53.6
В	92	18.4	18.4	72.0
Α	140	28.0	28.0	100.0
Total	500	100.0	100.0	

Frequency of ENGL 111 Grades among Students Placed by EdReady English (2020-2022)

To test the relationship between the predictor variable, the EdReady English score, and the criterion variable, successful completion of ENGL 111, defined as a C or higher, a linear regression was run. A visual inspection of the plot of standardized residuals versus standardized predicted values revealed there was homoscedasticity. The regression showed there was not a linear relationship between the EdReady English score and a grade of C or higher in ENGL 111 *F* (1, 293) = 1.073, *p*= .301. The linear regression revealed the EdReady English score explained .4% of the variability in the ENGL 111 grade of a C or higher with an adjusted R² of .02%.

Because 77.8% of students in the sample earned a score of 70 or 71 on EdReady English, it is plausible that some students stopped working on EdReady after earning the required cut score, 70. Therefore, a linear regression was run on all EdReady English scores 72 and up to determine if higher scores were more closely related to a successful grade in ENGL 111, defined as a C or higher. Figure 6 depicts the EdReady English scores 72-100 and the distribution of ENGL 111 grades C or higher.

Figure 6





A visual inspection of the residuals showed normality and homoscedasticity. A linear regression revealed there was not a statistically significant relationship between EdReady English scores from 72-100 and grades of C or higher in ENGL 111 *F* (1, 65) = .244, *p*= .623. An EdReady English score of 72 or higher explained .4% of the variability in an ENGL 111 grade C or higher with an adjusted R² of -1.2%. Scores of 72-100 on the EdReady English placement test were not predictive of success (C or higher) in ENGL 111. Because a linear relationship was not found between the EdReady English score and a passing grade, defined as a C or higher in ENGL 111, RQ1b can be answered as follows: no EdReady English scores were found to be predictive of a C or higher in ENGL 111.

Research Question 2 (RQ2): How do grades in the first credit-bearing English course, ENGL 111, vary for different student subgroups (age, race, and gender) placed using the EdReady English assessment?

RQ2 Age: How do grades in the first credit-bearing English course, ENGL 111, vary by age for students placed using the EdReady English assessment?

H2₀: There are no differences in the medians of students' ENGL 111 grades by age.

H2: There are differences in the medians of students' ENGL 111 grades by age.

The frequency of all ages in the EdReady English sample is shown in Appendix A. The average age of students placed into ENGL 111 by EdReady English was 24.18 (*N*=500). 50.4% of students in the sample were 24 or younger, and the oldest student in the sample was 59. The unique age categories used to test RQ2 are represented in Table 14, which shows the median grades by age category for those placed into ENGL 111 by EdReady English. The average age of students in the EdReady English sample, (*m*=24.18), is younger than the general population at the campus of the LMCCS. At the campus of LMCCS 67.3% of students are under 30 and the largest group is 25-29, making up 18.4% of the population. In the EdReady English sample, 68.2% of students were under 30, and the largest group was 18- and 19-year-old students, who made up 23.8% of the sample. The most commonly reported age was 18, representing 13.4% of the students in the EdReady English group.

Table 14

Age Categories and	l Median Grad	les for Studer	nts Placed into) ENGL 111	by EdReady	English ((2020-2022)

Age Group	Ν	Median Grade in ENG 111
14 to 19	134	1.00 (D)
20 to 24	118	2.00 (C)
25 to 31	124	2.00 (C)
32 and up	124	3.00 (B)
Total	500	2.00 (C)

41% (*n*=205) of students in the EdReady English sample did not pass ENGL 111, so the data was skewed. Because the data was not normally distributed as determined by a visual inspection of Normal Q-Q Plots, a Kruskal-Wallis H test was run to determine if there were differences in ENGL 111 grades

among the four age groups: 14-19 (*n*=134), 20-24 (*n*=118), 25-31 (*n*=124), 32 and up (*n*=124). Distributions of ENGL 111 grades were similar for all groups, as assessed by visual inspection of a boxplot. Median ENGL 111 grades were statistically significantly different between groups, $\chi^2(3) =$ 13.542, *p* = .004. Using Dunn's (1964) procedure with a Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons, pairwise comparisons were performed. Adjusted *p*-values are presented. A post hoc analysis revealed statistically significant differences in median ENGL 111 grades between students ages 14-19 (*mdn*=1) and students ages 32 and older (*mdn*=3) (*p* <.001), but not between students who are 20-24 (*mdn*=2) or 25-31 (*mdn*=2) or any other group combination. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected for the age. subgroup.

RQ2 Race: How do grades in the first credit-bearing English course, ENGL 111, vary by race for students placed using the EdReady English assessment?

H3₀: There are no differences in the medians of students' ENGL 111 grades by race.

H3: There are differences in the medians of students' ENGL 111 grades by race.

White students made up most of the EdReady English sample (n=392), and African American students were the second largest group (n=61). Table 15 depicts all the racial categories tested for RQ2. Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander (n=1) and American Indian and Alaska Native (n=1) were not included because of their small sample size. Eight students did not disclose a specific race.

Table 15

Racial Category	Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Black or African American	61	12.4	12.4	12.4
White	392	80.0	80.0	92.4
Two or More Races	23	4.7	4.7	97.1
Hispanic or Latino	8	1.6	1.6	98.8
Asian	6	1.2	1.2	100.0
Total	490	100.0	100.0	

Frequency of Racial Categories for Students Placed into ENGL 111 by EdReady English 2020-2022

The median grades of students in each racial category were compared, and white students and students belonging to two or more races had the highest median grades, 2.50 and 2.00, respectively. These medians represent a C in ENGL 111. Black or African American students and Asian students had a median grade of D (1.00). All median grades by racial category can be viewed in Table 16.

Table 16

Racial Categories and Median Grades for Students Placed into ENGL 111 by EdReady English (2020-2022)

Racial Category	Ν	Median Grade in ENG 111
Black or African American	61	1.00 (D)
White	392	2.50 (C)
Two or More Races	23	2.00 (C)
Hispanic or Latino	8	.00 (F)
Asian	6	1.00 (D)
Total	490	2.00

A visual inspection of Normal Q-Q Plots revealed the data was not normally distributed. A Kruskal-Wallis H test was conducted to determine if there were differences in ENGL 111 grades among racial groups: Black or African American (*n*=61), White (*n*=392), two or more races (*n*=23), Hispanic or Latino (*n*=8), or Asian (*6*). Distributions of ENGL 111 grades were similar for all groups, as assessed by visual inspection of a boxplot. ENGL 111 grades ranged from Hispanic or Latino (*mdn* =0.00), Black or African American (*mdn*=1.0), Asian (*mdn*= 1.0) to two more races (*mdn*= 2.0) and White (*mdn*=2.50). However, the differences were not statistically significant $\chi^2(4) = 7.581$, *p* = .108. The null hypothesis was therefore retained for the racial subgroup.

RQ2 Gender: How do grades in the first credit-bearing English course, ENGL 111, vary by gender for students placed using the EdReady English assessment?

H2₀: There are no differences in the medians of students' ENGL 111 grades by gender.

H2: There are differences in the medians of students' ENGL 111 grades by gender.

The majority of students placed by EdReady English identified as female (*n*=331), as depicted in Table 17. Four students did not report a specific gender. Although there were more female students in the study, students who identified as male had a slightly higher mean grade, 1.93, compared to female students, 1.88. Both means represent a grade close to a C (2.00).

Table 17

Gender Categories and Mean Grades for Students Placed into ENGL 111 by EdReady English (2020-2022)

Gender Group	Ν	Mean
Female	331	1.88
Male	165	1.93
Total	496	2.00

Data was not normally distributed, as determined by a visual inspection of Normal Q-Q Plots. However, normally distributed data is not a required assumption for a t-test (Ruth, 2011). The results of a t-test showed males (n=165) had slightly higher mean grades in ENGL 111 (m=1.93, sd=1.73) than females (m=1.88, sd=1.72). There was homogeneity of variances, as assessed by Levene's test for equality of variances (p = .778). The results of the t-test indicated there was not a statistically significant difference in the means of the ENGL 111 grades for males and females, M = -0.05, 95% CI [-0.38, 0.27], t(494) = -0.33, p = .778. Because the data was not normally distributed, medians were also calculated, as depicted in Table 18.

Table 18

Gender Categories and Median Grades for Students Placed into ENGL 111 by EdReady English

Gender Group	Ν	Median
Female	331	2.00 (C)
Male	165	2.00 (C)
Total	496	2.00

Although the t-test did not reveal statistically significant results, a Mann-Whitney U test was also run since the data was not normally distributed as determined by a visual inspection of Normal Q-Q Plots. Distributions of the ENGL 111 grades for males and females were similar, as assessed by visual inspection. A Mann-Whitney U test showed median ENGL 111 grade differences were not statistically significant between males (mdn=2.0) and females (mdn=2.0), U=26,791.00, z=-.362, p =.718. Therefore, the null hypothesis was retained for the gender subgroup.

Research Question 3: How do the ENGL 111 grades of students placed into their first credit-bearing English course by EdReady English compare to the ENGL 111 grades of students placed by other criteria (EdReady English, previous coursework, Accuplacer, previous degree, remedial course, HSGPA, corequisite, SAT, PSAT, pr ACT)?

H5₀: There are no differences in the medians of students' ENGL 111 grades by placement criteria.

H5: There are differences in the medians of students' ENGL 111 grades by placement criteria.

Median grades for all placement methods varied widely, with students placed by previous degree having the highest median 4.0 (A) to students who were placed by the co-requisite model having the lowest median .50 (F). Table 19 outlines all ENGL 111 median grades by placement method. The average median grade for the entire data set was 3.00 (B).

Table 19

ENGL 111 Median Grades for all Placement Methods (2020-2022)

Placement Groups	Ν	Median
Accuplacer	24	2.00 (C)
ACT	12	3.00 (B)
Co-requisite	10	.50 (F)
EdReady English	500	2.00 (C)
HSGPA	201	3.00 (B)
Previous Coursework	79	3.00 (B)
Previous Degree	19	4.00 (A)
PSAT	27	2.00 (C)
Remedial Course	10	3.00 (B)
SAT	66	3.00 (B)
Total	948	3.00

ENGL 111 grades were not normally distributed for all placement groups, as assessed by visual inspection of Normal Q-Q Plots. A Kruskal-Wallis H test was run to determine if there were differences in ENGL 111 grades among the placement groups: Accuplacer (*n*=24), ACT (*n*=12), Co-requisite (*n*=10), EdReady English (*n*=500), HSGPA (n=201), Previous coursework (*n*=79), Previous degree (*n*=19), PSAT (*n*=27), Remedial coursework (*n*=10), and SAT (*n*=66). The distributions of ENGL 111 grades were not similar for all groups, which was determined by visual inspection of a boxplot. A Kruskal-Wallis H test determined the ENGL 111 grade distributions were statistically significant between groups, $\chi^2(9) = 30.463$, *p*<.001. A post hoc analysis revealed statistically significant differences in ENGL 111 grades between the group of students placed by the co-requisite model (*mean rank=311.90*) and those placed by previous degree (*mean rank=656.71*) (*p* = .035) and between the group placed by EdReady English (mean rank=445.85) and those placed by previous degree (*mean rank=656.71*) (*p* = .027), but not among any other group combinations. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected.

Students who have already obtained a previous college degree may have different academic proficiencies than students who are just beginning college, as is the case for most students taking EdReady English and the co-requisite model. Therefore, it may not be appropriate to compare the group of students with college degrees and the remaining groups who have not earned a degree. Table 20 shows how removing the group of students who were placed by previous degree altered the total median for the sample from 3.00 to 2.00.

Table 20

Placement Groups	N	Median
Accuplacer	24	2.00 (C)
ACT	12	3.00 (B)
Co-Requisite	10	.50 (F)
EdReady English	500	2.00 (C)
HSGPA	201	3.00 (B)
Previous Coursework	79	3.00 (B)
PSAT	27	2.00 (C)
Remedial Course	10	3.00 (B)
SAT	66	3.00 (B)
Total	929	2.00

ENGL 111 Median Grades for all Placement Methods, Excluding Previous Degree (2020-2022)

ENGL 111 grades were not normally distributed for all placement groups, as assessed by visual inspection of Normal Q-Q Plots. A Kruskal-Wallis H test was run to determine if there were differences in ENGL 111 grades among the placement groups, excluding students placed by previous degree: ACT (n=12), Accuplacer (n=24), Co-requisite (n=10), EdReady English (n=500), HSGPA (n=201), Previous coursework (n=790), PSAT (n=27), Remedial course (n=10), and SAT (n=66). The distributions of ENGL 111 grades were not similar for all groups, which was determined by visual inspection of a boxplot. A Kruskal-Wallis H test determined the distributions were significantly different between groups, $\chi^2(8) = 21.256$, p=.006. However, there were no statistically significant pairwise comparisons. All adjusted p-

values were above .05, but the difference between the grades of students placed by EdReady English (mean rank=440.44) and those placed by HSGPA (mean rank=508.60) was nearly statistically significant, p=.055.

Because students who are placed into ENGL 111 through the co-requisite model take ENGL 111 simultaneously with their remedial English course, it could be argued that this group is not comparable to the other placement groups, where students are taking ENGL 111 without additional class support. Although the sample size for the co-requisite group was small (*n*=10), the median was significantly lower than all other groups (*mdn*=.05). Median grades of students placed by all methods excluding previous degree and co-requisite model are represented in Table 20. It appears the co-requisite group differs from the other placement groups not only because students placed by co-requisite are taking English remediation at the same time as ENGL 111, but also because their median grades were pointedly lower than all other groups. Therefore, another Kruskal-Wallis H test was run to determine if removal of the co-requisite placement group had an impact on the distributions.

Table 21

ENGL 111 Median Grades	for all Placement Methods,	Excluding Previous De	gree and Co-requisite
	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,		

Placement Groups	N	Median
Accuplacer	24	2.00
ACT	12	3.00
EdReady English	500	2.00
HSGPA	201	3.00
Previous Coursework	79	3.00
PSAT	27	2.00
Remedial Course	10	3.00
SAT	66	3.00
Total	919	3.00

A Kruskal-Wallis H test determined there were differences among all placement groups excluding the co-requisite group: Accuplacer (n=24), ACT (n=12), EdReady English (n=500), HSGPA (n=201), Previous coursework (n=790), PSAT (n=27), Remedial coursework (n=10), and SAT (n=66). The distributions of ENGL 111 grades were similar for all groups, as determined by visual inspection of a boxplot. Median ENGL 111 grade differences were statistically significant between the various placement groups, $\chi^2(7) = 17.480$, p=.015. Pairwise comparisons were performed using Dunn's (1964) procedure with a Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons. Adjusted p-values are presented. A post hoc analysis revealed statistically significant differences in ENGL 111 grades between the group of students placed by EdReady English (mdn=2.00) and those placed by HSGPA (mdn=3.00) (p=.044), but not among any other group combinations. When the outlier placement group, those placed by EdReady English and those placed by HSGPA became more pronounced. All three tests run for RQ3 showed statistically significant differences in students placed by EdReady English and those placed by HSGPA became more pronounced. All three tests placed by all placement methods, all methods excluding previous degree, and all placement methods excluding previous degree and co-requisite. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected.

Summary

The purpose of this causal comparative quantitative study was to analyze the accuracy of the EdReady English placement tool utilized at one campus of a LMCCS. The study explored students' scores on the EdReady English test and their grades in the first credit-bearing English class, ENGL 111. First, a linear regression was run to determine the relationship between students' scores in EdReady and their grades in ENGL 111. The results of the regression revealed that the EdReady English scores and the ENGL 111 grades did not have a linear relationship, *F* (1, 498) = 1.41, *p*=.236. The EdReady English score explained .3% of the variability in the ENGL 111 grade with an adjusted R^2 of .1%. Additionally, the

regression showed there was not a linear relationship between the EdReady English score and a grade of C or higher in ENGL 111 F (1, 293) = 1.073, p=.301. The linear regression revealed the EdReady English score explained just .4% of the variability in the ENGL 111 grade of a C or higher with an adjusted R² of .02%.

Next, EdReady English scores and ENGL 111 grades were examined by student subgroups (age, race, and gender). A Kruskal-Wallis H test was run to determine if there were differences in ENGL 111 grades among student age categories. Median ENGL 111 grades were statistically significant between groups, $\chi^2(3) = 13.542$, p = .004. A post hoc analysis revealed statistically significant differences in median ENGL 111 grades between students ages 14-19 (*mdn*=1) and students ages 32 and older (*mdn*=3) (p < .001), but not between students who are 20-24 (*mdn*=2) or 25-31 (*mdn*=2) or any other group combination. A Kruskal-Wallis H test was conducted to determine if there were differences in ENGL 111 grades among racial groups, and the differences were not statistically significant $\chi^2(4) = 7.581$, p = .108. Lastly, a Mann-Whitney U test was run to determine if there were differences in ENG 111 grades between males and females who were placed by EdReady English. Median ENGL 111 grades were not statistically significantly different between males (*mdn*=2.0) and females (*mdn*=2.0), U = 26,791.00, z=.362, p =.718.

Finally, a Kruskal-Wallis H test was run to determine if there were differences among all placement groups excluding students placed by previous degree and co-requisite. Median ENGL 111 grades were statistically significantly different between the various placement groups, $\chi^2(7) = 17.480$, p=.015. A post hoc analysis revealed statistically significant differences in ENGL 111 grades between the group of students placed by EdReady English (mdn = 2.00) and those placed by high school GPA (mdn=3.00) (p=.044), but not among any other group combinations. Table 22 contains a summary of findings, and Chapter 5 will explore conclusions, implications, and suggestions for future research.

Table 22

Summary of Chapter 4 Findings

Barrant Quartian	the second second	Obertistical Assolution	D lb
Research Question	Hypotnesis	Statistical Analysis	Results
Research Question 1a (RQ1a): What is the relationship between students' scores on the EdReady English placement test and their grades in the first credit-bearing English course, ENGL 111?	H10: There is no statistically significant relationship between the predictor variable, the EdReady English score, and the grade in ENGL 111. H1: There is a statistically significant relationship between the predictor variable, the EdReady English score, and the grade in	Linear Regression	Retain null hypothesis p=.236
	ENGL 111.		
Research Question 1b (RQ1b): What scores on the EdReady English placement test predict success (C or higher) in the first credit-bearing English course, ENGL 111?	None	Linear Regression	There is not a linear relationship between EdReady English scores and ENGL 111 grades, p=.301
RQ 2: How do grades in the first credit- bearing English course, ENGL 111, vary by age for students placed using the EdReady English assessment?	H2o: There are no differences in the medians of students' ENGL 111 grades by age. H2: There are differences in the medians of students' ENGL 111 grades by age.	Kruskal-Wallis H	Reject the null hypothesis, p=.004
RQ2: How do grades in the first credit- bearing English course, ENGL 111, vary by race for students placed using the EdReady English assessment?	H3 ₀ : There are no differences in the medians of students' ENGL 111 grades by race. H3: There are differences in the medians of students' ENGL 111 grades by race.	Kruskal-Wallis H	Retain the null hypothesis, p =.108
RQ2: How do grades in the first credit- bearing English course, ENGL 111, vary by gender for students placed using the EdReady English assessment?	H4 ₀ : There are no differences in the medians of students' ENGL 111 grades by gender. H4: There are differences in the medians of students' ENGL 111 grades by gender.	Mann-Whitney U	Retain the null hypothesis, p =.7180
Research Question 3 (RQ3): How do the ENGL 111 grades of students placed into their first credit-bearing English course by EdReady English compare to the ENGL 111 grades of students placed by other criteria?	H5 ₀ : There are no differences in the medians of students' ENGL 111 grades by placement criteria. H5: There are differences in the medians of students' ENGL 111 grades by placement criteria.	Kruskal-Wallis H	Reject the null hypothesis, p =.015

Chapter 5: Conclusions

Introduction

The purpose of this study was to analyze the accuracy of a new placement tool, EdReady English, which was recently adopted by a Large Midwestern Community College System (LMCCS). The study examined students' EdReady English scores and their grades in the first-year English composition course at one campus of the LMCCS. Students' grade outcomes were explored by student subgroups, including age, race, and gender. Finally, the grades of students who enrolled in the first-year composition course were compared by placement method. Chapter 1 outlined the need for the study by describing the critical role placement tests play in students' educational timelines and the lack of available research on the EdReady English placement tool. Chapter 2 provided context by exploring the history of open access policies in community colleges, the use and implications of various placement methods, and the need for accuracy and equity in the placement process. The study design, participants, and data collection were discussed in Chapter 3, and Chapter 4 outlined the demographic information and the results of data analysis. In Chapter 5, the research findings will be discussed along with implications for policy and recommendations for future research.

Summary of Findings

EdReady English is a new placement test being utilized at one campus of a LMCCS; however, there is no extant research on the accuracy of this assessment. This placement test serves a critical role because many students must take the EdReady English placement test before enrolling in credit-bearing courses at the LMCCS. It is thereby essential that this assessment can accurately and equitably identify students who will be successful in their first credit-bearing English course. This study explored the following research questions. **Research Question 1 (RQ1):** How accurately does the EdReady English test place students into their first credit-bearing English course, ENGL 111?

- a. What is the relationship between students' scores on the EdReady English placement test and their grades in the first credit-bearing English course, ENGL 111?
- b. What scores on the EdReady English placement test predict success (C or higher) in the first credit-bearing English course, ENGL 111?

To explore RQ1a, a linear regression was run to determine the relationship between students' scores in EdReady and their grades in ENGL 111. The results revealed that the EdReady English scores and the ENGL 111 grades did not have a linear relationship. The EdReady English score explained only .3% of the variability in the ENGL 111 grade. For RQ1b, a linear regression showed there was not a linear relationship between the EdReady English score and a grade of C or higher in ENGL 111. The EdReady English score explained just .4% of the variability in the ENGL 111 grade.

The findings of this study suggest there is a weak relationship between a student's EdReady English score and their performance in the first-year English composition course. Previous studies have shown that English placement tests are less accurate than math placement tests at predicting first-year course success (Hughes et al., 2010; James, 2006; Scott-Clayton, 2012; Scott-Clayton et al., 2014). Therefore, it is possible EdReady English suffers from similar accuracy challenges. For example, Accuplacer was found to be more accurate at predicting the success of students in their first-year math course than in the first-year English class (Belfield & Crosta, 2012; Mattern et al., 2009; Scott-Clayton et al., 2014). Studies of EdReady Math revealed that students who tested into their first-year math course had higher grades than students who tested in using other placement methods (The NROC Network, 2019; Thornton et al., 2019), but these studies did not examine the specific relationship between the EdReady score and the student's grade in the math class. It is therefore unknown if the EdReady English test is less accurate than the EdReady Math test. However, the lack of a relationship between the EdReady English score and a student's grade in ENGL 111 is consistent with other studies that show a weak relationship between English placement scores and students' grades in the first credit-bearing English course (Elliot et al., 2012; James, 2006; Medhanie et al., 2012; Scott-Clayton et al., 2014).

The lack of a linear relationship between the EdReady English score and a student's grade in ENGL 111 suggests the EdReady English score does not necessarily indicate a students' readiness for the course. A scatterplot depicted in Figure 5 illustrates no particular pattern in the English grades of students placed by EdReady English. For example, some students who scored 100, a perfect score on the EdReady English assessment, did not pass ENGL 111. In fact, 41% of students who were placed into ENGL 111 by EdReady English failed the course. This was the second-highest failure rate of any other placement method in the study. The high failure rates in ENGL 111 could indicate that the EdReady English score is not predictive of a student's competency in the skills necessary to succeed in the class. However, students who placed into ENGL 111 through Accuplacer had a 37.5% failure rate, and those who placed using PSAT had a similar rate of 37.04%. This suggests that although students placed by EdReady English had high failure rates, these rates were consistent with some other placement methods.

Failure rates are only one measure of placement test accuracy, so it is important to consider the success rates of students who used EdReady English. Previous studies have shown that placement tests are more accurate at predicting which students will be successful in a class, for example, earning a B or higher, than those who will fail (Belfield & Crosta, 2012; Mattern et al., 2009; Scott-Clayton, 2012). The relationship between the EdReady English score and a successful completion of ENGL 111, defined as a C or higher, was examined in RQ1b. Once again, there was no linear relationship found between the EdReady English score is

significantly predictive of a successful completion of the course. Comparing the EdReady English score to the final ENGL 111 grade is the most common method for assessing the predictive accuracy of a placement test (Bowen et al., 2009; College Board, 2019; James, 2006; Medhanie et al., 2012). This is because a placement test is only as valuable as its correlation to students' performance in the course it is designed to predict (Armstrong, 1999). Therefore, as previous students have shown regarding other placement tests (Elliot et al., 2012; James, 2006; Medhanie et al., 2012; Scott-Clayton et al., 2014), EdReady English is not predictive of a student's grade in ENGL 111, nor is it predictive of a successful completion, defined as a C or higher in ENGL 111, at this campus of the LMCCS.

The weak predictive power of EdReady English could be impacted by other confounding factors. For example, ENGL 111 has high failure rates at this campus and across the LMCCS. Statewide, 23% of students earned a D or below in ENGL 111, an average across 19 campuses of the LMCCS in 2020 and 2021. At this campus of the LMCCS, 31.13% of students earned a D or below. This suggests that the course is challenging, not only for students in the LMCCS, but for students at this campus in particular. Another confounding factor could be that the content of the EdReady English test is not a close match to the course content of ENGL 111. This study did not examine content validity, but several studies have shown that placement test accuracy can vary by college and even by campus, underscoring the need to validate tests in different contexts (Coleman & Smith, 2020; Ganga & Mazzariello, 2019; Horn et al., 2009; Melguizo et al., 2014). If the content of the EdReady English diagnostic tool is not a close match to that of the ENGL 111 course taught at this campus of the LMCCS, accuracy rates could be adversely affected.

Research Question 2 (RQ2): How do grades in the first credit-bearing English course (ENGL 111) vary for different student subgroups (age, race, and gender) placed using the EdReady English assessment?

A Kruskal-Wallis H test was run to determine if there were differences in ENGL 111 grades among student age categories. Median ENGL 111 grades were found to be statistically significant between groups. A post hoc analysis revealed statistically significant differences in median ENGL 111 grades between students ages 14-19 and students ages 32 and older, but not between any other group combination. A Kruskal-Wallis H test was conducted to determine if there were differences in ENGL 111 grades among racial groups, but the differences were not statistically significant. For the final subgroup, gender, a Mann-Whitney U test determined median grades were not significantly different between males and females.

The largest age group in the EdReady English placement group was 14-19, and 252 students, which comprised over half the sample, were ages 24 or below. This reveals that most students who placed into ENGL 111 using EdReady English were relatively young, and 27% (*n*=134) were still teenagers when they took the placement test. Interestingly, there was not a statistically significant difference in the ENGL 111 grades of students by age except for two categories, ages 14-19 and ages 32 and up. These two groups had statistically significant differences in median ENGL 111 grades, such that students ages 14-19 had a median grade of D, and students ages 32 and up had a median grade of B. Therefore, the youngest students who used EdReady English to test into ENGL 111 had worse grade outcomes than students 32 and older. This may suggest EdReady English is a more accurate predictor of the success of students 32 and up in ENGL 111. It may also reveal that students ages 32 and up have higher levels of college readiness than students ages 14-19 and are therefore more successful in ENGL 111 once they are placed into the course by EdReady English. Since the study found no significant differences in ENGL 111 grades among any other age groups, it appears students older than 20 all have similar grade outcomes when placed by EdReady English. Previous studies have uncovered heterogeneity in the placement process (Daugherty, 2021; Strayhorn, 2014), highlighting that student subgroups may have different

grade outcomes even when placed by the same method. However, these studies focus on race and gender, not age. This study demonstrates differences in grade outcomes for the EdReady English placement method do exist between students ages 14-19 and those ages 32 and up, but not for any other age group categories.

The second subgroup explored by RQ2 was race. The most significant difference in the racial composition of students placed by EdReady English compared to those placed by all other methods was a higher percentage of students who identified as Black or African American. 12% of students who placed into ENGL 111 using EdReady English identified as Black or African American, while just 7% of students who placed by other methods identified this way. This may point to an important role for EdReady English in providing greater access to the first-year English course for Black or African American students. Previous students have determined that providing multiple placement methods for demonstrating college readiness benefits Black or African American students by opening more pathways to enter college-level courses (Barnett et al., 2020; Koretz et al., 2016). Studies have found that racial bias in placement tests like the ACT and SAT harms minority students' chances of testing into collegelevel courses (Atkinson & Geiser, 2009; Bowen et al., 2009; Geiser et al., 2007; Nettles, 2019), and the SAT and ACT scores of African American students are still lower nationally than those of Asian, White, and Hispanic students (McNeish et al., 2015; Smith & Reeves, 2020). It is plausible that Black or African American students may be using EdReady English as a successful alternate pathway to demonstrate college readiness instead of submitting their ACT or SAT scores. It is also possible that the pandemic hindered the access of African American students to ACT/SAT testing centers. Pandemic lockdowns closed testing centers across the country during 2020, drastically reducing the number of students who took these placement tests (Backstrom and Shultz; 2022; Marcus, 2021). Therefore, it is also possible

98
that fewer African American students took proctored placement tests like the SAT or ACT and had to rely on the EdReady English test as an alternate placement method.

Although the group of students placed by EdReady English had a greater percentage of African American students than those placed by other methods, the median grades of all racial groups in the study were not significantly different from one another. The study found no statistically significant differences in the median ENGL 111 grades of EdReady English students by racial category. Previous studies have identified differences in the outcomes of placement tests by race (Atkinson & Geiser, 2009; Geiser et al., 2007; Klasik & Strayhorn, 2018; Nettles, 2019; Ngo & Kwon, 2014; Ngo et al., 2020; Zwick & Sklar, 2005). These differences were also present in the current study, which showed Hispanic students had the lowest ENGL 111 median grade, F, Asian and Black or African American students had a median grade of D, and White and multi-racial students had a median grade of C. However, these differences were not statistically significant. Absence of difference does not necessarily mean absence of bias in the EdReady English test, but it appears students placed by EdReady English have equitable grade outcomes in ENGL 111.

Gender was the final subgroup explored in RQ2. Previous studies found gender differences in placement test outcomes (Ngo et al., 2020; Strayhorn 2014), but this study found no statistically significant differences in the median ENGL 111 grades of EdReady English students by gender. The sample was predominately female (*n*=331) in comparison to male (*n*=165), but the median grades of both groups were C. Although the ENGL 111 mean grades for male students (1.93) were higher than the mean grades for female students (1.88), these differences were not statistically significant. This does not necessarily indicate there is no gender bias in the EdReady English test, but the study found that the ENGL 111 grades were similar for students placed by this method. Students placed by EdReady English

have similar grade outcomes by gender, so it appears to be an equitable placement method for this subgroup.

Research Question 3 (RQ3): How do the ENGL 111 grades of students placed into their first creditbearing English course by EdReady English compare to the ENGL 111 grades of students placed by other criteria (EdReady English, previous coursework, Accuplacer, previous degree, remedial course, HSGPA, co-requisite, SAT, PSAT, pr ACT)?

A Kruskal-Wallis H test determined median ENGL 111 grades were significantly different between the various placement groups. The initial analysis of all placement methods showed significant differences in the median ENGL 111 grades of students placed by previous degree and those placed by the co-requisite model. Additionally, statistically significant differences in the median ENGL 111 grades were found between students placed by previous degree and those placed by EdReady English. However, these comparisons may not be appropriate because students who have already earned a college degree likely have different levels of academic preparation than students who test into ENGL 111 using the co-requisite model. These students need remediation in reading and/or writing and are taking a concurrent remedial class to support their progress in ENGL 111. Likewise, students who use EdReady English to test into ENGL 111 do not have any other measures to show college readiness; therefore, they likely have different levels of preparation than students who have already earned a degree. Because students placed by previous degree and the co-requisite model had medians that were outliers in the data set, and because the characteristics of both placement groups differed so significantly from the other placement methods, another Kruskal-Wallis H test was run using all placement methods except previous degree and co-requisite model. The results showed statistically significant differences among groups. A post hoc analysis revealed statistically significant differences in

ENGL 111 grades between the group of students placed by EdReady English and those placed by HSGPA, but not among any other group combinations.

A significant finding is the distribution of placement methods among students in the sample. Over half, 53%, of all students in the study placed into ENGL 111 using EdReady English. This may reflect the challenges students faced during the COVID-19 pandemic lockdowns when ACT, Accuplacer, PSAT, and SAT testing centers were closed (Backstrom & Shultz, 2022; Marcus, 2021). Since EdReady English is not proctored, it may have been the only testing method available to students. Nationally, fewer colleges are requiring the SAT and ACT for admission, so the high number of students using EdReady English may also reflect the popularity of test-optional or test-flexible policies (Backstrom & Shultz, 2022). Nevertheless, the large proportion of students placing into ENGL 111 using EdReady English highlights the influence of this new method and underscores the need to validate its accuracy and equity. The high percentage of students using this method to place into ENGL 111 may also signal students' preference for the EdReady English tool over other methods. Again, convenience may play a role in students' decision making because high school transcripts are not easy for all students to acquire (Burdman et al., 2015; Markle & Robbins, 2013; Woods et al., 2018).

Despite the challenges some students may face obtaining transcripts, HSGPA was the secondlargest placement method, representing 21% of the students in the study. This could also be an effect of the COVID-19 pandemic testing center closures or a reflection of students' preference for using multiple measures to demonstrate their proficiencies. For example, when given a choice of placement options, students may choose to submit their high school transcripts if they feel their ACT or SAT scores are not ideal (Belasco et al., 2015). This is a positive trend given that HSGPA tends to be a more accurate predictor of college readiness than the ACT or SAT (Allensworth & Clark, 2020; Atkinson & Geiser, 2009; Belfield & Crosta, 2012; Bowen et al., 2009; Geiser et al., 2007; Koretz et al., 2016; Scott-Clayton, 2012; Zwick & Sklar; 2005). In this study, only 11% of students used the ACT, PSAT, or SAT to place into ENGL 111. EdReady English and HSGPA were the most common placement methods, representing 74% of students who took ENGL 111. This may suggest students prefer these placement methods or find them more accessible or convenient. This finding coincides with recent studies showing the number of students using SAT and ACT scores for college admission and/or placement testing is on the decline following the 2020 pandemic lockdowns (Backstrom & Shultz, 2022; Hoover, 2021; Marcus, 2021).

Students placed by different methods had varying levels of success in ENGL 111. Not surprisingly, students who had already earned a degree had the highest success rate, 89.47%, defined as a C or higher in ENGL 111, than any other group. This suggests that students who place using a previous degree have an appropriate level of academic preparation and/or sufficient persistence and motivation to complete the course. Students who had completed some amount of college coursework, similarly, had high levels of success in ENGL 111; 75.95% of students in this placement group earned a C or higher in ENGL 111. This is not surprising since students who have already learned to successfully navigate one or more college courses likely have the skills to do so again. The highest success rate among students who did not place by previous degree or previous coursework was HSGPA. 71.14% of students who placed into ENGL 111 using this method earned a C or higher. This finding coincides with previous studies that found HSGPA was the best predictor of college readiness (Allensworth & Clark, 2020; Atkinson & Geiser, 2009; Belfield & Crosta, 2012; Bowen et al., 2009; Geiser et al., 2007; Koretz et al., 2016; Scott-Clayton, 2012; Zwick & Sklar; 2005). This could be because HSGPA is collected over time and is a more accurate reflection of students' effort and motivation (Belfield et al., 2012) or because HSGPA is the result of multiple teachers assigning grades across many years (Allensworth & Clark, 2020). Regardless of the reason, this study supports the finding that students who are placed using HSGPA have higher success rates in the first-year English course than students who used placement tests.

When considering placement validity, it is also necessary to examine course failure rates since a failure may suggest a lack of academic preparation for the course (Scott-Clayton et al., 2014). Students who were placed into ENGL 111 by previous degree or previous coursework had the lowest failure rates, 10.53% and 21.52%, respectively. This again suggests that students who have already earned a degree or have completed some college coursework are academically prepared for ENGL 111. However, students who placed using HSGPA had similar failure rates as those who placed using previous coursework; only 23.88% of students placed using this method failed ENGL 111. This supports previous studies that found HSGPA is a strong predictor of college readiness (Allensworth & Clark, 2020; Atkinson & Geiser, 2009; Belfield & Crosta, 2012; Bowen et al., 2009; Geiser et al., 2007; Koretz et al., 2016; Scott-Clayton, 2012; Zwick & Sklar; 2005), but it also provides evidence that students placed using HSGPA have similar failure rates in ENGL 111 as those placed using previous coursework. This legitimizes the use of HSGPA as a placement method given that this study found success and failure rates for students placed by HSGPA were similar to those placed using previous college coursework. The success and failure rates suggest both groups have comparable levels of preparation for ENGL 111.

It is also useful to consider which methods had high failure rates and low success rates since this may suggest students placed by such methods were not well prepared for ENGL 111. This study found students placed by the co-requisite model had the lowest success rate; just 40% of students placed using this method earned a C or higher in ENGL 111. Students placed by Accuplacer, EdReady English, and PSAT all had similar rates of success. This suggests that students placed by these three methods demonstrated similar levels of academic preparedness and may face comparable challenges in ENGL 111. 54.17% of students placed by Accuplacer earned a C or higher in ENGL 111 compared to 56.2% of students placed by EdReady English. Students placed by PSAT had only a slightly higher success rate; just 59.26% of these students earned C higher in ENGL 111. These rates are much lower than other methods such as HSGPA, which had a 71.14% success rate in ENGL 111. These lower success rates suggest students who are placed by co-requisite, Accuplacer, EdReady English, and PSAT may not have sufficient levels of academic preparedness to be successful in ENGL 111 or may need additional support to be successful in the course. These same placement methods also have high failure rates, defined as earning an F, FW, or W in the course. 50% of students placed by the co-requisite model failed ENGL 111, and 41% of students placed by EdReady English did the same. Both the Accuplacer and PSAT group had similar ENGL 111 failure rates at 37.5% and 37.04%, respectively. Again, the high failure rates suggest students placed by these methods may need additional academic support to be successful in ENGL 111. It also indicates that students placed by the co-requisite model, EdReady English, Accuplacer, and PSAT may have similar levels of academic preparedness. However, the sample of students placed by the co-requisite model contained only 10 students, so the conclusions about this placement model should be made cautiously.

Another useful component to consider when analyzing placement accuracy is course withdrawal rates. It is important to note that students may withdraw from a class for a variety of reasons, such as not liking the instructor or personal challenges (Wheland et al., 2012). However, one of the reasons students may withdraw is difficulty with the course content or lack of academic preparation (Scott-Clayton et al., 2014; Wheland et al., 2012). A course with high withdrawal rates may signal strong academic rigor, or it may reveal that students who are placed into the course do not have sufficient academic preparation. None of the students placed by previous degree withdrew from ENGL 111. SAT, likewise, had a low withdrawal rate of 1.51%. Students placed by both previous degree and the SAT had the lowest withdrawal rates in the study, which suggests either that students placed by such methods are appropriately prepared for the course content or that students placed by these methods are not sufficiently aware of withdrawal procedures. This seems unlikely for students placed by previous degree

since they have already navigated the college environment; however, students who were placed by the SAT may face this challenge. Students placed by Accuplacer had a very high withdrawal rate in ENGL 111, 16.67%, and students placed by the PSAT were close behind with a 14.81% withdrawal rate. Students placed by EdReady English had the third highest withdrawal rate, 11.60%. This is lower than the first two, but still much higher than the other placement methods such as HSGPA, which was only 6.97%. These high withdrawal rates may suggest that students placed by Accuplacer, PSAT, and EdReady English may not be sufficiently prepared academically for ENGL 111. This finding is aligned with previous research that shows English placement tests like Accuplacer are not a strong predictor of success in firstyear English courses (Belfield & Crosta, 2012; Elliot et al., 2012; James, 2006; Medhanie, 2012; Ngo & Melguizo, 2016).

Since students may withdraw from a course for several reasons, high withdrawal rates alone are not necessarily indicative of a lack of academic preparedness. However, when combined with low success rates and high failure rates, withdrawal rates can create a broader picture of academic preparedness or lack thereof. The placement methods with a combination of high failure rates, low success rates (defined as a C or higher), and high withdrawal rates were Accuplacer, EdReady English, and PSAT. This combination of factors suggests that students placed by these methods may not have sufficient academic preparation to be successful in ENGL 111. The similar patterns of low success, high failure, and high withdrawal rates also suggest students placed by these three methods have comparable levels of academic preparation. It seems appropriate that students placed by EdReady English and Accuplacer would demonstrate similar levels of academic preparedness since both tests were given to students who did not have another placement metric to provide. Additionally, the LMCCS replaced Accuplacer with EdReady English, so it makes sense that similarly prepared students, who might have once taken the Accuplacer, are now required to take EdReady English. Students take the PSAT their sophomore or junior year of high school (Princeton Review, 2022), which may be before they experience critical academic preparation in their senior year. Therefore, it is a logical conclusion that students who were placed into ENGL 111 by Accuplacer, EdReady English, and PSAT had similar levels of academic preparedness, which might have been lower than students in other placement groups.

EdReady English

The focus of this study was the placement accuracy of EdReady English and the ENGL 111 grade outcomes of students placed by this assessment compared to all other placement methods. Overall, students who were placed into ENGL 111 by EdReady English had grade outcomes comparable to all other placement methods. A Kruskal-Wallis H test showed no statistically significant differences in the median grades of students placed by EdReady English compared to all other methods except HSGPA. The average grade in ENGL 111 for all students in the study was a C, and students placed by EdReady English also had a median grade of C. This suggests that students who are placed by EdReady English perform comparably to students of other placement methods. Students placed by the co-requisite model had lower median grades than students placed by EdReady English, and students who took Accuplacer and the PSAT had the same median grades as students who took EdReady English. Since EdReady students fared no better or worse than students placed by Accuplacer or PSAT, it is likely that EdReady English is as accurate a measure of readiness as these two methods. It could also be a signal that students who take Accuplacer, PSAT, and EdReady English have similar levels of academic preparedness.

Although EdReady English students did as well or better than students placed by the corequisite, PSAT, or Accuplacer, they did not do as well as students placed by previous degree or coursework, HSGPA, remedial coursework, SAT, or ACT. Students who were placed into ENGL 111 by previous coursework, remedial coursework, HSGPA, SAT, and ACT performed slightly better in ENGL 111 than students placed by EdReady English. These placement methods had a median grade of B. Students who placed into ENGL 111 using a previous degree had a median grade of A. It is not necessarily appropriate to compare students who take EdReady English with students who have already earned a degree since students taking EdReady English are often first-time students at the LMCCS. Additionally, only 10 students in the study were placed by remedial courses, so it would be appropriate to be cautious in making comparisons to the 500 students in the EdReady English group. Therefore, a takeaway from this study is that students placed by EdReady English performed the same in the first credit-bearing English class as students placed by co-requisite, PSAT, or Accuplacer, but they did not perform as well as those placed by previous coursework, HSGPA, SAT, or ACT. However, these differences were not found to be statistically significant, except for the group placed by HSGPA. This suggests that EdReady English is an appropriate placement method since students in the study performed students placed by EdReady English in ENGL 111, it may be that students who take EdReady English have lower levels of academic preparedness than students who were placed by previous coursework, HSGPA, SAT, or ACT.

Until spring 2020, the LMCCS used Accuplacer as its primary placement method for students who could not provide other placement data like HSGPA, ACT, PSAT, or SAT scores. Therefore, it is important to compare the outcomes of students placed by EdReady English to those of students placed by Accuplacer to determine if EdReady English has similar accuracy rates as the previous placement test used at the LMCCS. Both placement groups had a median ENGL 111 grade of C. Students who placed using Accuplacer had a success rate of 54.17%, defined as a C or higher in ENGL 111; by contrast, students placed by EdReady English had an ENGL 111 success rate of 56.2%. Additionally, students placed by EdReady English had a lower withdrawal rate, 11.60%, than students placed by Accuplacer, who had a 16.67% withdrawal rate. The higher success rate and lower withdrawal rate of EdReady English compared to Accuplacer suggests it may be a more accurate placement method. However, students placed by EdReady English had a higher failure rate, 41%, than students placed by Accuplacer, 37.5%. These nuances may explain why the regression analysis calculated no statistically significant differences in the grades of these two groups. While students placed by EdReady English performed better in ENGL 111 on most metrics, they fell behind Accuplacer in failure rates. This suggests EdReady English students performed slightly better in ENGL 111 if one only considers success rates, but the difference is not statistically significant. EdReady English students performed slightly worse than students placed by Accuplacer if one only considers failure rates, but the difference is also not statistically significant. Therefore, it can be concluded that the switch from Accuplacer to EdReady English at this campus of the LMCCS did not result in reduced placement accuracy given that students performed comparably well in ENGL 111 when placed by both methods.

An important finding of this study is the statistically significant difference in the ENGL 111 grades of students placed by EdReady English and those placed by HSGPA. This reinforces previous studies which found that HSGPA is a more accurate predictor of student success than most placement tests (Belfield & Crosta, 2012; Elliot et al., 2012; James 2006; Medhanie, 2012; Ngo & Melguizo, 2016). Students placed by HSGPA had a 71.4% success rate in ENGL 111 compared to students placed by EdReady English, which had a success rate of 56.2%. Students who placed into ENGL 111 using HSGPA had a significantly lower failure rate, which was defined as an F, FW, or W, than students who took EdReady English. 41% of students who placed by EdReady English failed the class, but only 23.88% of students who placed by HSGPA failed the course. Students who earned an F only were very similar for both groups; 8% of students in the EdReady group earned an F compared to 7% of students in the HSGPA group. However, students who placed into ENGL 111 using EdReady English had a much higher FW rate, 22%, compared to those who placed by high school GPA, 10%. Finally, students who got into

ENGL 111 using HSGPA had only a 6.97% withdrawal rate compared to students who entered ENGL 111 through EdReady English, which had almost double the withdrawal rate, 11.60%.

These results suggest HSGPA is a more accurate predictor of students' success in ENGL 111 than EdReady English. There are several reasons why this may be the case. For example, students' HSGPA reflects their academic competency in several subjects across many years (Allensworth & Clark, 2020). HSGPA may also reflect affective student issues like motivation and effort (Belfield & Crosta, 2012; Bowen et al., 2009). EdReady English, while it allows students the opportunity to raise their score in the Study Path, may function more like a single-score placement test for some students. This is because 85% of EdReady scores in the study were 70, 71, or 72. If students take the EdReady diagnostic test and earn a passing score the first time, the test may essentially function as a single-score method like the ACT or SAT. This could be one reason why students who are placed into ENGL 111 by EdReady English do not perform as well in ENGL 111 as those placed by HSGPA. Previous studies have noted the limitations of using single-score methods to measure students' academic proficiencies (Brathwaite & Edgecombe, 2018; Saxon & Morante, 2014). This is one potential explanation for the differences in ENGL 111 outcomes between students placed by EdReady English and HSGPA. Another possible explanation is that students placed by HSGPA have higher levels of academic preparation than students placed by EdReady English. At the LMCCS, students can place directly into ENGL 111 with a HSGPA of 2.6 or higher. It is therefore likely that students who had lower GPAs and did not have passing scores on the ACT or SAT used EdReady English as their placement method. This would support the assertion that students who placed into ENGL 111 using EdReady English had lower levels of academic preparation than students who used their HSGPA.

The purpose of this study was to examine how the newly adopted EdReady English tool functions as a placement test at one campus of a LMCCS, how the students placed by this metric performed in ENGL 111 by subgroup, and how students who used this assessment performed in ENGL 111 in comparison to other placement methods. This study found no relationship between a student's EdReady English score and their grade in ENGL 111. Students with higher EdReady scores did not have corresponding higher grades in ENGL 111, and no EdReady English score was predictive of a particular grade in ENGL 111. This suggests the predictive validity of EdReady English is low, but this is not surprising given that previous studies have found that English placement tests typically have a poor ability to predict students' success in the first credit-bearing English course (Elliot et al., 2012; James, 2006; Medhanie et al., 2012; Scott-Clayton et al., 2014). The study found that students who were placed into ENGL 111 by EdReady English had no grade differences by race or gender, but students ages 14-19 performed worse in ENGL 111 than students ages 32 and up. This suggests EdReady English places students equitably across race and gender subgroups because there are no statistically significant ENGL 111 grade outcomes for students in these subgroups. The lower median grades of students in the 14-19 age group suggest either that students in this group may be misplaced into ENGL 111 when they are not prepared for the class or that younger students may have lower levels of academic preparedness than students who are ages 32 and up. Finally, students who were placed by EdReady English had similar or improved grade outcomes than students placed by the co-requisite model, PSAT, or Accuplacer, suggesting that EdReady English places students as well as these methods or that students in these placement groups have similar levels of academic preparation. Students who were placed into ENGL 111 using EdReady English did not perform as well as students placed by previous coursework or degree, ACT, SAT, or HSGPA, but most differences were not statistically significant, suggesting that EdReady English students perform as well as students placed by most other methods except HSGPA. This study found that HSGPA was a more accurate predictor of success in ENGL 111 than EdReady English. The

findings could also indicate that students who were placed using HSGPA had higher levels of academic preparation than students who were placed using EdReady English.

Impact of the Study

This study contributes to the field by providing data on the use of EdReady English, a new placement tool being adopted at colleges like Jackson State University, Nevada State College, and the LMCCS that is the focus of the study. There is no extant research on the accuracy of the EdReady English placement test; all current studies have focused on EdReady Math (Hendrata et al., 2020; Methvin & Markham, 2015; The NROC Network, 2016; The NROC Network, 2019; Thornton et al., 2019). Additionally, previous studies of EdReady Math did not examine the connection between students' scores on EdReady and their performances in the first credit-bearing course. By examining this relationship, the current study fills a gap in the research not only on EdReady English, but also on the strength of the relationship between the EdReady score and a student's grade in the first-year English course. Previous studies on EdReady have considered the success of the placement method by examining the percentage of students who used EdReady to bypass remediation (Hendrata, 2020; Nevada System of Higher Education Office of Academic and Student Affairs, 2019; The NROC Network, 2016; Thornton et al., 2019) or the student passing rates in college-level courses alone (The NROC Network, 2019; Thornton et al., 2019). This study demonstrated that the EdReady English score had a weak relationship to a student's grade in the first credit-bearing English course, which is a finding similar to other studies on English placement tests (Elliot et al., 2012; James, 2006; Medhanie et al., 2012; Scott-Clayton et al., 2014). This study contributes to the field by demonstrating no linear relationship between the EdReady English score and the grade in the first credit-bearing English course, calling into question the predictive value of the metric. The study also found that students who were placed into ENGL 111 using EdReady English did not have statistically significant differences in English grades

compared to students who were placed using other methods. This fills a gap in the research by showing that EdReady English is comparable to all other placement methods except HSGPA in terms of ENGL 111 grade outcomes. The results of this study confirm previous research that HSGPA is a more accurate predictor of student success in a first-year course than standardized placement tests (Allensworth & Clark, 2020; Atkinson & Geiser, 2009; Belfield & Crosta, 2012; Bowen et al., 2009; Geiser et al., 2007; Koretz et al., 2016; Scott-Clayton, 2012; Zwick & Sklar; 2005). Although EdReady English was found to be a less accurate placement method than HSGPA, it was found to be comparable to other placement methods at this campus of the LMCCS.

Additionally, this study contributes to the field by examining the grade outcomes of students placed by EdReady English by student subgroups, analyzing the equitable outputs of the measure. Previous studies looked at the aggregated outcomes of students placed by EdReady Math, showing that students using this method were able to reduce time in remediation and perform well in the first creditbearing course (Hendrata, 2020; Nevada System of Higher Education Office of Academic and Student Affairs, 2019; The NROC Network, 2016; The NROC Network, 2019; Thornton et al., 2019). This study considered not only the grade outcomes of students placed by EdReady English, but also their results by subgroup, including age, race, and gender. Previous studies have found differences in the outcomes of placement tests among racial groups (Kurlaender & Larsen, 2013; Klasik and Strayhorn, 2018). This study found no statistically significant differences in the ENGL 111 grades of students placed by EdReady English by race or gender. Statistically significant differences were found between students ages 14-19 and students ages 32 and up, demonstrating that younger students who are placed into the first creditbearing English course by EdReady English may need additional support to be successful in the class. This finding contributes to the field by showing that students who use EdReady English to place into their first credit-bearing English course have equitable outcomes by race and gender. Previous studies did not explore the grade outcomes of students placed by EdReady by subgroup, but the current study demonstrates that some subgroups, such as race and gender, have equitable grade outcomes when placed by this metric, while other subgroups, such as age, may have heterogeneous results.

Implications for Practice

This study fills a hole in the research on placement testing by providing an analysis of the use of EdReady English as a placement test at one campus of a statewide community college system. The most significant contribution of this study is data about the outcomes of students placed into their first creditbearing English course by EdReady English and the relationship between the EdReady English score and students' grade in their English course. Current research on EdReady focuses on math only, so this study fills a gap in the research by providing policymakers with data about the use of EdReady English as a placement tool. In addition to the LMCCS that was the focus of this study, Nevada State College and Jacksonville State College have also adopted EdReady as a placement tool, according to The NROC Network (Meet students where they are, n.d.). It is possible that other colleges may want to explore using EdReady as an adaptive, low-stakes placement option. As test-optional and test flexible policies become more popular at colleges nationwide (Backstrom & Schultz, 2022; Hoover, 2021; Marcus, 2021), institutions may consider EdReady as an alternative to traditional proctored tests. The results of this study can be used to advise stakeholders who are interested in gathering data on the use and outcomes of EdReady English as a placement test.

This study found that students placed by EdReady English performed comparably well in their first credit-bearing English course as students placed by all other methods except HSGPA. Additionally, there were not statistically significant differences in the ENGL 111 grades of student subgroups placed by EdReady English by either race or gender, suggesting the tool may be an equitable placement for these groups. The similarities in the success and failure rates of EdReady English and Accuplacer suggest

these two methods are at least comparable in their accuracy. However, EdReady English does not require proctoring, and students can raise their score by working through the Study Path. This gives EdReady English an advantage over Accuplacer. Because students placed by EdReady English have equitable grade outcomes by race and gender, and students placed by EdReady English performed as well in their first credit-bearing English course as students placed by other methods, it may be an appropriate alternative to traditional placement tests or an acceptable addition to a multiple measures placement policy.

Although the study did not find statistically significant differences in the ENGL 111 grades of EdReady students by race or gender, there were differences in the grades of students ages 14-19 and students 32 and up. The study found that students in the lowest age group had significantly lower grades in ENGL 111 than students ages 32 and up. This suggests that EdReady English may not be as accurate for students in the youngest age group or that students in this group have lower levels of academic preparation. A potential implication of this finding is that students ages 14-19 who place into the first credit-bearing English course using EdReady English may need additional academic support. These students may need to spend more time honing their skills in the EdReady Study Path, or they may need additional tutoring or coaching to be successful in the class. This information can also be used to help advisors have conversations with their students about class placement. For example, students in the lowest age bracket may be advised to complete all the modules in their Study Path before beginning their first credit-bearing English class. Knowing that students ages 14-19 had lower grades in the first credit-bearing class when they placed using EdReady English may also help stakeholders who are deciding if EdReady English is a good fit for their campus. It is possible that EdReady English may not be the best fit for campuses with a large population of students in this younger age group. This study reinforced the finding that high school GPA is a strong predictor of student success (Allensworth & Clark, 2020; Atkinson & Geiser, 2009; Belfield & Crosta, 2012; Bowen et al., 2009; Geiser et al., 2007; Koretz et al., 2016; Scott-Clayton, 2012; Zwick & Sklar; 2005). Students who were placed by HSGPA into ENGL 111 outperformed students who were placed by EdReady English by every metric, including success rates, failure rates, and withdrawal rates. These results were statistically significant, suggesting that HSGPA is a more accurate predictor of student success than EdReady English. It may also suggest that students placed by EdReady English have lower levels of academic preparedness than students placed by HSGPA This information can help policymakers decide which English placement methods to offer or prioritize. For example, a high school transcript may be a preferred English placement method over EdReady English. Additionally, it may be that students who are placed into their first credit-bearing English class by EdReady need additional academic support, tutoring, or coaching to be successful in the course.

Because students may not have access to their transcripts, placement options like EdReady English may still be a part of many colleges' placement policies. However, this study found no relationship between a student's EdReady English score and their grade in ENGL 111. This finding coincides with previous research that found a weak relationship between English placement test scores and students' grades in the first credit-bearing English course (Elliot et al., 2012; James, 2006; Medhanie et al., 2012; Scott-Clayton et al., 2014). If there is not a strong relationship between students' scores on EdReady English and their grades in ENGL 111, the test may not be necessary. After all, the validity of a placement test is rooted in its ability to predict the performance of the students whose aptitude it measures (American Educational Research Association et al., 2014; Armstrong, 1999; Medhanie et al., 2012). If the EdReady English score does not correlate to students' grades in the first credit-bearing English course, it is not truly predictive of students' academic readiness. However, it may serve as an alternative placement with similar accuracy as other placement methods, excluding HSGPA. Policymakers may want to consider eliminating the placement test requirement altogether. When Florida did this, passing rates in the first credit-bearing English class rose, and the achievement gap among racial groups significantly narrowed (Park et al., 2018). Not only are colleges across the country eliminating placement tests anyway (Backstrom & Schultz, 2022; Hoover, 2021; Marcus, 2021), but it is possible that placing all students directly into college-level English would result in fewer placement errors (Belfield & Crosta, 2012; Scott-Clayton, 2012). If placement tests are a critical part of a college's course placement strategy, EdReady English is comparable to other methods. However, since the relationship between the EdReady English score and the ENGL 111 grade is weak, it may be appropriate to consider allowing students to self-place or to eliminate the placement requirement altogether.

The results of this study suggest students who are placed using certain methods may need additional support in ENGL 111, the first credit-bearing English course. For example, students who placed using EdReady English and the SAT had the highest FW rates, indicating students failed the class because they stopped attending. Students who are placed using these methods may need additional academic support through tutoring or coaching. Advisors may also wish to explain campus withdrawal procedures to students who place into ENGL 111 using these methods. It could be that students placed by EdReady English or SAT are unaware of campus resources or the steps to follow when they start to struggle in a class. Additionally, students who placed into ENGL 111 using Accuplacer or PSAT had the highest withdrawal rates in the study. It may be that students who place using these methods also need additional academic supports like tutoring or coaching to be successful in ENGL 111. One possible implication is that advisors could emphasize available campus resources for students who are placed into ENGL 111 using Accuplacer or PSAT. This study found that 85% of students who placed into ENGL 111 using EdReady English had a score of 70, 71, or 72. This suggests that most students who are using this method to place into ENGL 111 have only mastered 70-72% of the material. Although the grades of students who placed into ENGL 111 using EdReady English were not statistically significant from other placement methods except high school GPA, 41% of students placed by EdReady English failed the course by earning an F, FW, or W. This high failure rate suggests many students who placed into ENGL 111 using EdReady English were not sufficiently prepared academically for the course. One implication for policymakers is to raise the cut score. It could be that a score of 70 does not represent sufficient mastery of the material. Another suggestion is for advisors to encourage students to complete all of the Study Path before enrolling in ENGL 111. Additionally, campuses could provide more coaching and tutoring for students who are taking EdReady English or are working in the Study Path. High ENGL 111 failure rates suggest students who are using EdReady English may need additional academic support in the class.

Limitations

One of the biggest limitations of the study was the COVID-19 pandemic. During March 2020, the LMCCS campuses were closed, and all classes were delivered virtually. It wasn't until Fall 2021 that classes returned to the traditional, face-to-face format. Therefore, it is unknown how the changes to the course modality from face-to face to virtual and back impacted the ENGL 111 grades of students in the study. Additionally, the COVID pandemic brought seismic changes into the lives of students because of health, work, and family changes and loss. It is unclear how the challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic affected students in this study. Because of pandemic shutdowns, many SAT and ACT testing centers were closed (Backstrom & Schultz, 2022; Hoover, 2021; Marcus, 2021), which could have impacted the placement methods of students in the study. For example, students who placed into English 111 using EdReady English may have done so because they were unable to take the SAT or ACT.

Availability of demographic data limited the scope of student subgroups that could be explored in RQ2, which examined the ENGL 111 grades of students who were placed by EdReady English by age, race, and gender. The demographic information examined in this study is required on all students' admissions applications at the LMCCS. However, other useful data, such as students' socioeconomic status, the highest level of parents' education, high school attended, and number of AP or honors courses taken in high school, could also shed light on potential differences in ENGL 111 grade outcomes. This data is not collected by the LMCCS, and financial information is typically collected only for Pell Grant recipients who receive federal financial aid. Pell Grant recipients were not specifically examined in this study because socioeconomic information is unknown for all other groups. It is possible for a student to qualify for a Pell Grant and not apply; therefore, conclusions drawn from examining the students in the Pell Grant subgroup compared to students who did not receive Pell Grants could be inaccurate. Finally, because the LMCCS only collects data on two gender categories, male and female, the outcomes of students placed by EdReady English are unknown for any other gender identities.

Another limitation of the study was the small sample sizes of students who placed into ENGL 111 using the co-requisite model and stand-alone remediation. Each group had only 10 students. This study showed students who took stand-alone remediation had higher success rates, 70%, than students in the co-requisite model, 40%. This comparison represents seven students versus four, so conclusions about each model can only be made cautiously. More data on both placement methods will need to be gathered to get a more accurate picture of the outcomes of students who are placed using these methods. Previous studies have found that students who are placed using the co-requisite model are more likely to pass the first credit-bearing English course than students who take stand-alone remediation (Cho et al., 2012; Jaggars et al., 2015; Ran et al., 2022). The current study did not support these findings, but the small sample sizes were a clear limitation for these two placement methods.

Recommendations for Future Research

This study uncovered overall low success rates in ENGL 111 for all students at this campus of the LMCCS. 64.50% of students from all placement methods in the study earned a C or higher in the class. Students who placed by previous degree or coursework or HSGPA had the highest success rates while students who placed by co-requisite, Accuplacer, and EdReady English had the lowest. It is unknown why so many students at this campus of the LMCCS did not pass ENGL 111. Future research could examine the cause of low success rates to determine if student academic preparation, course rigor, student affective issues, lack of academic support, impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, or other causes contribute to low success rates in ENGL 111. Additionally, students of all placement methods had very low percentages of Ds in ENGL 111. In fact, this was the least frequent grade in the study. The highest percentage of Ds were in the co-requisite, Accuplacer, and ACT placement groups. The low rate of Ds is worth further study, particularly if it could be determined why so many students failed the course instead of earning a D. It may also be useful to consider the grade outcomes of dual credit students to determine if their success rates were comparable to those in the study.

Because COVID-19 lockdowns caused campuses to make all classes virtual, some of the classes in this study were offered virtually while others were face-to-face. Additionally, the LMCCS also offers classes online in an asynchronous format. It is possible that students using different placement methods have varying levels of success in ENGL 111 (Bourdeau et al., 2018). Future research could examine if course modality affects the grades of students by placement method. It is also worth exploring if students who are placed into ENGL 111 by EdReady English have varying grade outcomes by course modality. For example, it could be that students placed by EdReady English have more success in one course format than another. These results could be examined by subgroup to determine if grade differences by student subgroup, including age, race, and gender, are present in different course modalities.

Another area for future research is the EdReady English Study Path. It is unknown if time spent in the Study Path is correlated with higher grades in the first credit-bearing English course. For example, it is possible that students who spend more time in the Study Path earn higher grades in ENGL 111. It is also unknown if the outcomes of spending time in the Study Path vary by student subgroup. It may be that the Study Path is more beneficial for some student subgroups than others. It may also be useful to examine which areas of the Study Path most students are assigned. This may indicate the areas of academic weakness many students experience. Again, this could also vary by student subgroup. A more in-depth analysis could explore which assigned modules of the Study Path, if any, are more closely aligned with success in ENGL 111. More broadly, the content validity of the Study Path should be examined in relationship to the ENGL 111 course. Since this study found no relationship between the EdReady English score and a student's grade in ENGL 111, it is possible that the content of the EdReady diagnostic test, which reflects the content of the Study Path, does not align well with the ENGL 111 course content at this campus of the LMCCS.

Future research could be done to explore how students use the EdReady English Study Path and the outcomes of students who do not complete it. All the students in this study enrolled in ENGL 111, but there may be students who took the EdReady diagnostic test and did not enroll in ENGL 111. Additionally, some students may have decided to enroll in remediation or co-requisite courses instead of working through the Study Path. There may also be students who were given instructions to take the EdReady English test, but they never started it. It is important to consider the outcomes of these students. For example, some students may not have worked in the Study Path after taking the initial diagnostic test; others may have chosen not to enroll in ENGL 111 until a later time. This study revealed that 85% of students who took the EdReady English test had a final score of 70, 71, or 72. This suggests that students may not be working in the Study Path after they reach the cut score. Future research could focus on why and how students utilize the Study Path after taking the initial diagnostic. If there are students who take the EdReady English test but choose not to work in the Study Path, it would be important for future research to uncover why students may not persist. It would also be important to examine outcomes by student subgroup, such as age, race, gender, and even socioeconomic status. Specifically, if there is a subsection of students who takes the EdReady English diagnostic test, does not meet the cut score, but does not use the Study Path to raise the score, it would be important to identify such a group.

Future qualitative research on EdReady English could also uncover useful information about how students experience EdReady English and what guides their choice to engage with the tool. For example, more African American students placed into ENGL 111 using EdReady English than other placement methods. Future research could explore the reasons why this occurred and if the overrepresentation of Black students in the EdReady group was a result of COVID-19 closures, the ease and convenience of the tool, or some other explanation. This study also revealed that students in the youngest age group, 14-19, had low median scores in ENGL 111. Interviews or case studies may uncover the unique challenges this group faced and if the students felt academically prepared for the course. Future research could also build on the work of Venezia et al. (2010), which explored students' experiences and perceptions of placement tests in California using interviews. Future research could involve interviewing students placed by EdReady English to clarify the reasons so many do not pass ENGL 111. Perceptions of EdReady English could also be explored by student subgroups such as age, race, or gender. Although this study found no significant differences in ENGL 111 grades by race or gender, there may still be variations in the way students in different subgroups experience the test.

This study explored the relationship between students' EdReady English scores and their grades in ENGL 111. However, future research could explore the relationship between students' scores on other placement tests and their grades in ENGL 111. It is unknown, for example, if higher scores on the ACT, PSAT, or ACT are related to higher grades in ENGL 111. It is also unclear if higher HSGPAs are related to higher ENGL 111 grades. Previous research has found that HSGPA is predictive of student success, and the current study supported these results. However, the relationship between initial placement metrics, such as a score, and a student's grade in ENGL 111 has not been studied. The current study found no relationship between the EdReady English score and grades in ENGL 111, but that could also be the case for other placement methods. It is certainly possible that other placement methods have a stronger relationship with the ENGL 111 grade. Like the current study, future research could examine initial placement method scores and ENGL 111 grades by subpopulation to determine not only if a relationship exists, but if ENGL 111 grades vary by subpopulation. This could determine if students placed by other methods such as Accuplacer, ACT, PSAT, and ACT have similar ENGL 111 grades by subgroup like age, race, and gender. The results of such research could help policymakers determine which placement methods are most accurate and equitable for the first-year English course. This could also help decision makers determine which English placement methods to prioritize at schools that utilize multiple methods policies.

Because EdReady English was recently adopted by the LMCCS, more research must be done to determine its impact at each of the 19 campuses. Student demographic data and campus-specific details could impact the accuracy and outcomes of the tool. Previous research on placement tests has supported the need for individual campuses to test placement metrics with their own unique populations (Coleman & Smith, 2020; Ganga & Mazzariello, 2019; Horn et al., 2009; Melguizo et al., 2014). Although the current study found no statistically significant differences in ENGL 111 grades by race or gender, such differences could exist at other campuses. Likewise, the current study found differences in ENGL 111 grades of students ages 14-19 and 32 and up, but differences by various age categories may exist at other campuses. Although the current study found no relationship between the EdReady English score and a student's grade in ENGL 111, a stronger relationship could exist in populations at other campuses of the LMCCS. Future research could explore the usefulness of EdReady English in different contexts, and results could be compared to determine if there are campuses where EdReady English has a bigger impact on students' success rates in ENGL 111.

Because EdReady English was adopted in March 2020, long-term student outcomes are still unknown. Most students who placed into ENGL 111 in March 2020 will start to be eligible for graduation in spring or fall 2022, so their outcomes are unknown at the time of this study. A longitudinal study of the cumulative GPAs, graduation rates, and completion metrics of students placed by EdReady English will give a more robust picture of the impact of this placement method on student success. These longterm outcomes can be compared to those of students placed by other methods to generate a broader view of student performance and persistence by placement method. Future research can also explore the long-term outcomes of EdReady English students compared to students who took stand-alone remediation. This may help college leaders determine if students who bypass remediation by working through the EdReady English Study Path experience long-term success. A longitudinal study of EdReady English students' grades in ENGL 111 could also generate useful data about success rates and failure rates. Because the data for this study was collected during the COVID-19 pandemic, it will be critical to continue collecting data on the outcomes of students placed by EdReady English to determine any changes in placement accuracy.

Conclusion

The open access policies of community colleges make them potential spaces for equity and opportunity within the communities they serve. Community colleges must balance protecting the academic rigor of their courses while providing an appropriate placement for all students who enter their doors. Placement tests have long been used to fill this role, identifying students who are ready for college-level courses and those who need remediation. EdReady English is a new tool that could improve the current process by providing placement and remediation in a convenient, low-stakes delivery method. The current study shows that students who are placed by EdReady English perform as well as students placed by most other placement methods in their first credit-bearing English course, demonstrating that it is a promising alternative to traditional high-stakes tests like Accuplacer and PSAT. These proctored tests create an undue burden for many student populations, blocking their access to higher education. The current study suggests students who are placed by EdReady English have similar outcomes in their first credit-bearing English class by race and gender, demonstrating that this method may work equitably for student subgroups. However, as more colleges adopt test-optional policies, the relationship between placement scores and students' performances in college-level courses has fallen under greater scrutiny. In terms of placement accuracy, EdReady English was found to be as accurate as other English placement tests at this campus of the LMCCS. Problematically, EdReady English, like most English placement tests, appears to have little predictive value. If an English placement test must be used, EdReady English appears to be as effective as nearly any other; however, the weak relationship between the EdReady score and English grade challenges its accuracy. As colleges across the country bid adieu to placement tests, it may be time for community colleges to do the same. If there is no predictive value in the placement test, it may serve as an unnecessary barrier to college access.

References

ACT. (October 14, 2020). U.S. high school graduates, underserved students will face significant challenges in college according to new ACT achievement data.

https://leadershipblog.act.org/2020/10/act-grad-class-2020-achievement-data.html

- Adams, P., Gearhart, S., Miller, R., & Roberts, A. (2009). The Accelerated Learning Program: Throwing open the gates. *Journal of Basic Writing*, *28*(2), 50–69. <u>https://doi.org/10.37514/jbw-j.2009.28.2.04</u>
- Ali-Coleman, K. (2019). Essential pathways: An examination of how community colleges compromise their unique contributions to American higher education. *Higher Education Politics & Economics*, 5(1), 54-69. https://doi.org/10.32674/hepe.v5i1.1141
- Allen, J., & Radunzel, J. (2015). What are the ACT college readiness benchmarks? Information brief. https://www.act.org
- Allensworth, E. M., & Clark, K. (2020). High school GPAs and ACT scores as predictors of college completion: Examining assumptions about consistency across high schools. *Educational Researcher*, 49(3), 198–211. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X20902110</u>
- American Educational Research Association, American Psychological Association, National Council on Measurement in Education, Joint Committee on Standards for Educational and Psychological Testing. (2014). *Standards for educational and psychological testing*. American Educational Research Association.
- Arendale, D. (2011). Then and now: The early years of developmental dducation. *Research & Teaching in Developmental Education*, 27(2), 58-76.

- Armstrong, W. B. (1999). The relation between placement testing and curricular content in the community college: Correspondence or misalignment? *Journal of Applied Research in the Community College*, 7(1), 33–38.
- Attewell, P., Lavin, D., Domina, T., & Levey, T. (2006). New evidence on college remediation. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 77(5), 886–924. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00221546.2006.11778948</u>
- Atkinson, R.C., & Geiser, S. (2009). Reflections on a century of college admissions tests. *Educational Researcher*, *38*(9), 665-676. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189x09351981</u>

Backstrom, B., & Schultz, L. (2022). A new path to college. USA Today Magazine, 150(2924), 38–39.

- Bahr, P. R., Fagioli, L. P., Hetts, J., Hayward, C., Willett, T., Lamoree, D., Newell, M. A., Sorey, K., & Baker,
 R. B. (2019). Improving placement accuracy in California's community colleges using multiple
 measures of high school achievement. *Community College Review*, 47(2), 178–211.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0091552119840705
- Bailey, T., Jeong, D.W., & Cho, S.W. (2008). Referral, enrollment, and completion in developmental education sequences in community colleges. *CCRC Working Paper No. 15.* Community College Research Center, Teachers College, Columbia University.

https://ccrc.tc.columbia.edu/publications/referral-enrollment-completion-developmentaleducation.html

Barnett, E.A., & Reddy, V. (2017, February). College placement strategies: Evolving considerations and practices (CAPR Working Paper). Center for the Analysis of Postsecondary Research. <u>https://ccrc.tc.columbia.edu/publications/college-placement-strategies-evolvingconsiderations.html</u>

- Barnett, E. A., Bergman, P., Kopko, E., Reddy, V., Belfield, C. R., & Roy, S. (2018). *Multiple measures placement using data analytics: An implementation and early impacts report.* Center for the Analysis of Postsecondary Readiness. <u>https://ccrc.tc.columbia.edu/publications/multiple-measures-</u> *placement-using-data-analytics.html*
- Barnett, E., Kopko, E., Cullinan, D., & Belfield, C. (2020). *Who should take college-level courses? Impact findings from an evaluation of a multiple measures assessment strategy*. Center for the Analysis of Postsecondary Readiness.

https://ccrc.tc.columbia.edu/publications/multiple-measures-assessment-impact-findings.html

Behrman, E. H., & Street, C. (2005). The validity of using a content-specific reading comprehension test for college placement. *Journal of College Reading and Learning*, *35*(2), 5–21.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10790195.2005.10850170

Belfield, C.R., & Crosta, P.M. (February 2012). Predicting success in college: The importance of placement tests and high school transcripts. *CCRC Working Paper No. 42.* Community College Research Center, Teachers College, Columbia University.

https://ccrc.tc.columbia.edu/media/k2/attachments/predicting-success-placement-tests-

transcripts.pdf

Bettinger, E.P., & Long, B. (2005). Remediation at the community college: Student participation and outcomes. *New Directions for Community Colleges*, Number 129, 17-26.

https://doi.org/10.1002/cc.182

Bettinger, E.P., Boatman, A., & Long, B.T. (2013). Student supports: Developmental education and other academic programs. *The Future of Children*, *23*(1), 93–115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1353/foc.2013.0003</u>

 Bickerstaff, S., Fay, M.P., & Trimble, M.J. (May 2016). Modularization in developmental mathematics in two states: Implementation and early outcomes. *CCRC Working Paper No. 87*. Community College Research Center, Teachers College, Columbia University.

https://ccrc.tc.columbia.edu/publications/modularization-developmental-mathematics-twostates.html

- Bickerstaff, S., Kopko, E., Lewy, E.B., Raufman, J., & Rutschow, E.Z. (January 2021). Implementing and scaling multiple measures assessment in the context of COVID-19. Center for the Analysis of Postsecondary Readiness. <u>https://postsecondaryreadiness.org/multiple-measures-scaling-covidpandemic/</u>
- Boatman, A., & Long, B. T. (2018). Does remediation work for all students? How the effects of postsecondary remedial and developmental courses vary by level of academic preparation. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, *40*(1), 29–58.

https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373717715708

- Boggs, G. R. (2011). Community colleges in the spotlight and under the microscope. *New Directions for Community Colleges, 2011*(156), 3–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cc.462</u>
- Bourdeau, D. T., Griffith, K. V., Griffith, J. C., & Griffith, J. R. (2018). An investigation of the relationship between grades and learning mode in an English composition course. *Journal of University Teaching and Learning Practice*, *15*(2), 20–33. <u>https://doi.org/10.53761/1.15.2.3</u>
- Bowen, W. G., McPherson, M. S., & Chingos, M. M. (2009). *Crossing the finish line: Completing college at America's public universities*. Princeton University Press.
- Boylan, H.R. (1988). The historical roots of developmental education. *Research in Developmental Education*, *5*(3), 11-13.

Bracco, K.R., Dadger, M., Austin, K., Klarin, B., Broek, M., Finklestein, N., Mundry, S., & Bugler, D. (March 21, 2014). *Exploring the use of multiple measures for placement into college-level courses: Seeking alternatives or improvements to the use of a single standardized test*. WestEd.

https://www.wested.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/1397164696product55812B-3.pdf

Brand, E. (2018). The Oregon model for improving student completion through developmental education reform. *New Directions for Community Colleges, 2018*(182), 39–48. https://doi.org/10.1002/cc.20300

Brathwaite, J., & Edgecombe, N. (2018). Developmental education reform outcomes by subpopulation. *New Directions for Community Colleges, 2018*(182), 21–29.

https://doi.org/10.1002/cc.20298

Burdman, P. (2012). Where to begin? The evolving role of placement exams for students starting college. *Achieving the Dream*,

https://www.achievingthedream.org/sites/default/files/resources/Where to Begin.pdf

- Burdman, P., Policy Analysis for California Education (PACE), & LearningWorks. (2015). *Degrees of freedom: Probing math placement policies at California colleges and universities (Report 3 of a 3-Part Series).* Policy Analysis for California Education, PACE. <u>https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED564294</u>
- Chen, X, & Simone, S. (2016). *Remedial course taking at U.S. public 2- and 4-year institutions: Scope, experiences, and outcomes (NCES 2016-405).* U.S. Department of Education, Institute for Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics.

https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2016/2016405.pdf

Cho, S.W., Kopko, E.M., Jenkins, D., & Jaggar, S. S. (2012). New evidence of success for community college remedial English students: Tracking the outcomes of students in the Accelerated Learning Program (ALP). *CCRC Working Paper No. 53.* Community College Research Center,

Teachers College, Columbia University. <u>https://ccrc.tc.columbia.edu/publications/ccbc-alp-</u> <u>student-outcomes-follow-up.html</u>

- Clark, B. R. (1960). The "cooling-out" function in higher education. *American Journal of Sociology*, 65(6), 569–576. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/11302-021</u>
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences (2nd ed.).* Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Cohen, A. M., Kisker, C. B., & Brawer, F. B. (2014). *The American community college.* (6th ed.). Jossey-Bass.
- College Board. (2017). Next-generation Accuplacer: Test Specifications 2.0.

https://accuplacer.collegeboard.org/accuplacer/pdf/next-generation-test-specifications-

<u>manual.pdf</u>

College Board. (2019). Multiple factors in college placement decisions.

https://accuplacer.collegeboard.org/accuplacer/pdf/multiple-factors-in-college-placementdecisions.pdf

College Board. (2021). SAT Suite Results: 2021. https://reports.collegeboard.org/sat-suite-program-

<u>results</u>

Coleman, D. R., & Smith, D. A. (2020). Beyond predictive validity: A mixed method study of self-directed developmental education placement at a small community college. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 45(6), 403–422. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10668926.2020.1719938</u>

Complete College America. (2012). *Remediation: Higher education's bridge to nowhere*.

https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED536825

Conley, D. T. (2007). The challenge of college readiness. *Educational Leadership*, 64, 23-29.

- Creswell, J.W., & Creswell, J.D. (2018). *Research Design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches.* Sage Publications.
- Crisp, G., & Delgado, C. (2014). The impact of developmental education on community college persistence and vertical transfer. *Community College Review*, 42(2), 99–117.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0091552113516488

Daugherty, L., Gerber, R., Martorell, F., Miller, T., & Weisburst, E. (2021). Heterogeneity in the effects of college course placement. *Research in Higher Education*, *62*(7), 1086–1111.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11162-021-09630-2

- Deil-Amen, R., & Tevis, T.L. (2010). Circumscribed agency: The relevance of standardized college entrance exams for low SES high school students. *The Review of Higher Education*, 33(2), 141–175. <u>https://doi.org/10.1353/rhe.0.0125</u>
- Dougherty, K. J., & Townsend, B. K. (2006). Community college missions: A theoretical and historical perspective. *New Directions for Community Colleges*, *2006*(136), 5–13.

https://doi.org/10.1002/cc.254

Edgecombe, N. (2016). The redesign of developmental education in Virginia. New Directions for

Community Colleges, 2016(176), 35–43. https://doi.org/10.1002/cc.20220

EdReady. (n.d.). The NROC Project. https://www.nroc.org/edready

EdReady English Table of Contents. (n.d). The NROC Project. https://www.nroc.org/media/edready-

english-table-of-contents

Elliot, N., Deess, P., Rudniy, A., & Joshi, K. (2012). Placement of students into first-year writing courses. *Research in the Teaching of English, 46*(3), 285-313. Fain, P. (June 18, 2015). Finding a new compass. Inside Higher Ed.

https://www.insidehighered.com/news/2015/06/18/act-drops-popular-compass-placementtest-acknowledging-its-predictive-limits

Felder, J. E., Finney, J. E., Kirst, M. W., & National Center for Public Policy and Higher Education (2007). *"Informed self-placement" at American River College: A case study. National Center Report Number*#07-2. National Center for Public Policy and Higher Education. <u>https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED497129</u>

Fraenkel, J. R., & Wallen, N. E. (1990). How to design and evaluate research in education. McGraw-Hill.

- Ganga, E., & Mazzariello, A. (2019, April 02). *Modernizing college course placement by using multiple measures*. Center for the Analysis of Postsecondary Readiness. <u>https://ccrc.tc.columbia.edu/publications/modernizing-college-course-placement-multiple-measures.html</u>
- Gilbert, C. K., & Heller D. E. (2013). Access, equity, and community colleges: The Truman Commission and federal higher education policy from 1947 to 2011. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 84, 417-

443. https://doi.org/10.1177/2372732219862573

- Geiser, S., Santelices, M. V., & University of California, B. C. for S. in H. E. (2007). Validity of high-school grades in predicting student success beyond the freshman year: High-school record vs.
 standardized tests as indicators of four-year college outcomes. *Research & Occasional Paper Series: CSHE.6.07.* Center for Studies in Higher Education. https://cshe.berkeley.edu/publications/validity-high-school-grades-predicting-student-success-beyond-freshman-yearhigh-school
- Hendrata, M., Demeke, E., & McEvoy, S. (2020). The interplay of supplemental instruction and mathematics emporium in improving students' learning: A case study of a three-week intervention boot camp. *MathAMATYC Educator*, *12*(1), 4–10. <u>https://amatyc.org/page/EducatorFall2020</u>

Hodara, M., Jaggars, S. S., & Karp, M. M. (2012). Improving developmental education assessment and placement: Lessons from community colleges across the country. *CCRC Working Paper No. 51*.
 Columbia University, Teachers College, Community College Research Center.

https://ccrc.tc.columbia.edu/publications/developmental-education-assessment-placementscan.html

- Hodges, R., Payne, E. M., McConnell, M. C., Lollar, J., Guckert, D. A., Owens, S., Gonzales, C., Wu, N., Shinn, H.B., Hoff, M.A., O'Donnell Lussier, K. (2020). Developmental education policy and reforms: A 50-state snapshot. *Journal of Developmental Education*, *44*(1), 2-17.
- Hoover, E. (2021, October 1). The will to test in a test-optional era: Hundreds of colleges have suspended their ACT and SAT requirements. Many students won't let them go. *The Chronicle of Higher Education*, *68*(3), 34.

Horn, C., McCoy, Z., Campbell, L., & Brock, C. (2009). Remedial testing and placement in community colleges. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, *33*(6), 510–526.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10668920802662412

Hughes, K. L., & Scott-Clayton, J. (2010). Assessing developmental assessment in community colleges: A review of the literature. *CCRC Working Paper No. 19.* Columbia University, Teachers College, Community College Research Center.

https://ccrc.tc.columbia.edu/media/k2/attachments/assessing-developmental-assessment.pdf

- Jaggars, S. S., Hodara, M., Cho, S.-W., & Xu, D. (2015). Three accelerated developmental education programs: Features, student outcomes, and implications. *Community College Review*, 43(1), 3–26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0091552114551752</u>
- James, C. L. (2006). ACCUPLACER(TM) OnLine: Accurate placement tool for developmental programs? Journal of Developmental Education, 30(2), 2-4,6-8.

Jimenez, L., Sargrad, S., Morales, J., Thompson, M., & Center for American Progress. (2016). *Remedial Education: The Cost of Catching Up*. Center for American Progress.

https://www.americanprogress.org/article/remedial-education/

- Kalamkarian, H. S., Raufman, J., & Edgecombe, N. (2015). Statewide developmental education reform: Early implementation in Virginia and North Carolina. Columbia University, Teachers College, Community College Research Center. <u>https://ccrc.tc.columbia.edu/publications/statewide-</u> <u>developmental-education-reform-early-implementation.html</u>
- Klasik, D., & Strayhorn, T. L. (2018). The complexity of college readiness: Differences by race and college selectivity. *Educational Researcher*, 47(6), 334–351. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X18778598</u>
- Koretz, D., Yu, C., Mbekeani, P. P., Langi, M., Dhaliwal, T., & Braslow, D. (2016). Predicting freshman grade point average from college admissions test scores and state high school test scores. *AERA Open*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2332858416670601</u>
- Kosiewicz, H., & Ngo, F. (2020). Giving community college students choice: The impact of self-placement in math courses. *American Educational Research Journal*, *57*(3), 1358–1391.

https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831219872500

- Kurlaender, M., & Larsen, M. (2013). K–12 and postsecondary alignment: Racial/ethnic differences in freshmen course-taking and performance at California's community colleges. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 21(16). <u>https://doi.org/10.14507/epaa.v21n16.2013</u>
- Lavrakas, P. J. (2008). *Encyclopedia of survey research methods* (Vols. 1-0). Sage Publications, Inc. https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781412963947.n419
- Leeds, D. M., & Mokher, C. G. (2020). Improving indicators of college readiness: Methods for optimally placing students into multiple levels of postsecondary coursework. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, *42*(1), 87–109. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373719885648</u>
- Marcus, J. (2021). A test for the test makers: College Board and ACT move to grow and diversify as the pandemic fuels test-optional admissions trend. *Education Next*, *21*(3), 42.
- Markle, R., & Robbins, S. (2013). *A holistic view of course placement decisions: Avoiding the HS GPA trap*. NJ: Educational Testing Service. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED579873.pdf</u>

Martorell, P., & McFarlin, I. (2011). Help or hindrance? The effects of college remediation on academic and labor market outcomes. *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, *93*(2), 436–454. https://doi.org/10.1162/rest a 00098

Martorell, P., McFarlin. I., & Xue, Y. (2015). Does failing a placement exam discourage underprepared students from going to college? *Education Finance and Policy*, *10*(1), 46–80.

https://doi.org/10.1162/edfp_a_00151

- Maruyama, G. (2012). Assessing college readiness: Should we be satisfied with ACT or other threshold Scores? *Educational Researcher*, 41(7), 252–261. <u>https://doi.org/10.1162/rest_a_00098</u>
- Mattern, K. D., Packman, S., & College Board. (2009). *Predictive validity of ACCUPLACER® scores for course placement: A meta-analysis. Research report No. 2009-2.* College Board. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED561046.pdf</u>
- McKinney, L., Novak, H., Linda, S. H., & Luna-Torres, M. (2019). Giving up on a course: An analysis of course dropping behaviors among community college students. *Research in Higher Education*, 60(2), 184-202. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11162-018-9509-z</u>

Medhanie, A.G., Dupuis, D.N., LeBeau, B., Harwell, M.R., & Post, T.R. (2012). The role of the ACCUPLACER mathematics placement test on a student's first college mathematics course. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, *72*(2), 332-351. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013164411417620

- Melguizo, T., Kosiewicz, H., Prather, G., & Bos, J. (2014). How are community college students assessed and placed in developmental math? Grounding our understanding in reality. *Journal of Higher Education*, *85*(5), 691–722. <u>https://doi.org/10.1353/jhe.2014.0025</u>
- Melguizo, T., Bos, J. M., Ngo, F., Mills, N., & Prather, G. (2015). Using a regression discontinuity design to estimate the impact of placement decisions in developmental math. *Research in Higher Education*, *57*(2), 123–151. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11162-015-9382-y</u>
- Melguizo, T., & Ngo, F. (2020). Mis/Alignment between high school and community college standards. *Educational Researcher*, 49(2), 130–133. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189x19898697</u>
- Merisotis, J.P., & Phipps, R.A. (2000). Remedial education in colleges and universities: What's really going on? *The Review of Higher Education 24*(1), 67-85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1353/rhe.2000.0023</u>
- Methvin, P., & Markham, P. N. (2015). Turning the page: Addressing the challenge of remediation. *Change*, 47(4), 50–56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00091383.2015.1060100</u>
- Mokher, C. G., Leeds, D. M., & Harris, J. C. (2017). Adding it up: How the Florida College and Career Readiness Initiative impacted developmental education. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 40(2), 219–242. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373717744891</u>
- Moss, B. G., Bahr, P. R., Arsenault, L., & Oster, M. (2018). Knowing is half the battle, or is it? A randomized experiment of the impact of supplemental notification letters on placement exam participation, preparation, and performance. *Research in Higher Education*, *60*(6), 737–759.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11162-018-9536-9

National Center for Education Statistics. (2006). *School locale definitions*. US Department of Education: Institute of Education Sciences. <u>https://nces.ed.gov/surveys/urbaned/definitions.asp</u>

National Center for Education Statistics. (2019). *Profile of undergraduate students: Attendance, distance and remedial education, degree program and field of study, demographics, financial aid,*

financial literacy, employment, and military status: 2015–16. US Department of Education: Institute of Education Sciences. <u>https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2019/2019467.pdf</u>

- National Center for Education Statistics. (2020). *Number of students enrolled in postsecondary institutions annually by institutional category.* US Department of Education: Institute of Education Sciences. <u>https://nces.ed.gov/ipeds/</u>
- Nettles, M. T. (2019). History of testing in the United States: Higher education. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, *683*(1), 38–55.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0002716219847139

Nevada System of Higher Education Office of Academic and Student Affairs. (September 2019). *Multiple measures: A better student assessment. Assessing college readiness beyond high-stakes placement tests.*. <u>https://nshe.nevada.edu/wp-</u>

content/uploads/file/BoardOfRegents/Agendas/2020/03-mar-mtgs/arsa-refs/ARSA-10a.pdf

- Ngo, F. J. (2020). High school all over again: The problem of redundant college mathematics. *Journal of Higher Education*, *91*(2), 222–248. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00221546.2019.1611326</u>
- Ngo, F., & Kwon, W. W. (2015). Using multiple measures to make math placement decisions:
 Implications for access and success in community colleges. *Research in Higher Education*, 56(5), 442–470. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11162-014-9352-9</u>
- Ngo, F., & Melguizo, T. (2016). How can placement policy improve math remediation outcomes? Evidence from experimentation in community colleges. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 38(1), 171–196. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373715603504</u>
- Ngo, F., & Melguizo, T. (2020). The equity cost of inter-sector math misalignment: Racial and ethnic disparities in community college student outcomes. *The Journal of Higher Education*, *92*(3), 410–434. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221546.2020.1811570

Ngo, F., Velasquez, D., & Melguizo, T. (2021). Faculty perspectives on using high school data in an era of placement testing reform. *Community College Review, 49*(3), 290–313.

https://doi.org/10.1177/00915521211002896

The NROC Network. (2016). Case study: Revamping college math placement at Nevada State College.

(2016). EdReady powered by NROC

https://nrocnetwork.org/resources/tools/edready/?target=case-studies

The NROC Network. (2019). Research study: EdReady as a low-stakes alternative to traditional high-

stakes college placement tests. (2019). EdReady powered by NROC,

https://nrocnetwork.org/resources/tools/edready/?target=case-studies

The NROC Project. (n.d.) Meet students where they are. https://www.nroc.org/meet-students-where-

they-are

The NROC Project. (n.d.). Our mission. https://www.nroc.org/mission

- Papay, J. P., Murnane, R. J., & Willett, J. B. (2016). The impact of test score labels on human-capital investment decisions. *Journal of Human Resources*, *51*(2), 357–388. <u>https://doi-org.univsouthin.idm.oclc.org/10.3368/jhr.51.2.0713-5837R</u>
- Park-Gaghan, T. J., Mokher, C. G., Hu, X., Spencer, H., & Hu, S. (2020). What happened following comprehensive developmental education reform in the Sunshine State? The impact of Florida's developmental education reform on introductory college-level course completion. *Educational Researcher*, 49(9), 656–666. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X20933876</u>
- Park, T. J., Woods, C. S., Hu, S., Jones, B.T., Cig, O., & Tandberg, D. (2018). Developmental education reform and the racial/ethnic achievement gap: The case of first-semester gateway course passing rates when Florida made developmental education optional. *Teacher's College Record*, 120(12). <u>https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED610595</u>

Perin, D. (2006). Can community colleges protect both access and standards? The problem of remediation. *Teachers College Record*, *108*(3), 339–373.

https://doi.org/10.1177/016146810610800301

Ran, F. X., & Lin, Y. (2022). The effects of corequisite remediation: Evidence from a statewide reform in Tennessee. *Educational Evaluation & Policy Analysis, 44*(3), 458–484.

https://doi.org/10.3102/01623737211070836

- Rodríguez, O. (2014). Increasing access to college-level math: Early outcomes using the Virginia Placement Test. Columbia University, Teachers College, Community College Research Center. <u>http://ccrc.tc.columbia.edu/publications/increasing-access-to-college-level-math.html</u>
- Rodríguez, O., Bowden, B., Belfield, C., & Scott-Clayton, J. (2015). *Calculating the costs of remedial placement testing (CCRC Analytics)*. Columbia University, Teachers College, Community College Research Center. <u>https://ccrc.tc.columbia.edu/media/k2/attachments/calculating-cost-remedial-placement-analytics-2.pdf</u>
- Rutschow, E. Z, Cormier, M. S., Dukes, D., & Cruz Zamora, D. E. (2019). *The changing landscape of developmental education practices: Findings from a national survey and interviews with postsecondary institutions.* Center for the Analysis of Postsecondary Readiness. <u>https://ccrc.tc.columbia.edu/publications/changing-landscape-developmental-education-</u> practices.html
- Sawyer, R. (1996). Decision theory models for validating course placement tests. *Journal of Educational Measurement*, 33(3), 271–290. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-3984.1996.tb00493.x</u>
- Saxon, D., & Morante, E. (2014). Effective student assessment and placement: Challenges and recommendations. *Journal of Developmental Education, 37*(3), 24-31

- Scott-Clayton, J. (2012) *Do high-stakes placement exams predict college success? (CCRC Working Paper No. 41).* Columbia University, Teachers College, Community College Research Center. https://ccrc.tc.columbia.edu/publications/high-stakes-placement-exams-predict.html
- Scott-Clayton, J., Crosta, P. M., & Belfield, C. R. (2014). Improving the targeting of treatment: Evidence from college remediation. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 36(3), 371–393. https://doi.org/10.3386/w18457
- Scott-Clayton, J., & Rodríguez, O. (2015). Development, discouragement, or diversion? New evidence on the effects of college remediation policy. *Education Finance and Policy*, *10*(1), 4-45.

https://doi.org/10.1162/edfp_a_00150

Stemler, S. E. (2012). What should university admissions tests predict?

Educational Psychologist, 47(1), 5–17. https://doi.org/10.1080/00461520.2011.611444

Sternberg, R. J., Bonney, C. R., Gabora, L., & Merrifield, M. (2012). WICS: A model for college and university admissions. *Educational Psychologist*, *47*(1), 30–41.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00461520.2011.638882

Stich, A. E. (2021). Beneath the white noise of postsecondary sorting: A case study of the "low" track in higher education. *Journal of Higher Education*, *92*(4), 546–569.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00221546.2020.1824481

- Strayhorn, T. L. (2014). Modeling the determinants of college readiness for historically underrepresented students at 4-year colleges and universities: A national investigation. *American Behavioral Scientist*, *58*(8), 972–993. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764213515230</u>
- Thornton, D. Case, J., & Peppers, C. (2019). Low-stakes mathematics placement and preparation using EdReady. *Journal of the National College Testing Association*. *3*(1), 1-9. <u>https://www.ncta-</u> <u>testing.org/assets/docs/JNCTA/JNCTA_EdReady_Final.pdf</u>

- U.S. Department of Education. (n.d.). *IPEDS glossary*. Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics. <u>https://surveys.nces.ed.gov/ipeds/public/glossary</u>
- Venezia, A., Bracco, K. R., & Nodine, T. (2010). One-shot deal? Students' perceptions of assessment and course placement in California's community colleges. WestEd.

https://www.wested.org/resources/one-shot-deal-students-perceptions-of-assessment-andcourse-placement-in-californias-community-colleges/

- Weiss, M. J., & Headlam, C. (2019). A randomized controlled trial of a modularized, computer-assisted, self-paced approach to developmental math. *Journal of Research on Educational Effectiveness*, 12(3), 484–513. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19345747.2019.1631419</u>
- Wheland, E. R., Butler, K. A., Qammar, H., Bobkoff Katz, K., & Harris, R. (2012). What are they thinking?
 Students' affective reasoning and attitudes about course withdrawal. NACADA Journal, 32(2),
 17–25. <u>https://doi.org/10.12930/0271-9517-32.2.17</u>
- Whiton, J. C., Rethinam, V., & Preuss, M. D. (2018). High school factors predicting enrollment in developmental courses. *Journal of Developmental Education*, *42*(1), 8.
- Woods, C. S., Park, T., Hu, S., & Betrand Jones, T. (2018). How high school coursework predicts introductory college-level course success. *Community College Review*, 46(2), 176–196. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0091552118759419</u>
- Zook, G. (1947). The President's Commission on Higher Education. *Bulletin of the American Association* of University Professors (1915-1955), 33(1), 10-28. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/40221180</u>
- Zwick, R., & Sklar, J. C. (2005). Predicting college grades and degree completion using high school grades and SAT Scores: The role of student ethnicity and first language. *American Educational Research Journal*, 42(3), 439–464. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/00028312042003439</u>

Appendices

Appendix A:

Age Frequency of Students Placed by EdReady English into ENGL 111 (2020-2022)

Age	Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
14	1	.2	.2	.2
15	2	.4	.4	.6
16	1	.2	.2	.8
17	11	2.2	2.2	3.0
18	67	13.4	13.4	16.4
19	52	10.4	10.4	26.8
20	24	4.8	4.8	31.6
21	19	3.8	3.8	35.4
22	23	4.6	4.6	40.0
23	23	4.6	4.6	44.6
24	29	5.8	5.8	50.4
25	21	4.2	4.2	54.6
26	16	3.2	3.2	57.8
27	16	3.2	3.2	61.0
28	21	4.2	4.2	65.2
29	15	3.0	3.0	68.2
30	19	3.8	3.8	72.0
31	16	3.2	3.2	75.2
32	10	2.0	2.0	77.2
33	11	2.2	2.2	79.4
34	11	2.2	2.2	81.6
35	12	2.4	2.4	84.0
36	5	1.0	1.0	85.0
37	9	1.8	1.8	86.8
38	6	1.2	1.2	88.0
39	7	1.4	1.4	89.4
40	3	.6	.6	90.0
41	8	1.6	1.6	91.6
42	5	1.0	1.0	92.6
43	5	1.0	1.0	93.6
44	3	.6	.6	94.2
45	1	.2	.2	94.4
46	5	1.0	1.0	95.4
47	2	.4	.4	95.8

Age	Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
48	5	1.0	1.0	96.8
50	4	.8	.8	97.6
51	1	.2	.2	97.8
52	3	.6	.6	98.4
53	2	.4	.4	98.8
54	2	.4	.4	99.2
57	2	.4	.4	99.6
58	1	.2	.2	99.8
59	1	.2	.2	100.0
Total	500	100.0	100.0	

Appendix B:

EdReady English Table of Contents

EDREADY ENGLISH TABLE OF CONTENTS

Unit 1: Introduction to College **Reading and Writing** READING:

- Author, Audience, and Purpose Fact and Opinion
- Using Context Clues
- Identifying Word Parts
- Topic Sentences

WRITING

- Topic Sentences
- Revising, Editing, and Proofreading GRAMMAR
- Subjects and Verbs Prepositional Phrases
- End Punctuation

Unit 2: Identifying Main Ideas

- READING
- Stated Main Ideas Supporting Details
- Using Context Clues
- Identifying Word Parts

WRITING

- · Developing a Thesis Statement and Supporting Ideas
- GRAMMAR
- Run-on Sentences
- Comma Splices
- Sentence Fragments

Unit 3: Discovering Implied Meaning

- READING
- Author's Point of View and Cultural Context
- Implied Main Ideas
- Major and Minor Supporting Details Using Context Clues
- Identifying Word Parts
- WRITING
- Developing an Implied Thesis Statement and Topic Sentences
- Coherence

GRAMMAR

 Subject-Verb Agreement • Past, Present, and Future Tense

Unit 4: Interpreting Bias

- READING
- Making Inferences and Drawing Conclusions • Outlining a Reading Faulty Parallel Structure Using Context Clues
- Identifying Word Parts
- WRITING • Using Transitional Words and Phrases

- GRAMMAR Commas with Introductory Phrases
- Commas with Transitions
- Adjectives and Adverbs

Unit 5: Analysis through Definition

READING

- Identifying Denotation and Connotation Identifying Types of Definitions
- Recognizing Objective and Subjective
- Language Using Context Clues
- Identifying Word Parts
- WRITING
- Creating an Effective Introductory Paragraph for an Essay
- Understanding the Four Sentence Types

GRAMMAR

- Comma Use in a Series
- First-, Second-, and Third-Person Pronouns

Unit 6: Learning Across Disciplines READING

- Understanding Reading and Writing
- Differences Across Disciplines
- Using Context Clues
- Identifying Word Parts

WRITING

 Developing Support in an Analysis Essay Creating an Effective Conclusion for a Multiparagraph Essay

GRAMMAR

- Coordinating and Subordinating
- Conjunctions
- Commas with Relative Pronouns Apostrophes

Unit 7: Exploring Comparative Elements

READING

- Identifying a Comparison Made in a Reading
- Figurative Language
- Using Context Clues
- Identifying Word Parts

WRITING

- Developing a Thesis for a Compare and Contrast Essay
- Developing an Outline for a Compare and Contrast Essay
- Figurative Language

GRAMMAR

- Commonly Confused Words
- Parenthetical Expressions
- Mistakes with Modifiers Active and Passive Voice

Unit 8: Informed Opinions through **Causal Chains**

- READING
- Listing Causes and Effects in a Reading Logical Fallacies and Causal Relationships
- Using Context Clues
- Identifying Word Parts

EdReady[®] Powered by NROC

145



Media-rich and diverse exercises help students acquire essential skills.

WRITING

READING

WRITING

GRAMMAR

READING

WRITING

GRAMMAR

Responding Effectively to Essay Assignments

• Recognizing the Main Idea and Source Bias

Evaluating Credible Sources Used Within a Reading

- GRAMMAR
- Numbers · Semicolons, Colons, and Commas

Unit 9: Applied Critical Analysis

in a Complex Reading

Using Context Clues

Identifying Word Parts

Logical Fallacies and Analysis

Using Effective Evidentiary Support

Paraphrasing vs. Direct Quotations

Creating Concise Sentences

Restating Different Viewpoints

• Finding and Evaluating Sources

Formatting a College Essay – APA Style

Capitalizing Words and Punctuating Titles

MLA Citation Styles

Reading and Writing

Using Context Clues

Evidentiary Support

Avoiding Plagiarism

Quotation Marks

APA Citation Styles

Identifying Word Parts

Blending Source Material into an Essay

Unit 10: Using Sources in Critical